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These robots are designed to work outdoors using 
the Company’s core Dynamic Stabilisation 
Technology® (DST®). FBR is commercialising 
products for the construction sector together with 
DST®-enabled solutions for other industries. 

DST® reacts to wind, vibration 
and other environmental factors 
instantly, enabling precise 
positioning over large  
distances outside.

 

 

DST® delivers accuracy previously 
only achievable in controlled 
environments, paving the way for 
robotic construction and 
automation outdoors.

The Company’s first application of 
DST® is the Hadrian X®, a 
revolutionary bricklaying robot 
that builds structural walls faster, 
safer, more accurately and with 
less wastage than traditional 
manual methods. The Hadrian X® 
provides Wall as a Service®, FBR’s 
unique commercial offering, to 
builders on demand.

FBR Limited 
designs, develops and builds dynamically  
stabilised robots to address global needs in a 
safer, more efficient and more sustainable way

FBR is continuing to develop exciting new 
technologies for robotic automation outdoors.
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Outdoor pilot build 
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of next-generation 
Hadrian begins

Robotically laid 
Wienerberger  

Porotherm blocks in 
a world-first to  
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Wellard
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with Xella blocks
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On behalf of the Board and Management, it is my pleasure 
to present to you FBR’s Annual Report for 2022.
We commenced our most complex project to date 
in FY22, a 16-townhouse project in the Perth 
suburb of Willagee, and work has now commenced 
on the fifth and final home of the Company’s 
Wellard portfolio, with the first home already being 
sold shortly after the close of FY22. 

In FY22 we had the pleasure of welcoming Nancy 
Milne back to the Board as a Non-Executive 
Director and Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee, following her resignation from the 
Board for family reasons in January 2020. 

We are soon to bring our next-generation Hadrian 
X® to life, which will build on the successes of the 
current generation Hadrian X® and extend FBR’s 
lead at the forefront of construction robotics 
globally. In March of 2022, we announced we had 
executed a Memorandum of Understanding with 

Liebherr-Mischtechnik to ensure that the Hadrian 
X® is designed for reliable, continuous operation 
in tough job site conditions throughout its 
economic life, and for manufacturing at the scale 
and cost necessary for serial production and full 
commercialisation. Bringing our next generation 
Hadrian X® online is a big step forward for FBR in 
terms of commercialisation and scaling, and it is 
one we are very excited to take.

Thank you to all our Shareholders for your 
continued support.

 
Richard Grellman 
Non-Executive Chairman

Chairman’s 
Review
Dear Shareholders
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Following a year of significant advancement for the 
Company in FY21 that saw, among other 
achievements, the Hadrian X® begin operating in the 
real-world for the first time, our team maintained 
this momentum into FY22, leveraging the 
experience and learnings we’d gained to further the 
Company’s commercialisation objectives. 

Despite the ongoing uncertainty in the global 
operating environment, the Company maintained a 
focus on completing key objectives, including 
working through the pipeline of work that we’d 
generated coming into FY22. With respect to 
construction activities undertaken over the course 
of the year, the Company continued to showcase 
the capability of our technology, tackling projects 
never before undertaken by ourselves or any other 
automated construction robot before, including 
the recent 16 townhouse development at 
Willagee, incorporating eight-metre-high, triple leaf 
common party walls along a rising site.

We continued to prove the versatility of our 
technology through the ability to lay a range of 
block types and sizes, including the largest 
commercially available clay blocks, such as those 
utilised in our Wellard #3 build, through to 
sustainable building blocks such as autoclaved 
aerated concrete (AAC) and calcium silicate blocks. 

The complexity involved in achieving what we 
have this year was significant, and the fact we 

were able to achieve what we did utilising our 
current Hadrian X® commercial prototypes gives 
us confidence in our ability to apply these 
learnings to the next-generation Hadrian X®.

In terms of progress toward commercialising our 
next-generation Hadrian X®, mechanical assembly 
and commissioning activities have commenced and 
are progressing well. Despite minor logistical 
delays which saw delivery dates on some 
components pushed back, we are looking forward 
to mechanical assembly completion in the fourth 
quarter of the 2022 calendar year, and completion 
of commissioning activities in March 2023.

FY22 has only increased my confidence that we 
have the most viable technology in robotic 
construction and as we continue to work 
together with local and international partners, we 
move closer to the commercialisation of our 
technology and we maintain our position as the 
leading robotic construction company globally. 

 
Mike Pivac 
Managing Director &  
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholders

Managing  
Director & CEO’s 
Review
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FBR Board
and Executive Team
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an Richard Grellman AM is a highly experienced 

leader and a member of the Order of Australia 
for service to the community and to the finance 
and insurance sectors. Richard is currently the 
Non-Executive Director of NYSE listed F45, 
Non-Executive Chairman of ASX-listed IPH 
Limited (ASX: IPH), Director of the National 
Health Medical Research Council for Institute for 
Dementia Research and Lead Independent 
Director of The Salvation Army in Australia.

Since 2014, Richard has served as the Tribunal 
of the NSW Statutory and Other Officers 
Remuneration Tribunal (SOORT), appointed by 
the Governor of NSW. He spent 32 years with 
accounting firm KPMG, where he was a partner 
from 1982 to 2000, a member of KPMG’s 
National Board from 1995 to 1997 and National 
Executive from 1997 to 2000, and has since 
served on a number of other Boards of both 
listed and unlisted organisations.
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r Mark Pivac is the primary inventor of FBR’s 
automated bricklaying technology. He is an 
aeronautical and mechanical engineer with 
over 30 years’ experience working on the 
development of high technology equipment 
ranging from lightweight aircraft to heavy off 
road equipment and construction robotics. 
Mark has 25 years’ experience of Pro/

Engineer/Creo 3D CAD software. He also has 
high level mathematical skills and extensive 
design, commissioning and fault finding 
experience on servo controlled motion 
systems achieving very high dynamic 
performance. Mark has led the technical 
development of Hadrian X®️ for over 15 years.
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r Michael Pivac spent 20 years in the aviation 
sector as an Airborne Mission Coordinator 
with Australian Border Protection and Search 
and Rescue, specialising in Electronic 
Detection Systems and strategic and tactical 
mission planning, working closely with 
Australian and International Government and 
Military Agencies. He has also owned and 

operated businesses in the retail, hospitality 
and transport sectors and has been key to 
developing FBR’s technology, business plan 
and machine development strategy. He has 
forged relationships with investors, builders, 
product suppliers and future customers 
pivotal to bringing the Hadrian X®  to life.
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or Grant Anderson has over 40 years of 
experience in the design and manufacturing 
sectors, at the level of executive, CEO and 
managing director for a number of public and 
private best practice international companies. 
Grant also has extensive Board experience in 
both ASX-listed and private companies across 
multiple industries including automation, 

technology and robotics. He has experience as 
a Director in multiple countries including joint 
venture companies. Grant’s previous Board 
experience has included Berklee Limited 
(Deputy Chairman), Techni Waterjet Pty Ltd. 
(Chairman) and The ANCA Group Pty Ltd. which 
included multiple international subsidiaries. 
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Nancy Milne has extensive business 
experience as a non-executive director and 
lawyer specialising in insurance, corporate 
governance, risk management and commercial 
dispute resolution. She was a partner at 
Clayton Utz from 1997 to 2003 and a 
consultant until 2012, and was awarded the 
Order of Australia Medal in 2008 for services 
to the legal sector and to the community. 
Nancy is currently a Non-Executive Director of 
ALE Property Group Limited, Chair of the 

Securities Exchanges Guarantee Corporation 
and Deputy Chair of the State Insurance 
Regulatory Authority, and has significant 
experience in risk management, safety, 
compliance and property development.

Nancy was previously a Director of 
Australand Property Group and Novion 
Property Group. In addition to her role as 
Non-Executive Director, Nancy is Chair of 
FBR’S Remuneration Committee.
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el Jonathan Lawe Davies has been a specialist IP 

lawyer for over 20 years. He has a rare 
combination of experience, including senior IP 
roles in top law firms in Australia and the UK, 
in-house counsel at a global corporate and board 
level roles of a commercial patent monetisation 
business. He has managed numerous successful 

high value patent litigations in the US,  
Europe and Australia, international in-licensing 
and out-licensing projects, IP sales and 
acquisitions, and created bespoke holistic IP 
strategies across a broad range of hardware and 
software-based technologies.
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ry Aidan Flynn has over 20 years of corporate 

experience including 15 years in CFO roles. His 
extensive experience in CFO roles in rapidly 
growing companies has given him expertise 
across finance, corporate compliance, 
technology commercialisation, investor 
relations and capital raising. He has also 
devised, implemented and managed complex 
financial structures and managed significant 
Australian research and development tax 
refunds over multiple periods.

Aidan is a Certified Practising Accountant 
(CPA), he has a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Accounting & Finance) and Science (Physics) 
from The University of Melbourne, a Post 
Graduate Diploma in Renewable Energy from 
Murdoch University and a Graduate Diploma 
of Applied Corporate Governance, from the 
Governance Institute of Australia.
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or Greg Smith has 39 years’ experience in the 
building products industry in manufacturing, 
technical and sales across the clay and concrete 
products sectors. Greg specialises in operations 
and project management, safety transformation 
leadership, lean implementation and contract 
negotiation. Greg Smith holds a Master of 
Business Administration (Exec) from the 

University of Queensland, a Graduate Diploma in 
Management from the University of 
Queensland, a Certificate of Applied Science – 
Industrial Ceramics from the Holmesglen College 
of TAFE, a Certificate in Quality Control from the 
School of Mines Ballarat TAFE, and is a graduate 
of the Company Directors Course run by the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Kiel Chivers has 13 years’ experience in 
commercial, finance and marketing roles, 
including on major mining projects both 
domestically and internationally. Kiel has 
extensive business and corporate development 
experience, and has been responsible for 
financial analysis and planning for new 
operating entities and international projects.  
Kiel also has significant experience in marketing, 
investor relations and communications, and has 
worked closely with executives and Boards 
across a wide range of industries.

 Kiel holds a Bachelor of Commerce with a 
double major in Finance and Property from 
Curtin University, a Bachelor of Laws from 
Murdoch University and a Diploma of Investor 
Relations from the Australasian Investor 
Relations Association. Kiel previously held the 
role of Manager Corporate Services with FBR 
and has been working with the Company in 
various capacities since 2015.
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Hadrian X®  
Operations 
Update

Over the course of FY22, FBR progressed 
the Hadrian X® program toward 
commercialisation while undertaking a 
number of construction projects in Perth’s 
suburbs. The complexity of tasks undertaken 

by the Hadrian X during the year increased 
significantly, highlighting the versatility and 
adaptability of the technology, while 
generating valuable learnings from which to 
further develop the robot. 

Hadrian X® Environmental Benefits
While the construction industry is essential 
for the provision of housing, infrastructure 
and economic growth around the world, it is 
also a significant contributor of carbon 
emissions and waste generation. As is 
increasingly becoming evident in industries 
globally, technology can provide a means of 
reducing and managing environmental 
impacts for more sustainable outcomes. 

During the year, the Hadrian X® 
demonstrated capability to build structures 
with zero-waste sequenced brick pallets, 
which maintains site cleanliness, massively 
reduces water use, waste generation and 
subsequent cost of waste removal to landfill. 
Up to 10% of bricks/blocks are wasted in 

manual bricklaying from overordering, 
logistics and handling, and cutting bricks 
onsite, equating to ~A$15 billion waste in 
the approximately A$175 billion of global 
brick/blocks produced and sold annually. The 
Hadrian X® could reduce waste generation 
by more than 50% per year.

The Hadrian X® has also demonstrated 
capability to lay sustainable building 
products as the Autoclaved Aerated 
Concrete (AAC) and calcium silicate blocks 
that German block manufacturer Xella 
produce. These blocks have exemplary 
thermal and acoustic performance, which 
can reduce a home’s carbon footprint. 
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Upgraded H01
As development activities ramped up on 
the next-generation Hadrian X®, the 
team commenced the implementation of 
upgrades on one of the existing Hadrian 
X® commercial prototypes to test some 
of the concepts likely to be incorporated 
into the final next-gen design.

One of the concepts that was tested was 
the removal of the saw, with the upgraded 
Hadrian X® instead using pre-sequenced 
pallets of blocks to produce zero on-site 
waste. The saw module was completely 
removed along with the pack conveyors 
(which assisted in the loading of pallets 
into Hadrian), de-hacker robots (which 
transferred blocks from pallets into storage 
bays) and rejection chute. The removal of 
these modules meant a higher reliability 
and faster block delivery within H01. 

The next-generation Hadrian X® has been 
designed modularly, meaning the saw can 
be added or removed depending on the 
delivery capabilities of local block suppliers.

The overall H01 footprint was reduced 
by approximately 2.5 metres, enabling 
H01 to fit on more construction sites, 
and onboard power meant many 
deployment requirements were 
dematerialized, and what did remain 
could be stored inside H01, reducing 
deployment time by half.

A new DST®-enabling laser system 
resulted in a reduction of laser trackers 
on-site from three to just one. H01 
demonstrated good lay speeds for its first 
ever suburban build and is expected to 
continue to improve as more builds are 
completed. H01 also demonstrated for 
the first time the ability of the Hadrian X® 
to build from the front of the structure in 
between two existing houses.

H01 proved a valuable testing bed for 
next-generation Hadrian X® concepts and 
has accelerated the overall development 
time of the new robot.
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Hadrian X® in the Field
Over the course of FY22, FBR continued to generate 
momentum with regard to the commercialisation of its Hadrian 
X® technology and Wall as a Service® (WaaS®) offering, 
completing further commercial work in the real world while 
simultaneously advancing pilot programs with partner 
organisations. 

Importantly, FBR continued to demonstrate the real-world 
benefits of the Hadrian X® in residential and commercial 
construction projects, while highlighting further advantages 
such as the low to zero waste potential of sequenced pallets.

WIENERBERGER PILOT PROGRAM

As part of the previously announced pilot program with global 
partner Wienerberger AG, FBR completed an outdoor Pilot Build 
in November 2021 utilising Wienerberger’s Porotherm clay 
blocks. The structure was built on the outdoor test slab at 
FBR’s premises, in a style commonly found in Europe, featuring 
gable ends approximately five metres high. The Wienerberger 
blocks used in the structure are the largest blocks ever used by 
the Hadrian X® and the largest produced by Wienerberger, and 
the first clay blocks to be passed through the robot. FBR used 
two different block types – double leaf blocks for the external 
walls (Porotherm R25, equivalent to 12 standard bricks) and 
single leaf blocks (Porotherm R12, equivalent to six standard 
bricks) for the internal walls to form a monolithic wall system 
already approved for use in European markets. 

While FBR and Wienerberger had originally intended to 
complete a Pilot Building Program in Europe, the parties 
undertook an Australian-based Pilot Building Program to 
enable FBR and Wienerberger to continue to develop their 
collaboration within the limitations of the economic conditions 
and travel, which at the time, were heavily influenced by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, with a view to progressing the 
commercialisation of FBR’s technology with Wienerberger’s 
clay block products in key international territories by 
demonstrating the commercial operation of the Hadrian X® 
with Wienerberger clay blocks in Australia. 

The completion of the Australian-based Pilot Building Program 
demonstrated the ability of the Hadrian X® to work with 
architectural styles and construction materials commonly 
found in the European market, where an estimated 700,000 
new low-rise homes are built each year. 
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AMBERTON BEACH

Construction of the childcare centre at Amberton 
Beach was completed at the beginning of the 
period.  Hadrian X® built the double brick cavity 
walls of the childcare centre, comprising all 
external as well as some internal walls. The centre 
was completed on time in 16 build days, and 
consisted of 8,670 concrete masonry units, the 
equivalent of approximately 43,400 standard 
bricks. The work was completed in a significantly 
shorter time period than the estimate for manual 
bricklayers and was charged at the prevailing 
commercial rate for bricklaying services. 

The Hadrian X® was able to operate through 
challenging weather conditions including heavy 
rain and strong winds. The childcare centre was 
built in five sections, requiring five different 
building positions for the Hadrian X®, and as well 
as being the largest structure built by the Hadrian 
X® at the time, it was also one of the tallest, with 
a 4.8m high wall incorporated into the structure.
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WELLARD

Over the course of FY22, four of the five 
structures comprising the Company’s portfolio in 
the Perth suburb of Wellard were completed. 

During the construction of [Wellard #3], FBR’s 
H01 commenced work on its first house structure 
following the completion of upgrade work. The 
upgraded H01 proved its zero-waste design by 
producing no waste in the build, as it lays from 
pre-cut, sequenced pallets in accordance with the 
block sequencing in the Hadrian X® build file. 

Typically, a manually built brick house will produce 
10% brick waste on average, which, applied to 
the Wellard #3 build, would have equated to 
approximately three cubic metres of brick waste 
in landfill, plus the additional cost associated with 
over-ordering and waste removal.

The Wellard #4 build utilised the largest clay 
blocks available globally, the Porotherm R25 
double leaf blocks (equivalent in volume to 12 
standard bricks) were used for external walls, 
while single leaf Porotherm R12 blocks 
(equivalent in volume to six standard bricks) were 
used for the internal walls. 

This marks the first time in the world 
Wienerberger’s clay blocks have been laid by a 
robot in the undertaking of commercial, real-world 
work. The successful build at Wellard follows the 
outdoor pilot build testing undertaken in 
November 2021, which sought to demonstrate 
Hadrian X®’s ability to address the European 
clay-block low-rise housing market, which has 
potential for 700,000 new homes per year. The 
structure is the fourth home in the Company’s 
five home Wellard portfolio, with the fifth 
structure expected to be built in the coming 
months. Each home in the portfolio will be sold as 
they are completed.

Of the completed structures, one house has been 
sold, two have progressed to lock-up stage, and 
the most recent, constructed utilising 
Wienerberger Porotherm clay blocks has had roof 
trusses installed. 

Upon readiness, houses will be sold and until such 
time are held as inventory on the Company’s 
balance sheet.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



13FBR LIMITED
2022 ANNUAL REPORT

XELLA PILOT PROGRAM

As announced in January 2021, FBR executed a 
Pilot Program Agreement with German 
innovative block manufacturer Xella to 
robotically construct houses at FBR’s premises 
utilising Xella’s “Ytong” autoclaved aerated 
concrete blocks (AAC) and “Silka” calcium silicate 
blocks (CSU).

Ytong AACs are large format concrete blocks 
constructed to a high dimensional accuracy 
which are potentially very well suited to be laid 
by the Hadrian X®. Silka CSUs are a sustainable, 
low energy, sound absorbent, low compression, 
non-combustible, weatherproof building block 
that are in common use throughout the world.

The aim of the Australian Pilot Program is to 
enable FBR and Xella to develop a practical 
understanding of the capabilities of each other’s 
products, within the limitations of the economic 
conditions and travel restrictions resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  Following the delivery 
of Xella’s AAC and CSU blocks, FBR constructed 
the first of two buildings at FBR’s premises 
using the Hadrian X® including relevant 
diagnostic activities to measure the 
effectiveness of the blocks as part of FBR’s wall 
system, the results of which were shared with 
Xella as part of the post-build consultation 
process.

WILLAGEE

During the year, FBR commenced its largest ever 
project in the Perth suburb of Willagee, Western 
Australia, robotically constructing the walls of 16 
townhouses, working with Inspired Homes, a 
large builder of both residential and multi-unit 
dwellings, and Satterley, who are one of 
Australia’s largest land developers, on one of 
their premier developments in WA.

The 16 townhouses are located in two groups 
across the development with eight on each of 
the northern and southern sides. Hadrian X® is 
robotically constructing the load bearing walls, 
internal partition walls, and the concrete footings 
and slabs. 

Given the complexity of the project, which 
included a number of first-time accomplishments 
for FBR such as common party walls between 
each townhouse, a triple-leaf cavity wall system, 
acoustic brick ties, as well as steel reinforcements 
and fireproofing, FBR adopted a staged approach, 
completing all the first story courses before the 
formation and installation of the second story 
slabs and then completing the second story walls 
up to a height of eight metres. 

The townhouses are located on a rising site with 
each townhouse standing on a different level. 
This meant that the Hadrian X® was situated on 
the adjacent block building below ground level, 
moving to continue work on the opposite side 
once a side is complete, enabling the next 
concrete slab to be poured.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



14 FBR LIMITED
2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Commercial
Strategy

Commercial model
Wall as a Service® (WaaS®) is the 
servitisation and digitalisation of the old 
way of selling bricks and manual 
bricklaying labour separately. WaaS® is 
sold as a fixed price single delivered 
service to customers. The WaaS® 
operating entity supplies the blocks and 
robotically constructs walls onsite to the 
precise specification of a digital 
architectural plan. WaaS® allows 
customers to directly access the 
benefits of robotic construction such as 
improvements in speed, accuracy, safety 
and waste, without having to build 
robotics capability into their businesses.

Typically, the acquisition of an order 
would follow this process:

•	 Customer asks for quote to build 
walls of house(s)

•	 Builder sends architectural plans to 
FBR, including brick specification

•	 FBR runs plans through its 
proprietary architectural software 
and delivers fixed price lump sum 
quote for supply and lay of walls to 
plans specification 
 

•	 FBR sends fixed price quote to 
builder, guaranteeing price for 24 
months, and provides total 
estimated build time

•	 Builder agrees to quote and 
requests date for service

•	 FBR orders bricks from local 
partner and arranges for delivery 
direct to site on specified day

•	 FBR sends Hadrian X to site on 
appointed day and builds house

•	 FBR bills for 100% of work

WaaS®

Operating Entity
WaaS® customer

(builder/contractor)
End user (property 

owner/purchaser of 
finished structure)

Hadrian X
® 

Hadrian-optimised blocks 

Operators  
Maintenance 

Remote Support 
Funding from strategic partners 

Contract for walls 

Walls
Completed
structure

ADDRESSING THE MARKET

FBR’s commercial strategy is to create Wall 
as a Service® (WaaS®) operating entities 
around the world that deliver erected walls 
on demand to customers (builders, 
developers, government bodies etc).

The Hadrian X® improves the 
commerciality of block structures, 
helping block manufacturers to sell more 
blocks and compete against alternative 
building products.

WaaS® provides a digitalisation and 
software-driven pathway for residential 

and commercial construction and 
completion, providing efficiency and 
certainty around scheduling for 
customers, who can organise 
subsequent trades based on single data 
source service provision. This data can 
also be used in other applications.

The end user (e.g. a homebuyer) receives 
delivery of higher quality structure 
quicker, as well as other flow-on benefits 
of digital construction.

Global WaaS® operating entities will be 
rapidly scaled by allowing strategic 
partners to buy in to the WaaS® 

operation in that region. Funds from 
strategic partners will be used to procure 
more Hadrian X® robots, and in some 
markets the strategic partner may be a 
manufacturer of the Hadrian X®.

Maintaining 100% ownership and 
control of its global intellectual property 
and the global commercial opportunity 
gives FBR a monopoly position as the 
only enabling technology for 
autonomous brick and block wall 
construction on the planet.
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How does
WaaS work?

WaaS® is the servitisation and digitalisation of 
the old way of selling bricks and bricklaying 
labour separately. Sold as a fixed price, single 
delivered service to customers, the WaaS® 
operating entity will supply the blocks and 
robotically constructs walls onsite to the precise 
specification of a digital architectural plan.

WaaS® allows customers to access the benefits of 
robotic construction such as improvements in speed, 
accuracy, safety and waste, without having to build 
robotics capability into their businesses. The 
benefits of the Hadrian X® methodology and output 

improve the commerciality of brick and block 
structures, helping manufacturers to sell more 
blocks and compete against alternative building 
products and methodologies.

WaaS® provides a digitalisation and software driven 
pathway for house construction and completion, 
and enables more efficient and certain scheduling 
for customers, who can organise subsequent trades 
based on single data source service provision. The 
end user (e.g. a homebuyer) receives delivery of a 
higher quality structure quicker, as well as all the 
other flow-on benefits of digital construction.

Hadrian-optimised blocks

Hadrian X®

Operators

Maintenance

Remote Support

Funds from Strategic Partners

Contract for WaaS®

The world’s first fully autonomous, 
end-to-end bricklaying robot

Trained in operation of the Hadrian 
X® construction robot

Regular check-ups to ensure Hadrian X® is 
operating at peak e�ciency 

Ability to o�er support o�-site to assist with 
scalability of global operations

Provided by brick and block manufacturers, designed 
to maximise the benefits of Hadrian X®

Funding in regional WaaS® operating entities used to 
procure Hadrian X® robots

Agreed with WaaS® customers to supply square 
metres of wall at a fixed rate
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Safety, H
ealth,  

Environm
ent and Q

uality

Reporting
FBR confirms there were no improvement notices, 
prohibition notices or fines received from any 
Australian regulatory body within the 12 months 
to 30 June 2022. Our commitment to the safety 
and health of FBR employees, contractors, 
visitors, and members of the public is unwavering. 

FBR’s performance against targets in FY 21/22 is 
summarised in Table 1 below:

Our Approach
Four key themes underpin our well-functioning 
management system:

•	 Leadership

•	 Risk Management

•	 People Capability

•	 Assurance and Continuous Improvement

TARGET WHAT WE DID RESULT STATUS

Provide safe and healthy 
working conditions for 
the prevention of 
work-related injury and 
ill-health

•	Our leaders are in the field, caring for our people, trust and 
engagement, genuine conversations about risk and have 
authentic leadership

•	FBR’s leaders have been in the field and had forty-seven 
recorded safe behaviour conversations since the initiative 
rolled out in January 2022

•	Implemented a hazard, incident, & improvement report form             
•	Embedding a strong reporting culture, ensure that they are 

controlled, eliminated, or reduced
•	Verified that our previously identified risks and hazards are 

controlled, eliminated, or reduced to as low as practicable
•	 Risk normalisation workshop & action plan completed with each 

department

Zero fatality, 
permanent 
injury or disease

Achieved

Our assets are impeccable 
and incident free

• Our operators are qualified and competent to a standard 
• They are always engaged and diligent incident free 

No asset damage Achieved

Eliminate hazards, reduce 
risks, and maximise 
opportunities to create 
value

•	New Pre-Start providing the opportunity to state what was 
“Completed Well” and what “Needs to Improve.”  Ensuring 
worked is planned safely for the day. 

•	Developed & implemented a FBR Take 5
•	Every project has a projects risk register 
•	Safe spine and forklift training and assessment delivered and 

to those identified risk exposures

Minor injuries have 
decreased
Reporting increased 
for incidents, hazards, 
and improvements

Achieved

•	5S is reinvigorated, and successes are celebrated 5S standards 
dashboard

Our people are trained 
and qualified

•	Deliver a robust induction Induction completed 
and rolling out

Achieved

•	Training and qualifications accessible online, individual 
ownership of qualifications 

•	Training packages and pass out underway 

Training and 
qualifications are 
current

We are all informed, and 
communication is at the 
highest level

•	SHEQ Share process and safety theme program and training
•	Quality investigations by teams to eliminate repeat 

incidents and shared to workplace

We are all informed, 
and communication is 
at the highest-level

Achieved

•	We share our SHEQ KPI’s Dashboards with our employees to 
celebrate our successes

SHEQ KPI’s Dash-
boards improve 
performance

Our safety culture is at 
the proactive/generative 
level

•	SHEQ Strategy 2022 implemented and Safety culture 
benchmarking every 6 months and strategy review

Safety culture is 
proactive moving 
towards generative

Achieved

Protection of the 
environment, including 
prevention of pollution 
and reduction of waste

•	Environment management gap analysis and development of 
those associated plans, registers, and tools

Zero environmental 
incidents

Achieved

Work together with our 
supply chain partners to 
meet, or exceed, our 
customer requirements

•	We meet with our customers before and after the build to 
gain feedback

Our feedback is 
tracked and measured

Achieved

Fulfil applicable legal 
requirements

•	Integrated system is reviewed, finalised with a legal review
•	Rollout and embed the integrated system with the team

Successful roll out of 
the Integrated 
Management System

Achieved
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Leadership
Our aim is to be industry leaders in safety and quality.  

Visible leadership and personal accountability have been key 
focus areas for SHEQ activities at all levels of the business. 
Leaders who are actively in the field, operating  alongside our 
teams can lead by example and care for our people, having 
genuine conversations about risk so that our people can go 
home safely. We gain trust, encourage engagement, and have 
authentic leadership. 

Importantly, Leaders communicate to our workforce on our 
strategy, organisational objectives and day to day safety 
requirements, so that all are informed, with communication 
being the key focus.

SHEQ reports to the Leaders and the Board on a weekly and 
monthly basis with regard to SHEQ performance. The Board 
and Leadership Team maintain governance and oversight of 
performance. 

Risk Management
FBR has focussed on implementing tools that drive risk 
management specific to our industry and provide a safety benefit. 
Implementation, ongoing use and improvement of risk management 
tools is internally driven, with improved safety and risk mitigation 
being the desired outcomes. Three examples of such initiatives are:

•	 Take 5s

•	 Pre-start meetings

•	 Awareness of risk normalisation

Take 5 and Risk Management
Other Take 5 models are based on vague questions of “what 
could hurt me?” and rely on perception of risk. FBR’s Take 5 
framework is an assessment of real risk. Integrating the model 
into our organisation has provided a clear focus for hazard 
awareness and a better understanding of effective controls.

FBR leaders are driving risk management in the following ways:

•	 Embracing and believing in risk management tools

•	 Setting the standard as a Leader, leading by example

•	 Allowing time for risk management activities

•	 Supporting and observing our team

•	 Inspecting controls and providing feedback to our team

•	 Eliminating hazards, reducing risks, and maximizing 
opportunities to create value

Pre-start Meetings	
We have modified our prestart format to create and allow for an 
immediate feedback-loop, discussing what worked well and what did 
not work well so that corrective action can be taken. The format 

allows for daily tasks to be raised and safe methods to be confirmed.

The benefits of our current pre-start meetings include: 

•	 Continuous improvement

•	 Instilling and building on our safety culture

•	 Improving communication in and amongst our teams

Risk normalisation
Risk normalisation is the gradual process through which 
unwanted practices or standards become acceptable. Risk 
normalisation is a natural human reaction that occurs through 
familiarity with potential risks and complacency. Each 
department works through risk normalisation workshops so 
that teams have the chance to discuss, reflect and improve.

Material risks reflect the full spectrum of FBR work activities 
e.g., Hadrian X® (industrial robot), workplace psychosocial, 
physical health, environmental, public safety, and security.  
A risk register identifies all foreseeable hazards and is subject 
to review. The register embraces the risk hierarchy of control. 
Measures are implemented to mitigate risk of harm to people, 
property, and the environment.

Capability
The capability of our people contributes to better safety, health, 
environment, and quality outcomes. Through induction and 
training (worker or contractor), we ensure people have the skills, 
demonstrated capability and experience to perform their work 
and make decisions independently, including an understanding 
of safety, health and environmental impacts and controls. 

Key areas for training and competency for current and emerging 
workforce requirements have been identified. We invest in 
building worker capability and have a demonstrated commitment 
to ongoing compliance aligned to FBR’s training and competency 
matrix. Competency-based training is primarily delivered by 
external Registered Training Organisations.

We work together with our supply chain partners to meet, or 
exceed, our customer requirements.

Assurance and Continuous  
Improvement
FBR have focussed on compliance to the new WHS legislation 
and have committed to continuous improvement.

For internal verification, workplace inspections and internal 
audits are completed. In addition, monitoring of material safety 
and health risks are completed against risk registers and safe 
work method statements applied for high-risk work. 

Externally we are audited by our clients where workplace inspections 
and audits are completed. Feedback from clients is positive, and 
monthly reports of safety and health performance are provided to the 
FBR Audit and Risk Committee.
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We are pioneers

•	 We thrive on pushing the 
boundaries and achieving 
the impossible.

•	 We are innovators and 
recognise there is no 
success without failure.

•	 We are natural explorers.

•	 We are inquisitive and 
adventurous – the way 
things are isn’t the way 
things have to be.

Our 
people

Purpose & 
Values We are one team

•	 We always make it our number one 
priority to make sure everyone goes 
home safely.

•	 We understand we all have a role to 
play and as a team we are stronger.

•	 We are committed and passionate.

•	 We always look out for each other.

We act with integrity

•	 We aren’t afraid to admit our 
mistakes & work collaboratively  
on solutions.

•	 We are open and candid with each 
other.

•	 We are authentic, humble and 
honest.

•	 We treat everyone equally.
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As FBR continues to grow rapidly, the importance 
of the Company values becomes more evident. 
These values highlight what it is to be part of our 
team, for new and existing employees, our 
shareholders, stakeholders and our customers. As 
we progress toward the commercialisation of our 
technology, we are increasingly cognisant of how 
the needs of the business will change over time, 
particularly with respect to our greatest asset, 
our people. We have welcomed a significant 
number of new members to the team over the 
course of the financial year as we have 
increasingly focused on the skillsets related to 
the manufacturing aspect of the business. This 
includes marked increases in the number of 
employees in engineering, fabrication, 
procurement, controls systems and legal teams. 

Our people are highly engaged and motivated by 
our shared values and common goals, and 
together we aim to complete our objectives, 
while remaining aware that we need help one 
another and protect our most important assets. 
FBR was one of the few employers in Australia to 
pioneer the utilisation of Australia’s only 
validated and evidence-based psychosocial risk 
assessment survey tool, People at Work. 

FBR will contribute to the Workplace Gender 
Equality Agency’s annual reporting. This mandatory 
reporting, implemented by the Federal Government, 
aims to encourage measures that improve gender 
equality outcomes and has been designed to 
minimise the regulatory burden on business. 

Year in  
Review

We make it happen

•	 We are accountable, 
disciplined and reliable. 

•	 We achieve.

•	 We pride ourselves on the 
quality of our work and we 
execute with precision.

•	 We move with agility  
and tenacity to deliver 
our goals.
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Board

The Board is ultimately responsible for all 
matters relating to the running of the 
Company. The Board’s role is to govern 
the Company rather than to manage it. In 
governing the Company, the Directors 
must act in the best interests of the 
Company as a whole. It is the role of 
senior management to manage the 
company in accordance with the 
direction and delegations of the Board 
and the responsibility of the Board to 
oversee the activities of management in 
carrying out these delegated duties.

Audit & Risk Committee 

The Audit & Risk Committee is  
comprised of the following three 
Non-Executive Directors:

•	 Grant Anderson (Chair);

•	 Richard Grellman (member)

•	 Nancy Milne (member); and

•	 Greg Smith (member).

The role of the Audit & Risk Committee is 
to assist the Board in fulfilling its statutory 
responsibilities in relation to financial 
reporting, risk management and internal 
control including, but not limited to:

•	 Assess the risk and control 
environment – reviewing accounting 
policies, internal controls, practices 
and disclosures to assist the Board in 
making informed decisions;

•	 Monitor and review the integrity of the 
financial reporting of the Company, 
reviewing significant financial 
reporting judgments. Overseeing the 
financial reporting to ensure it is 
appropriate and of a high quality prior 
to recommending adoption of the 
financial statements by the board for 
release to the ASX and shareholders;

•	 Review the Company’s internal 
financial control system and risk 

Corporate
Governance

Board & Committees
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management systems including the 
Company’s Risk Management and 
Internal Compliance and Control policy;

•	 Monitor, review and oversee the 
external audit function including 
matters concerning appointment and 
remuneration, independence and 
non-audit services;  

•	 Monitor and review compliance with 
the Company’s Code of Conduct; and  

•	 Perform such other functions as 
assigned by law or the  
Company’s Constitution.

Remuneration & People 
Committee 

The Remuneration & People Committee 
is comprised of the following three 
Non-Executive Directors:

•	 Nancy Milne (Chair);

•	 Richard Grellman (member)

•	 Grant Anderson (member); and

•	 Greg Smith (member).

The role of the Remuneration & People 
Committee is to manage remuneration 
related issues including, but not  
limited to:

•	 Remuneration policy & packages 
(including superannuation 
arrangements) of Executive 
Directors, Non-Executive Directors 
and senior executives; 

•	 Employee incentive and equity-
based plans including the 
appropriateness of performance 
hurdles and total payments 
proposed; and 

•	 Whether there is any gender or other 
inappropriate bias in remuneration 
for directors, senior executives or 
other employees. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Ensures appropriate Corporate 

Governance Practices are in place.

REMUNERATION & PEOPLE 
COMMITTEE

Responsible for remuneration policy and 
practice, and people management.

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE
Responsible for all matters related to 

financial reporting and  
audit and risk managment.

MANAGING DIRECTOR & CEO
Delegate authority for all matters that are not 

reserved for the Board or Committees.

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM

Corporate Governance

Good governance is embedded throughout FBR 
and is the collective responsibility of the Board 
and all levels of management. Effective 
corporate governance is a critical element 
contributing to the longer-term success of FBR.

FBR is committed to meeting the requirements 
of the ASX Corporate Governance Council 

Principles and Recommendations 4th Edition 
(Principles and Recommendations).

A full copy of FBR’s Corporate Governance 
Statement is available on the Company website 
at www.fbr.com.au/view/corporate-governance

FBR’s governance framework is illustrated below:
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Directors’ Report 

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of FBR Limited (‘FBR’ or the 
‘Company’) and its controlled entities (‘the Group’) for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Directors’ details 

The following persons were directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year: 

Mr Richard Grellman AM 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
Appointed: 15 July 2018 
Qualifications: FCA 
Experience and expertise: Mr Grellman 
previously worked with accounting firm 
KPMG for 32 years and was a member of 
KPMG’s National Board from 1995 to 1997 
and a member of the National Executive 
Committee from 1997 to 2000. 

In 2007, Mr Grellman was appointed a 
member of the Order of Australia for service 
to the community (particularly through 
leadership roles with Mission Australia and 
fundraising with Variety, The Children’s 
Charity) and to the finance and insurance 
sectors.  

Other current directorships: Lead 
Independent Director of NYSE listed F45 
Training Holdings Inc. and Lead Independent 
Director of The Salvation Army in Australia.

Former directorships (last 3 years): Non-
Executive Chairman of ASX-listed IPH Limited 
(ASX: IPH), Non-Executive Chairman of 
Bisalloy Steel Group Limited (ASX: BIS) and 
Director of the National Health 
Medical Research Council for Institute for 
Dementia Research. 

Special responsibilities:  Remuneration 
Committee member and Audit Committee 
member 

Interests in shares: Nil 
Interests in Performance rights: Nil 

Mr Michael Pivac 

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 
Appointed: 18 November 2015 
Qualifications: Business Management 

Experience and expertise: Michael Pivac is 
the Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of FBR. He spent 20 years in the 
aviation sector as an Airborne Mission 
Coordinator with Australian Border 
Protection and Search and Rescue, 
specializing in Electronic Detection Systems 
and strategic and tactical mission planning, 
working closely with Australian and 
International Government and Military 
Agencies. He has been key to developing 
FBR's technology, business plan and machine 
development strategy, and has forged 
relationships with investors, builders, 
product suppliers and future customers.  

Other current directorships: Nil 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 

Interests in shares: 127,589,371 (includes 
50,000,000 Loan Funded Shares) 

Interests in Performance rights: Nil 
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Mr Mark Pivac 

Chief Technical Officer, Executive Director and 
Founder 
Appointed: 18 November 2015 
Qualifications: B.Eng (Aero) Hons. 

Experience and expertise: Mark Pivac is the 
primary inventor of FBR’s automated 
bricklaying technology. He is an aeronautical 
and mechanical engineer with over 30 years’ 
experience working on the development of 
high technology equipment ranging from 
lightweight aircraft to heavy off road 
equipment and construction robotics. Mr 
Pivac has 25 years’ experience of 
Pro/Engineer/Creo 3D CAD software. He also 
has high level mathematical skills and 
extensive design, commissioning and fault 
finding experience on servo controlled 
motion systems achieving very high dynamic 
performance. Mr Pivac has led the technical 
development of HadrianX for over 15 years. 

Other current directorships: Nil 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 

Interests in shares: 333,205,167 (includes 
50,000,000 Loan Funded Shares) 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 

Mr Grant Anderson 

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed: 23 October 2019 
Qualifications:  FAICD, CPM - FAMI 
 
Experience and expertise: Grant Anderson 
has over 40 years of experience in the design 
and manufacturing sectors, at the level of 
executive, CEO and managing director for a 
number of public and private best practice 
international companies. Grant also has 
extensive Board experience in both ASX-
listed and private companies across multiple 
industries including automation, technology 
and robotics. He has experience as a Director 
in multiple countries including joint venture 
companies. Previous Board experience has 
included Berklee Limited (Deputy Chairman), 
Techni Waterjet Pty Ltd. (Chairman) and The 
ANCA Group Pty Ltd. which included multiple 
international subsidiaries. 

Grant is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, a Fellow of the Australian 
Marketing Institute, and a life member of the 
FAPM. 

Other current directorships: Non-Executive 
Director of HGS Pty Ltd trading as Sutton 
Tools. and Non-Executive Chairman of 
Effusiontech Pty Ltd trading as SPEE3D a 
metal 3D printing company  

Former directorships (last 3 years): ANCA 
Group & Executive Director of the Industry 
Capability Network Victoria. 

Special responsibilities: Audit Committee 
Chair and Remuneration Committee 
member 

Interests in shares: 716,667 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 
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Mr Greg Smith 

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed: 5 August 2020 
Qualifications: MBA, Grad Dip Management 

Experience and expertise: Greg Smith has 39 
years' experience in the building products 
industry in manufacturing, technical and 
sales across the clay and concrete products 
sectors.  

Greg specialises in operations and project 
management, safety transformation 
leadership, lean implementation and 
contract negotiation. 

Mr Smith holds a Master of Business 
Administration (Exec) from the University of 
Queensland, a Graduate Diploma in 
Management from the University of 
Queensland, a Certificate of Applied Science 
– Industrial Ceramics from the Holmesglen 
College of TAFE, a Certificate in Quality 
Control from the School of Mines Ballarat 
TAFE, and is a graduate of the Company 
Directors Course run by the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. 

Other current directorships:       Nil 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

Special responsibilities: Audit Committee 
member and Remuneration Committee 
member 

Interests in shares:       Nil 
Interests in performance rights:      Nil 

Ms Nancy Milne OAM 

B. Law, FAICD 
Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 26 April 2022 
Qualifications: B.Law, FAICD 

Experience and expertise: Ms Milne has 
extensive business experience as a non-
executive director and lawyer specialising in 
insurance, corporate governance, risk 
management and commercial dispute 
resolution. She was a partner at Clayton Utz 
from 1997 to 2003 and a consultant until 
2012, and was awarded the Order of 
Australia Medal in 2008 for services to the 
legal sector and to the community. Ms Milne 
has significant experience in risk 
management, safety, compliance and 
property development.  

Other current directorships:, Chair of the 
Securities Exchanges Guarantee Corporation, 
Chair of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board, Deputy Chair of the 
NSW State Insurance Regulatory Authority, 
Director of the Benevolent Society and 
Director of Pacific Opera. 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Crowe 
Horwath Australasia,  ALE Property Group 
Limited 

Special responsibilities: Remuneration 
Committee Chair and Audit Committee 
member 

Interests in shares: 250,000 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 
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CFO and Company Secretary  

Mr Aidan Flynn B Comm, B Sc, CPA, PGrad Dip Energy, Grad Dip Applied Corporate Governance. 

Mr Aidan Flynn is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and was appointed as the 
Company Secretary on  30 June 2021. 

Principal activities  

FBR is the inventor of the Hadrian X®, the world’s first automated end-to-end bricklaying robot. 
Functioning like a 3D printer, the Hadrian X® builds brick structures in situ, course by course, using 
adhesive to bond the bricks together. The Hadrian X® is capable of working in outdoor environments 
thanks to the unique Dynamic Stabilisation Technology®, or DST®, which rapidly measures and 
adjusts for dynamic interference caused by uncontrolled environmental conditions. The Hadrian X® 
has completed a number of suburban builds under commercial contract, demonstrating its ability to 
build brick structures safer, faster, and more accurately than traditional bricklaying methods while 
producing far less waste. FBR is now working on the next-generation Hadrian X®, designed to be 
even faster and more capable than the current generation model. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs  

FBR completed a placement of 222,222,222 fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 
with a small number of international and domestic institutional and sophisticated investors. The 
shares were allotted in December 2021 at $0.045 per share and raised a total of $10 million. The 
funds were raised to provide working capital and to continue the Company’s commercialisation 
pathway. 

In June 2022 FBR completed a further placement of 222,222,222 fully paid ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company with a small number of international and domestic institutional and 
sophisticated investors. The shares were allotted in June 2022 at $0.018 per share and raised a total 
of $4 million. The funds were raised to provide working capital and to complete mechanical 
assembly of the next-generation Hadrian X®. 

No other significant changes were made in the state of affairs during the period. 

Review of operations and financial results  

Building on the operational success of the 2020/21 financial year, FBR again made significant 
progress in the commercialisation of its technology in FY22.   

On 5 October 2021 FBR announced its first multi-home Wall as a Service® (‘WaaS®’) contract to 
supply WaaS® to a third-party residential property developer, Riculallo Pty Ltd, using the Hadrian X® 
construction robot. The contract pertains to a development site in St James, Western Australia, 
under which FBR will construct the slab, footings, structural walls, second storey slab and roof 
trusses for eight two-story townhouses. Construction of the St James project is due to commence 
shortly. 

In November 2021, after the announcement of the St James contract, FBR announced that it had 
entered into a contract with prominent Perth builder Inspired Homes to supply WaaS® and concrete 
slabs for 16 townhouses in a development in the Perth suburb of Willagee. Under the contract, FBR 
is supplying the load bearing walls, the internal partition walls, and the concrete footings and slabs. 
Work on the project commenced in December 2021, and FBR is now in the process of constructing 
the second storey walls.  
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Mr Greg Smith 

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed: 5 August 2020 
Qualifications: MBA, Grad Dip Management 

Experience and expertise: Greg Smith has 39 
years' experience in the building products 
industry in manufacturing, technical and 
sales across the clay and concrete products 
sectors.  

Greg specialises in operations and project 
management, safety transformation 
leadership, lean implementation and 
contract negotiation. 

Mr Smith holds a Master of Business 
Administration (Exec) from the University of 
Queensland, a Graduate Diploma in 
Management from the University of 
Queensland, a Certificate of Applied Science 
– Industrial Ceramics from the Holmesglen 
College of TAFE, a Certificate in Quality 
Control from the School of Mines Ballarat 
TAFE, and is a graduate of the Company 
Directors Course run by the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. 

Other current directorships:       Nil 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

Special responsibilities: Audit Committee 
member and Remuneration Committee 
member 

Interests in shares:       Nil 
Interests in performance rights:      Nil 

Ms Nancy Milne OAM 

B. Law, FAICD 
Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 26 April 2022 
Qualifications: B.Law, FAICD 

Experience and expertise: Ms Milne has 
extensive business experience as a non-
executive director and lawyer specialising in 
insurance, corporate governance, risk 
management and commercial dispute 
resolution. She was a partner at Clayton Utz 
from 1997 to 2003 and a consultant until 
2012, and was awarded the Order of 
Australia Medal in 2008 for services to the 
legal sector and to the community. Ms Milne 
has significant experience in risk 
management, safety, compliance and 
property development.  

Other current directorships:, Chair of the 
Securities Exchanges Guarantee Corporation, 
Chair of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board, Deputy Chair of the 
NSW State Insurance Regulatory Authority, 
Director of the Benevolent Society and 
Director of Pacific Opera. 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Crowe 
Horwath Australasia,  ALE Property Group 
Limited 

Special responsibilities: Remuneration 
Committee Chair and Audit Committee 
member 

Interests in shares: 250,000 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 
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CFO and Company Secretary  

Mr Aidan Flynn B Comm, B Sc, CPA, PGrad Dip Energy, Grad Dip Applied Corporate Governance. 

Mr Aidan Flynn is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and was appointed as the 
Company Secretary on  30 June 2021. 

Principal activities  

FBR is the inventor of the Hadrian X®, the world’s first automated end-to-end bricklaying robot. 
Functioning like a 3D printer, the Hadrian X® builds brick structures in situ, course by course, using 
adhesive to bond the bricks together. The Hadrian X® is capable of working in outdoor environments 
thanks to the unique Dynamic Stabilisation Technology®, or DST®, which rapidly measures and 
adjusts for dynamic interference caused by uncontrolled environmental conditions. The Hadrian X® 
has completed a number of suburban builds under commercial contract, demonstrating its ability to 
build brick structures safer, faster, and more accurately than traditional bricklaying methods while 
producing far less waste. FBR is now working on the next-generation Hadrian X®, designed to be 
even faster and more capable than the current generation model. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs  

FBR completed a placement of 222,222,222 fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 
with a small number of international and domestic institutional and sophisticated investors. The 
shares were allotted in December 2021 at $0.045 per share and raised a total of $10 million. The 
funds were raised to provide working capital and to continue the Company’s commercialisation 
pathway. 

In June 2022 FBR completed a further placement of 222,222,222 fully paid ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company with a small number of international and domestic institutional and 
sophisticated investors. The shares were allotted in June 2022 at $0.018 per share and raised a total 
of $4 million. The funds were raised to provide working capital and to complete mechanical 
assembly of the next-generation Hadrian X®. 

No other significant changes were made in the state of affairs during the period. 

Review of operations and financial results  

Building on the operational success of the 2020/21 financial year, FBR again made significant 
progress in the commercialisation of its technology in FY22.   

On 5 October 2021 FBR announced its first multi-home Wall as a Service® (‘WaaS®’) contract to 
supply WaaS® to a third-party residential property developer, Riculallo Pty Ltd, using the Hadrian X® 
construction robot. The contract pertains to a development site in St James, Western Australia, 
under which FBR will construct the slab, footings, structural walls, second storey slab and roof 
trusses for eight two-story townhouses. Construction of the St James project is due to commence 
shortly. 

In November 2021, after the announcement of the St James contract, FBR announced that it had 
entered into a contract with prominent Perth builder Inspired Homes to supply WaaS® and concrete 
slabs for 16 townhouses in a development in the Perth suburb of Willagee. Under the contract, FBR 
is supplying the load bearing walls, the internal partition walls, and the concrete footings and slabs. 
Work on the project commenced in December 2021, and FBR is now in the process of constructing 
the second storey walls.  
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FBR has also completed the walls of four of the five homes in its Wellard portfolio, including a home 
constructed using Wienerberger Porotherm clay blocks subsequent to the end of the period. 
Utilising two Porotherm block types – R25 double leaf blocks (equivalent in volume to 12 standard 
bricks) for the external walls and single leaf blocks (equivalent in volume to six standard bricks) for 
the internal walls. This was the first time in the world Wienerberger’s clay blocks have been laid by a 
robot in the undertaking of commercial, real-world work. 

The fifth home in the Wellard portfolio is expected to be built in the coming month, with each home 
in the portfolio to be sold as they are completed. The first home in the portfolio has recently sold 
and settled. 

In March 2022, FBR entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (‘MOU’) with Liebherr-
Mischtechnik GmbH, a global manufacturer and supplier of high-quality systems for the mixing, 
batching and pumping of concrete, with the intention of cooperating to industrialise and 
commercialise the next generation Hadrian X® automated bricklaying robot for the global 
construction market. Liebherr-Mischtechnik GmbH, based in Germany, is a division of the Liebherr 
International Group, one of the world’s largest, most diverse and highly regarded equipment 
manufacturers. 

The cooperation is comprised of two phases. Phase 1 is focused on ensuring that the next 
generation Hadrian X® is suitable for scalable industrialisation and commercialisation. Under Phase 
1, Liebherr-Mischtechnik GmbH is supporting FBR in the further development of the Hadrian X®, 
with the primary goal of ensuring that the Hadrian X® is designed for reliable, continuous operation 
in tough job site conditions throughout its economic life, and for manufacturing at the scale and cost 
necessary for serial production and full commercialisation.  

It is expected that Phase 1 will be completed in less than two years from the date of signing.  

Phase 2 will commence upon execution by both parties of a long-term Manufacturing and 
Commercialisation Agreement. This agreement will address, among other things, the appointment 
of Liebherr-Mischtechnik GmbH as exclusive manufacturer of Hadrian X® robots, the scope and 
implementation of joint commercialisation activities including supply, service and lease structure, 
and intellectual property licensing. Prerequisites for progressing to Phase 2 include reaching mutual 
agreement on the business plan, go-to-market strategy, customer service strategy and commercial 
viability of the Hadrian X® in key markets and achievement of key performance targets. 

FBR and Liebherr have agreed to a mutual exclusivity for a period of two years or until the execution 
of a Manufacturing and Commercialisation Agreement. 

In November 2021, FBR announced that it had executed a term sheet with GP Vivienda to supply 
WaaS® for between 2,000 and 5,000 homes in Mexico using the Company’s revolutionary Hadrian 
X® construction robot. Subject to a number of milestones that must be completed within the first 24 
months, FBR will supply WaaS® for a minimum of 2,000 and maximum of 5,000 homes in Mexico 
(dependent on market conditions and GP Vivienda’s pipeline of work). FBR will also supply all 
associated retaining walls and other brick and block structures on one or more greenfield residential 
development sites in Mexico within five years of completion of the milestones. 

The order, timing and locations of all sites on which WaaS® will be supplied in Mexico is to be agreed 
between the parties beforehand to ensure that the Hadrian X® is deployed in a reasonably efficient 
manner and to minimise the time, cost and distance that the Hadrian X® is required to travel 
between development sites. For each site on which the Hadrian X® is deployed, the parties will 
commit to the supply of WaaS® on at least 100 homes. FBR will supply WaaS® at a rate that ensures 
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the overall completed cost of the structural component of each home is commercially competitive. 
The works will be supplied by FBR or an affiliate, including a North American subsidiary or branch of 
FBR. 

FBR also announced in November 2021 that the MOU between FBR and the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia’s Ministry of Housing has been discontinued, with a view to replacing it with a more suitable 
formal agreement with revised targets in due course. Shortly thereafter, FBR announced it had 
signed an MOU with the United Arab Emirates Ministry of Energy & Infrastructure. The MOU sees 
FBR and the Ministry identifying opportunities for the introduction and adoption of FBR’s robotic 
construction technology, solutions and services to serve the construction sector in the UAE and 
exploring the potential for local manufacturing. 

In due course, FBR will establish a Wall as a Service® (‘WaaS®’) operating entity in the UAE to 
facilitate the introduction of a Hadrian X® to the GCC region, where the interest in FBR’s technology 
has been strong, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. FBR will establish this operating entity 
at an appropriate time in order to meet the demand for robotically constructed walls in the region, 
likely in 24 to 36 months. 

In March 2022, FBR secured construction financing for robotically built housing to support and grow 
FBR’s construction operations using the Hadrian X® construction robot and the Fastbrick Wall 
System®. FBR signed an agreement with a subsidiary of FC Capital, one of Australia’s largest 
alternative asset managers, FC Securities Pty Ltd (‘FC’) for a $2 million revolving debt facility to 
finance up to 67.5% of the land and construction cost of five homes FBR is building in Wellard, plus 
any subsequent FBR residential builds within the 30-month term of the facility. The secured debt 
facility has an interest rate on drawn funds of 9.00% per annum. 

Further, in May 2022 FBR entered into a revolving R&D tax loan facility with FC Capital, in place until 
31 December 2024. The facility allows FBR to draw down on a monthly basis as needed, up to 90% of 
its presently earned R&D tax incentive rebates or $4.0 million, whichever is lower at the time. It has 
an initial interest rate of 8.50% per annum during 2022 and then an interest rate of 8.15% per 
annum plus the published one month bid rate for the Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate 
(BBSW).  

In May 2022 FBR also announced that Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
FBR, had established a Lease Finance Facility with FC Capital to provide asset finance for FBR’s two 
existing Hadrian X® construction robots at $1.15 million per Hadrian X®. The finance facility has a 
three-year term and a 40% balloon payment at the end of the term,  and an interest rate of 12.0% 
per annum and placed a General Security Agreement over FBR and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. 
The establishment of this facility marked the first time FBR had been provided lease finance over its 
Hadrian X® construction robots, and is consistent with the Company’s global commercialisation plan 
to expand its fleet of robots.  

One Board of Directors change was made during the period, with Ms Nancy Milne re-appointed to 
the position of Non-Executive Director in April 2022 following her retirement in January 2020.  

In November 2021, FBR completed a $10.0 million equity placement to institutional and 
sophisticated investors, and received its R&D tax incentive cash refund of $4.0 million, $2.6 million 
of which was used to repay the advanced payment received from Radium Capital. In June 2022 FBR 
completed a further $4.0 million equity placement to institutional and sophisticated investors, and, 
subsequent to the end of the period, completed a $1.9 million placement with strategic investor 
Brickworks, Australia’s largest producer of bricks and blocks. 
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FBR has also completed the walls of four of the five homes in its Wellard portfolio, including a home 
constructed using Wienerberger Porotherm clay blocks subsequent to the end of the period. 
Utilising two Porotherm block types – R25 double leaf blocks (equivalent in volume to 12 standard 
bricks) for the external walls and single leaf blocks (equivalent in volume to six standard bricks) for 
the internal walls. This was the first time in the world Wienerberger’s clay blocks have been laid by a 
robot in the undertaking of commercial, real-world work. 

The fifth home in the Wellard portfolio is expected to be built in the coming month, with each home 
in the portfolio to be sold as they are completed. The first home in the portfolio has recently sold 
and settled. 

In March 2022, FBR entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (‘MOU’) with Liebherr-
Mischtechnik GmbH, a global manufacturer and supplier of high-quality systems for the mixing, 
batching and pumping of concrete, with the intention of cooperating to industrialise and 
commercialise the next generation Hadrian X® automated bricklaying robot for the global 
construction market. Liebherr-Mischtechnik GmbH, based in Germany, is a division of the Liebherr 
International Group, one of the world’s largest, most diverse and highly regarded equipment 
manufacturers. 

The cooperation is comprised of two phases. Phase 1 is focused on ensuring that the next 
generation Hadrian X® is suitable for scalable industrialisation and commercialisation. Under Phase 
1, Liebherr-Mischtechnik GmbH is supporting FBR in the further development of the Hadrian X®, 
with the primary goal of ensuring that the Hadrian X® is designed for reliable, continuous operation 
in tough job site conditions throughout its economic life, and for manufacturing at the scale and cost 
necessary for serial production and full commercialisation.  

It is expected that Phase 1 will be completed in less than two years from the date of signing.  

Phase 2 will commence upon execution by both parties of a long-term Manufacturing and 
Commercialisation Agreement. This agreement will address, among other things, the appointment 
of Liebherr-Mischtechnik GmbH as exclusive manufacturer of Hadrian X® robots, the scope and 
implementation of joint commercialisation activities including supply, service and lease structure, 
and intellectual property licensing. Prerequisites for progressing to Phase 2 include reaching mutual 
agreement on the business plan, go-to-market strategy, customer service strategy and commercial 
viability of the Hadrian X® in key markets and achievement of key performance targets. 

FBR and Liebherr have agreed to a mutual exclusivity for a period of two years or until the execution 
of a Manufacturing and Commercialisation Agreement. 

In November 2021, FBR announced that it had executed a term sheet with GP Vivienda to supply 
WaaS® for between 2,000 and 5,000 homes in Mexico using the Company’s revolutionary Hadrian 
X® construction robot. Subject to a number of milestones that must be completed within the first 24 
months, FBR will supply WaaS® for a minimum of 2,000 and maximum of 5,000 homes in Mexico 
(dependent on market conditions and GP Vivienda’s pipeline of work). FBR will also supply all 
associated retaining walls and other brick and block structures on one or more greenfield residential 
development sites in Mexico within five years of completion of the milestones. 

The order, timing and locations of all sites on which WaaS® will be supplied in Mexico is to be agreed 
between the parties beforehand to ensure that the Hadrian X® is deployed in a reasonably efficient 
manner and to minimise the time, cost and distance that the Hadrian X® is required to travel 
between development sites. For each site on which the Hadrian X® is deployed, the parties will 
commit to the supply of WaaS® on at least 100 homes. FBR will supply WaaS® at a rate that ensures 
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the overall completed cost of the structural component of each home is commercially competitive. 
The works will be supplied by FBR or an affiliate, including a North American subsidiary or branch of 
FBR. 

FBR also announced in November 2021 that the MOU between FBR and the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia’s Ministry of Housing has been discontinued, with a view to replacing it with a more suitable 
formal agreement with revised targets in due course. Shortly thereafter, FBR announced it had 
signed an MOU with the United Arab Emirates Ministry of Energy & Infrastructure. The MOU sees 
FBR and the Ministry identifying opportunities for the introduction and adoption of FBR’s robotic 
construction technology, solutions and services to serve the construction sector in the UAE and 
exploring the potential for local manufacturing. 

In due course, FBR will establish a Wall as a Service® (‘WaaS®’) operating entity in the UAE to 
facilitate the introduction of a Hadrian X® to the GCC region, where the interest in FBR’s technology 
has been strong, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. FBR will establish this operating entity 
at an appropriate time in order to meet the demand for robotically constructed walls in the region, 
likely in 24 to 36 months. 

In March 2022, FBR secured construction financing for robotically built housing to support and grow 
FBR’s construction operations using the Hadrian X® construction robot and the Fastbrick Wall 
System®. FBR signed an agreement with a subsidiary of FC Capital, one of Australia’s largest 
alternative asset managers, FC Securities Pty Ltd (‘FC’) for a $2 million revolving debt facility to 
finance up to 67.5% of the land and construction cost of five homes FBR is building in Wellard, plus 
any subsequent FBR residential builds within the 30-month term of the facility. The secured debt 
facility has an interest rate on drawn funds of 9.00% per annum. 

Further, in May 2022 FBR entered into a revolving R&D tax loan facility with FC Capital, in place until 
31 December 2024. The facility allows FBR to draw down on a monthly basis as needed, up to 90% of 
its presently earned R&D tax incentive rebates or $4.0 million, whichever is lower at the time. It has 
an initial interest rate of 8.50% per annum during 2022 and then an interest rate of 8.15% per 
annum plus the published one month bid rate for the Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate 
(BBSW).  

In May 2022 FBR also announced that Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
FBR, had established a Lease Finance Facility with FC Capital to provide asset finance for FBR’s two 
existing Hadrian X® construction robots at $1.15 million per Hadrian X®. The finance facility has a 
three-year term and a 40% balloon payment at the end of the term,  and an interest rate of 12.0% 
per annum and placed a General Security Agreement over FBR and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. 
The establishment of this facility marked the first time FBR had been provided lease finance over its 
Hadrian X® construction robots, and is consistent with the Company’s global commercialisation plan 
to expand its fleet of robots.  

One Board of Directors change was made during the period, with Ms Nancy Milne re-appointed to 
the position of Non-Executive Director in April 2022 following her retirement in January 2020.  

In November 2021, FBR completed a $10.0 million equity placement to institutional and 
sophisticated investors, and received its R&D tax incentive cash refund of $4.0 million, $2.6 million 
of which was used to repay the advanced payment received from Radium Capital. In June 2022 FBR 
completed a further $4.0 million equity placement to institutional and sophisticated investors, and, 
subsequent to the end of the period, completed a $1.9 million placement with strategic investor 
Brickworks, Australia’s largest producer of bricks and blocks. 
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On 5 July 2021, settlement of the Company’s Dayton Display Home was effected. The property sold 
for $530,000, with net proceeds of $477,105 received following GST withholding, agents fees and 
other sundry costs. 

On 7 July 2021, the Company issued 27,414,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon the exercise of 
unquoted performance rights that vested on achievement of performance milestones in accordance 
with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

The audited loss before tax expense/benefit for the 12 months to 30 June 2022 has increased 
significantly to $19,978,660 from the prior period loss of $9,333,023. This was primarily due to a 
significant expansion in the size, capability and activities of the company, including the Hadrian 110 
program. In November 2021 the Hadrian development asset was assessed as being ready for use 
and as a consequence amortisation commenced from this date. This also meant costs associated 
with the asset were no longer capitalised. In addition, the company chose to implement a new ERP 
system in the year which resulted in the previous ERP assets being impaired. 

Dividends  

No dividends were proposed or paid during the period or up to the date of signing this report.  

Events arising since the end of the reporting period 

5 July 2022 – The Company issued 20,673,200 fully paid ordinary shares upon the exercise of 
unquoted employee performance rights that vested on the achievement of performance milestones 
in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 7,595,000 vested 
performance rights remain unconverted to fully paid ordinary shares. 

6 July 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.0225 and 
an expiry date of 5 January 2024 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive 
Plan. 

8 July 2022 – The Company completed a placement of 107,201,578 fully paid ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company with strategic investor Brickworks. The shares were allotted in July 2022 at 
$0.018 per share and raised a total of $1.9 million. Included in the strategic share subscription 
agreement was a clause stipulating that Brickworks retains the right to participate in any future 
capital raising that FBR undertakes to the extent needed to maintain a 4.93% shareholding in the 
company. 

25 July 2022 – The Company issued 54,875,000 unlisted Performance Rights in accordance with the 
Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

9 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 
options. 

30 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.035 
and an expiry date of 31 December 2023 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities 
Incentive Plan. 

7 September 2022 – Settlement of the first home in the Company’s Wellard portfolio was effected. 
The property sold for $460,000, with net proceeds of $417,378 received following GST withholding, 
agents fees and other sundry costs. 
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Likely developments, business strategies and prospects 

FBR’s commercial strategy is to create Wall as a Service® (‘WaaS®’) operating entities around the 
world that deliver erected walls on demand to customers (builders, contractors, government bodies 
etc). These global WaaS® operating entities will be rapidly scaled by allowing strategic partners to 
buy in to the WaaS® operation in that region. Funds from strategic partners will be used to procure 
more Hadrian X® robots.  

FBR has commenced the process of achieving certification for its Fastbrick Wall System in 
international jurisdictions, including the United States and Europe. FBR has also commenced 
registering its operating and investment entities in the United States. 

FBR is expecting to deliver a fully commissioned next-generation Hadrian X® in the first quarter of 
the 2023 calendar year, which, once tested in Australia, will be used for demonstration purposes in 
international markets. 

FBR currently maintains 100% ownership and control of its global intellectual property and global 
commercial opportunity, giving the Company a monopoly position as the only enabling technology 
for autonomous brick and block wall construction. 

FBR’s current generation Hadrian X® has been working in the field consistently since mid-2020 
calendar year, and continues to have a healthy pipeline of work in front of it. FBR anticipates 
delivering Wall as a Service® in an international market in the 2023 calendar year. 

Key Relationships – In parallel with the Hadrian X® program, FBR will continue to develop its existing 
relationships with key partners as well as attracting new partners to help deliver on strategic 
objectives. 

During the period, FBR commenced delivery of a 16-townhouse project for reputable Perth builder 
Inspired Homes in a Satterley development. FBR’s relationships with Perth’s builders and developers 
are very strong, and once FBR’s machine and resource availability constraints are removed, FBR 
anticipates the Wall as a Service® order book will grow rapidly.  

FBR also has a contract in place to provide Wall as a Service® for eight townhouses in St James, 
Western Australia. 

In November 2021, FBR announced it had signed a term sheet for the delivery of up to 5,000 homes 
in Mexico with GP Vivienda, a subsidiary of one of Mexico’s largest construction companies.  

In December 2021, FBR announced it had signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the UAE’s 
Ministry of Energy & Infrastructure, which will see FBR and the Ministry conducting a joint feasibility 
study of the use of the Hadrian X® in the UAE construction sector. 

FBR also has strong relationships with domestic and international block suppliers, having completed 
a demo structure using autoclaved aerated concrete blocks and calcium silicate blocks for Xella, and 
using Wienerberger Porotherm blocks to complete one of the homes in the Company’s Wellard 
portfolio. 

FBR has executed a Memorandum of Understanding with Liebherr-Mischtechnik, a division of the 
Liebherr International Group, to industrialise and commercialise the next-generation Hadrian X®. It 
is intended that this Memorandum of Understanding will be replaced in due course by a long-term 
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On 5 July 2021, settlement of the Company’s Dayton Display Home was effected. The property sold 
for $530,000, with net proceeds of $477,105 received following GST withholding, agents fees and 
other sundry costs. 

On 7 July 2021, the Company issued 27,414,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon the exercise of 
unquoted performance rights that vested on achievement of performance milestones in accordance 
with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

The audited loss before tax expense/benefit for the 12 months to 30 June 2022 has increased 
significantly to $19,978,660 from the prior period loss of $9,333,023. This was primarily due to a 
significant expansion in the size, capability and activities of the company, including the Hadrian 110 
program. In November 2021 the Hadrian development asset was assessed as being ready for use 
and as a consequence amortisation commenced from this date. This also meant costs associated 
with the asset were no longer capitalised. In addition, the company chose to implement a new ERP 
system in the year which resulted in the previous ERP assets being impaired. 

Dividends  

No dividends were proposed or paid during the period or up to the date of signing this report.  

Events arising since the end of the reporting period 

5 July 2022 – The Company issued 20,673,200 fully paid ordinary shares upon the exercise of 
unquoted employee performance rights that vested on the achievement of performance milestones 
in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 7,595,000 vested 
performance rights remain unconverted to fully paid ordinary shares. 

6 July 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.0225 and 
an expiry date of 5 January 2024 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive 
Plan. 

8 July 2022 – The Company completed a placement of 107,201,578 fully paid ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company with strategic investor Brickworks. The shares were allotted in July 2022 at 
$0.018 per share and raised a total of $1.9 million. Included in the strategic share subscription 
agreement was a clause stipulating that Brickworks retains the right to participate in any future 
capital raising that FBR undertakes to the extent needed to maintain a 4.93% shareholding in the 
company. 

25 July 2022 – The Company issued 54,875,000 unlisted Performance Rights in accordance with the 
Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

9 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 
options. 

30 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.035 
and an expiry date of 31 December 2023 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities 
Incentive Plan. 

7 September 2022 – Settlement of the first home in the Company’s Wellard portfolio was effected. 
The property sold for $460,000, with net proceeds of $417,378 received following GST withholding, 
agents fees and other sundry costs. 
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Likely developments, business strategies and prospects 

FBR’s commercial strategy is to create Wall as a Service® (‘WaaS®’) operating entities around the 
world that deliver erected walls on demand to customers (builders, contractors, government bodies 
etc). These global WaaS® operating entities will be rapidly scaled by allowing strategic partners to 
buy in to the WaaS® operation in that region. Funds from strategic partners will be used to procure 
more Hadrian X® robots.  

FBR has commenced the process of achieving certification for its Fastbrick Wall System in 
international jurisdictions, including the United States and Europe. FBR has also commenced 
registering its operating and investment entities in the United States. 

FBR is expecting to deliver a fully commissioned next-generation Hadrian X® in the first quarter of 
the 2023 calendar year, which, once tested in Australia, will be used for demonstration purposes in 
international markets. 

FBR currently maintains 100% ownership and control of its global intellectual property and global 
commercial opportunity, giving the Company a monopoly position as the only enabling technology 
for autonomous brick and block wall construction. 

FBR’s current generation Hadrian X® has been working in the field consistently since mid-2020 
calendar year, and continues to have a healthy pipeline of work in front of it. FBR anticipates 
delivering Wall as a Service® in an international market in the 2023 calendar year. 

Key Relationships – In parallel with the Hadrian X® program, FBR will continue to develop its existing 
relationships with key partners as well as attracting new partners to help deliver on strategic 
objectives. 

During the period, FBR commenced delivery of a 16-townhouse project for reputable Perth builder 
Inspired Homes in a Satterley development. FBR’s relationships with Perth’s builders and developers 
are very strong, and once FBR’s machine and resource availability constraints are removed, FBR 
anticipates the Wall as a Service® order book will grow rapidly.  

FBR also has a contract in place to provide Wall as a Service® for eight townhouses in St James, 
Western Australia. 

In November 2021, FBR announced it had signed a term sheet for the delivery of up to 5,000 homes 
in Mexico with GP Vivienda, a subsidiary of one of Mexico’s largest construction companies.  

In December 2021, FBR announced it had signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the UAE’s 
Ministry of Energy & Infrastructure, which will see FBR and the Ministry conducting a joint feasibility 
study of the use of the Hadrian X® in the UAE construction sector. 

FBR also has strong relationships with domestic and international block suppliers, having completed 
a demo structure using autoclaved aerated concrete blocks and calcium silicate blocks for Xella, and 
using Wienerberger Porotherm blocks to complete one of the homes in the Company’s Wellard 
portfolio. 

FBR has executed a Memorandum of Understanding with Liebherr-Mischtechnik, a division of the 
Liebherr International Group, to industrialise and commercialise the next-generation Hadrian X®. It 
is intended that this Memorandum of Understanding will be replaced in due course by a long-term 
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Manufacturing and Commercialisation Agreement, which among other things will see Liebherr-
Mischtechnik appointed as the exclusive manufacturer of Hadrian X® robots.  

Intellectual Property Portfolio – FBR’s proprietary combined Hadrian X®, DST® and Fastbrick Wall 
System® technology is protected by a broad and expanding portfolio of intellectual property rights in 
key markets including Australia, USA, Europe and the GCC region. 

FBR Employees – FBR used FY22 to expand its capabilities and build its team to accelerate the 
commercialisation of the Company’s technology. As FBR progresses the commercialisation of the 
Hadrian X® technology, it anticipates increasing staff numbers, notably in the area of machine 
operators given the current and expected pipeline of work. 

New Applications for FBR’s core technology 

Subject to successfully executing key components of the Company’s Hadrian X® program, FBR 
intends to seed new Research & Development projects to utilise the Company’s core DST®. In FY22, 
the Company completed preliminary testing on the viability of its existing platform in the delivery of 
3D concrete printing applications. FBR is now in discussions with various parties about DST licensing 
opportunities for 3D concrete printing. In the immediate term, FBR remains focussed on delivering 
on the Hadrian X® program, however at an appropriate time the Company will increase its allocation 
of resources to progress some of the new applications and commercialisation opportunities for 
DST®. 

Directors’ meetings  

The number of Directors’ Meetings (including meetings of Committees of Directors) held during the 
year, and the number of meetings attended by each Director is as follows:  

Director Board Meetings Audit Committee Remuneration Committee 

 A B A B A B 

Mr Richard Grellman 8 8 7 7 7 7 
Mr Michael Pivac 8 8 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Mr Mark Pivac 8 8 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Mr Grant Anderson 7 7 6 6 6 6 
Mr Greg Smith 8 8 7 7 7 7 
Mrs Nancy Milne1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

1. Mrs Nancy Milne was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 26 April 2022 

 

The current Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee consists of Nancy Milne (Chair of 
Remuneration Committee), Grant Anderson (Chair of Audit Committee), Richard Grellman and Greg 
Smith. The executives are invited to the Committee meetings at the discretion of the respective 
Committee Chair. 

Where:  

• column A is the number of meetings the Director was entitled to attend 

• column B is the number of meetings the Director attended 

Unissued shares under option  

There were no unissued ordinary shares of FBR under option as at 30 June 2022. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 

On behalf of the Directors of FBR Limited, I am pleased to present the Remuneration Report for 
the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The Board is committed to a Remuneration framework that drives superior performance, 
attracts and appropriately rewards and retains high performing Executives, delivers shareholder 
value and encourages decision-making focused on the longer term.  

Short term incentive targets have been set at challenging levels designed to drive innovation, 
continual value creation and long term business sustainability and growth. The Board exercises 
its discretion to recognise outstanding levels of achievement. 

The information provided in the Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements under the Corporations Act 2001, ASX Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations and Accounting Standards. 

 

 

 

Nancy Milne 

Chair of Remuneration Committee 
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Where:  
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Unissued shares under option  

There were no unissued ordinary shares of FBR under option as at 30 June 2022. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 

On behalf of the Directors of FBR Limited, I am pleased to present the Remuneration Report for 
the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The Board is committed to a Remuneration framework that drives superior performance, 
attracts and appropriately rewards and retains high performing Executives, delivers shareholder 
value and encourages decision-making focused on the longer term.  

Short term incentive targets have been set at challenging levels designed to drive innovation, 
continual value creation and long term business sustainability and growth. The Board exercises 
its discretion to recognise outstanding levels of achievement. 

The information provided in the Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with 
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Remuneration Report (audited)- CONTINUED 

The Directors of FBR Limited (‘FBR’ or ‘the Company’ or ‘the Group’) present the Remuneration 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2022, for the Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors 
and other Key Management Personnel, prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001.   

The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings:  

a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration; 

b. Details of remuneration; 

c. Service agreements; 

d. Share-based remuneration; 

e. Bonuses included in remuneration; and 

f. Other information. 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

Key Management Personal are responsible for the management, planning and execution of the 
activities of FBR and other executives. The Key Management Personal for FBR, in accordance with 
S300A of the Corporations Act 2001, are outlined on page 18. 

FBR’s remuneration strategy has been designed to a build a high performance culture and attract, 
retain and motivate its employees, encouraging them to meet their full potential. In line with this 
strategy, FBR provides market competitive fixed remuneration and incentives. 

The principles of FBR’s executive strategy and supporting incentive programs and frameworks 
are:  

• to align rewards to business outcomes that deliver value to shareholders; 

• to drive a high performance culture by setting challenging objectives and rewarding high 
performing individuals; and  

• to ensure remuneration is competitive in the relevant employment marketplace to support the 
attraction, motivation and retention of executive talent. 

FBR has a remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the reward 
strategy of the Group. 

The Board, with the assistance and guidance of the Remuneration Committee, who operate in 
accordance with its Board approved charter, is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the Group. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is chaired by Mrs Nancy Milne and is comprised 
of three (3) other Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee met 
seven (7) times during the year. 

The remuneration structure that has been adopted by the Group consists of the following 
components:  

• Fixed remuneration being annual salary; and 

• Employee Loan Facility and Incentive Schemes. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The Non-Executive Directors on the Board assess the appropriateness of the nature and amount 
of remuneration on a periodic basis by reference to recent employment market conditions, with 
the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit by the retention of a high quality 
Board, as well as a high retention of overall employees, Key Management Personnel and other 
Executives. 

The payment of bonuses, share options, share performance rights and other incentive payments 
are to be reviewed by the Non-Executive Directors annually as part of the review of executive 
remuneration. All bonuses, options and incentives must be linked to predetermined performance 
criteria. 

Fixed Remuneration 

Fixed Remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis), as 
well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. Fixed Remuneration is reviewed against 
relevant market benchmarking of comparator companies, in addition to considering the 
individual contribution and competence levels. 

Employee Loan Facility 

The Company offered a loan facility to FBR’s employees (Employee Loan Facility) for the purpose 
of assisting the Group's employees and officers with meeting any tax liabilities which may become 
due and payable as a result of the Company issuing the employee equity-based incentives. 

The Board previously engaged external law firm Bellanhouse Lawyers to provide independent 
written legal advice to ensure the Employee Loan Facility was permissible under Australian law, 
including the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (the Act) and the ASX Listing Rules. 

Loyalty Leave Program 

As the Group is committed to providing benefits that encourage both engagement and well-
being, it implemented a Loyalty Leave Program that provides employees with an additional type 
of leave benefit called “Loyalty Leave”, which is over and above existing annual leave and carer’s 
leave entitlements. 

The Leave Loyalty Program is designed to reward FBR employees’ tenure with the Group through 
the provision of additional leave each year in reflection of the length of time they have been with 
the Group. For every year of employment an employee will earn one (1) additional day of leave 
per year, which is awarded on the anniversary of an employee’s start date. 

Short Term Incentive (STI) 

STI awards to Key Management Personnel and executives are made under the performance rights 
plan and employee securities incentive plan rules and are delivered in the form of Share 
Performance Rights (Rights) or share options. Each Right entitles the holder (subject to 
achievement of the specified performance conditions) to one fully paid ordinary share in the 
Group for nil consideration. The purpose of the equity-based Short Term Incentive (STI) is to 
incentivise and reward FBR employees (including Key Management Personnel) for achieving 
Group and individual performance objectives that drive shareholder value whilst simultaneously 
conserving the Group’s cash.  
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Remuneration Report (audited)- CONTINUED 

The Directors of FBR Limited (‘FBR’ or ‘the Company’ or ‘the Group’) present the Remuneration 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2022, for the Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors 
and other Key Management Personnel, prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001.   

The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings:  

a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration; 

b. Details of remuneration; 

c. Service agreements; 

d. Share-based remuneration; 

e. Bonuses included in remuneration; and 

f. Other information. 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

Key Management Personal are responsible for the management, planning and execution of the 
activities of FBR and other executives. The Key Management Personal for FBR, in accordance with 
S300A of the Corporations Act 2001, are outlined on page 18. 

FBR’s remuneration strategy has been designed to a build a high performance culture and attract, 
retain and motivate its employees, encouraging them to meet their full potential. In line with this 
strategy, FBR provides market competitive fixed remuneration and incentives. 

The principles of FBR’s executive strategy and supporting incentive programs and frameworks 
are:  

• to align rewards to business outcomes that deliver value to shareholders; 

• to drive a high performance culture by setting challenging objectives and rewarding high 
performing individuals; and  

• to ensure remuneration is competitive in the relevant employment marketplace to support the 
attraction, motivation and retention of executive talent. 

FBR has a remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the reward 
strategy of the Group. 

The Board, with the assistance and guidance of the Remuneration Committee, who operate in 
accordance with its Board approved charter, is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the Group. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is chaired by Mrs Nancy Milne and is comprised 
of three (3) other Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee met 
seven (7) times during the year. 

The remuneration structure that has been adopted by the Group consists of the following 
components:  

• Fixed remuneration being annual salary; and 

• Employee Loan Facility and Incentive Schemes. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The Non-Executive Directors on the Board assess the appropriateness of the nature and amount 
of remuneration on a periodic basis by reference to recent employment market conditions, with 
the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit by the retention of a high quality 
Board, as well as a high retention of overall employees, Key Management Personnel and other 
Executives. 

The payment of bonuses, share options, share performance rights and other incentive payments 
are to be reviewed by the Non-Executive Directors annually as part of the review of executive 
remuneration. All bonuses, options and incentives must be linked to predetermined performance 
criteria. 

Fixed Remuneration 

Fixed Remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis), as 
well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. Fixed Remuneration is reviewed against 
relevant market benchmarking of comparator companies, in addition to considering the 
individual contribution and competence levels. 

Employee Loan Facility 

The Company offered a loan facility to FBR’s employees (Employee Loan Facility) for the purpose 
of assisting the Group's employees and officers with meeting any tax liabilities which may become 
due and payable as a result of the Company issuing the employee equity-based incentives. 

The Board previously engaged external law firm Bellanhouse Lawyers to provide independent 
written legal advice to ensure the Employee Loan Facility was permissible under Australian law, 
including the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (the Act) and the ASX Listing Rules. 

Loyalty Leave Program 

As the Group is committed to providing benefits that encourage both engagement and well-
being, it implemented a Loyalty Leave Program that provides employees with an additional type 
of leave benefit called “Loyalty Leave”, which is over and above existing annual leave and carer’s 
leave entitlements. 

The Leave Loyalty Program is designed to reward FBR employees’ tenure with the Group through 
the provision of additional leave each year in reflection of the length of time they have been with 
the Group. For every year of employment an employee will earn one (1) additional day of leave 
per year, which is awarded on the anniversary of an employee’s start date. 

Short Term Incentive (STI) 

STI awards to Key Management Personnel and executives are made under the performance rights 
plan and employee securities incentive plan rules and are delivered in the form of Share 
Performance Rights (Rights) or share options. Each Right entitles the holder (subject to 
achievement of the specified performance conditions) to one fully paid ordinary share in the 
Group for nil consideration. The purpose of the equity-based Short Term Incentive (STI) is to 
incentivise and reward FBR employees (including Key Management Personnel) for achieving 
Group and individual performance objectives that drive shareholder value whilst simultaneously 
conserving the Group’s cash.  
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The STI is awarded based on an annual assessment of Group and Individual performance linked 
to the Group’s performance and strategic development, focusing on core drivers of shareholder 
value, to drive both a short and long term perspective on performance, and protect the long term 
interests of the shareholders. 

FBR presently does not have a financial STI objective in place, however it does monitor staff 
performance to ensure key objectives are being met. The performance measures involve the use 
of annual performance objectives, metrics, performance appraisals and continuing emphasis on 
living the Group values. 

As part of the continued growth of the Group, it will look to introduce financial performance 
incentives whereby performance measures will be set annually after consultation with the 
Directors and Executives and will be specifically tailored to the areas where each executive has a 
level of control. The measures will target areas the Board believes hold the greatest potential for 
expansion and profit and cover financial and non-financial measures. 

The Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) for the Executive Team are summarised as follows: 

• financial – not applicable for FY22 & FY23, however it is expected future financial years will have 
revenues, operating profit and earnings per share; and  

• non-financial – safety, strategic technical and commercial growth and development and corporate 
goals set individually based on job descriptions and the attainment of the Group’s overall strategic 
and corporate objectives. 

The Board may, at its discretion, award bonuses for exceptional performance in relation to each 
individual. 

The number of performance rights and options granted in respect to the FY22 STI is determined 
based on the VWAP at the start of the performance period. 

• If the share price at the time of award is higher, KMP and executives will receive higher value per 
performance right 

• If the share price at the time of award is lower, the value to KMP and executives is decreased. 

The value of performance rights is therefore aligned with shareholder interests as executives 
receive value aligned with share price movements. Value is not realised until the vested rights 
are exercised into shares. 

Performance objectives are set by the FBR Board in line with the annual business planning and 
budgeting process. The weighting for each target is reviewed annually and may vary from year to 
year to reflect its criticality, effort to achieve and impact on the business. 

In FY22, Group objectives account for 50% of the performance objectives with personal 
objectives accounting for the remaining 50%. 

Long Term Incentive (LTI) 

LTI awards to staff are made under the performance right plan and employee securities 
incentive plan rules and are delivered in the form of Performance Rights (Rights). Each Right 
entitles the holder (subject to achievement of the specified performance conditions) to one 
fully paid ordinary share in the Company for nil consideration. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The STI is awarded based on an annual assessment of Group and Individual performance linked 
to the Group’s performance and strategic development, focusing on core drivers of shareholder 
value, to drive both a short and long term perspective on performance, and protect the long term 
interests of the shareholders. 

FBR presently does not have a financial STI objective in place, however it does monitor staff 
performance to ensure key objectives are being met. The performance measures involve the use 
of annual performance objectives, metrics, performance appraisals and continuing emphasis on 
living the Group values. 

As part of the continued growth of the Group, it will look to introduce financial performance 
incentives whereby performance measures will be set annually after consultation with the 
Directors and Executives and will be specifically tailored to the areas where each executive has a 
level of control. The measures will target areas the Board believes hold the greatest potential for 
expansion and profit and cover financial and non-financial measures. 

The Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) for the Executive Team are summarised as follows: 

• financial – not applicable for FY22 & FY23, however it is expected future financial years will have 
revenues, operating profit and earnings per share; and  

• non-financial – safety, strategic technical and commercial growth and development and corporate 
goals set individually based on job descriptions and the attainment of the Group’s overall strategic 
and corporate objectives. 

The Board may, at its discretion, award bonuses for exceptional performance in relation to each 
individual. 

The number of performance rights and options granted in respect to the FY22 STI is determined 
based on the VWAP at the start of the performance period. 

• If the share price at the time of award is higher, KMP and executives will receive higher value per 
performance right 

• If the share price at the time of award is lower, the value to KMP and executives is decreased. 

The value of performance rights is therefore aligned with shareholder interests as executives 
receive value aligned with share price movements. Value is not realised until the vested rights 
are exercised into shares. 

Performance objectives are set by the FBR Board in line with the annual business planning and 
budgeting process. The weighting for each target is reviewed annually and may vary from year to 
year to reflect its criticality, effort to achieve and impact on the business. 

In FY22, Group objectives account for 50% of the performance objectives with personal 
objectives accounting for the remaining 50%. 

Long Term Incentive (LTI) 

LTI awards to staff are made under the performance right plan and employee securities 
incentive plan rules and are delivered in the form of Performance Rights (Rights). Each Right 
entitles the holder (subject to achievement of the specified performance conditions) to one 
fully paid ordinary share in the Company for nil consideration. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The LTI has been designed to provide alignment with shareholder outcomes by linking the value 
of the LTI to share price movement over the performance period.  

The most recent LTI’s were issued with a performance period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023. 
Performance Rights are granted at the commencement of the three (3) year period with awards 
vesting to shares at the end of the three-year performance period, subject to performance 
against the specified performance conditions. 

Given the maturity of the existing LTI is less than 12 months, FBR will consider its broader 
remuneration and retention strategy in the coming months with a view to determining 
appropriate long term stretch targets for key personnel. 

In the event of a change of control of the Company, the performance period end date will be 
generally accelerated and brought forward to the date of the change of control and awards will 
vest over this shortened period, subject to ultimate Board discretion. 

Non-Executive Directors 

Total remuneration for all Non-Executive Directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting in December 2021, is not to exceed A$500,000 per annum and is set 
based on advice from external advisors with reference to the fees paid to other Non-Executive 
Directors of comparable companies. Non-Executive Directors’ fees are presently up to A$408,850 
per annum. 

Non-Executive Directors do not receive performance related remuneration. Directors’ fees cover 
all main Board and Committee activities. 

Executive Directors 

Executive Director fees are disclosed in part (b) of the Remuneration Report. 

Use of remuneration consultants 

Remuneration is compared with the external market by industry salary surveys and during 
recruitment activities generally. During a previous period, the Board engaged consulting firm 
The Reward Practice Pty Ltd to provide independent advice in the form of a written report 
detailing benchmarking of executive remuneration to support a review to ensure the effective 
alignment with business requirements, market practice and key shareholder group 
expectations. 

During the period or prior period no remuneration recommendations, as defined by the 
Corporations Act, were provided by The Reward Practice Pty Ltd. 

Voting and comments made at the Company’s last Annual General Meeting 

FBR received 86.88% of ‘FOR’ votes on its Remuneration Report for the 2021 Annual General 
Meeting.  F
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth  

In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board have 
regard to the following indices in respect of the current financial year and the previous four (4) 
financial years:  

 

 

b Details of remuneration  

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each Key 
Management Personnel (KMP) of each entity are shown in the following tables:

ITEM 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

 
EPS loss (cents) 

 
0.85 

 
0.45 

 
0.68 

 
0.73 

 
0.75 

Dividends (cents per 
 

- - - - - 
Net loss (’000) 19,979 9,333 10,997 9,142 7,116 
Share price $0.017 $0.040 $0.032 $0.074 $0.180 

 
Loan Funded Shares 

NUMBER  
ISSUED  GRANT DATE  

 
 
 ORIGINAL LOAN  DUE DATE  

CURRENT EXTENDED
LOAN DUE  DATE  

LOAN 
AMOUNT 

(CENTS PER 
SHARE) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE 
(CENTS PER 

SHARE) 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

 

CLASS A 
NUMBER  

ISSUED  GRANT DATE  

 
 

MILESTONE DATE  EXPIRY DATE  
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan 
Lawe-Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

 
CLASS B NUMBER  

ISSUED  GRANT DATE  
 

MILESTONE DATE  EXPIRY DATE  
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan
Lawe-Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 
30 June 2022 

31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

ITEM 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

 
EPS loss (cents) 

 
0.85 

 
0.45 

 
0.68 

 
0.73 

 
0.75 

Dividends (cents per 
 

- - - - - 
Net loss (’000) 19,979 9,333 10,997 9,142 7,116 
Share price $0.017 $0.040 $0.032 $0.074 $0.180 
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth  

In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board have 
regard to the following indices in respect of the current financial year and the previous four (4) 
financial years:  

 

 

b Details of remuneration  

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each Key 
Management Personnel (KMP) of each entity are shown in the following tables:

ITEM 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

 
EPS loss (cents) 

 
0.85 

 
0.45 

 
0.68 

 
0.73 

 
0.75 

Dividends (cents per 
 

- - - - - 
Net loss (’000) 19,979 9,333 10,997 9,142 7,116 
Share price $0.017 $0.040 $0.032 $0.074 $0.180 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

b Details of remuneration - CONTINUED 

DIRECTOR AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION 

EMPLOYEE YEAR 

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PO
ST

-
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L 
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) 
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) 
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N

N
U

AT
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N
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) 
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N

U
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LO

N
G
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ER
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 ($

) 
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IN
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N

 ($
) 
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nt
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 ($
) 

Va
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e 
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 L
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g-
Te
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In
ce

nt
iv

es
 ($

) 

Executive Directors 

Mr Michael Pivac  22002222 337700,,667733 -- -- 2255,,000000 2288,,551166 -- 228877,,550000 220066,,884411 991188,,553300 5544%% 

Managing Director & 
CEO - Global 2021 375,000 - - 25,000 20,650 - 189,103 123,458 733,211 43% 

Mr Mark Pivac 22002222 444444,,770077 -- 110011 2255,,000000 1155,,118811 -- 228877,,550000 220066,,884411 997799,,333300 5500%% 

Executive Director & 
CTO 2021 450,000 - - 25,000 21,319 - 189,103 121,766 807,188 39% 

Non-Executive Directors 

Mr Richard Grellman 22002222 114411,,335500 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 114411,,335500 00%% 

Non-Executive Chairman 2021 142,350 - - - - - - - 142,350 0% 

Mr Grant Anderson 22002222 7799,,007777 -- -- 77,,990088 -- -- -- -- 8866,,998855 00%% 

Non-Executive Director 2021 80,000 - - 7,600 - - - - 87,600 0% 

Mr Greg Smith  22002222  7799,,007777  --  --  77,,990088  --  --  --  --  8866,,998855  00%%  

Non-Executive Director 2021 72,473     6,885 - - - - 79,358 0% 

Ms Nancy Milne 
Non-Executive Director 

22002222  1133,,553388  --  --  11,,335544  --  --  --  --  1144,,889922  00%%  

Executives 

Mr Aidan Flynn 22002222 226688,,338811 -- 11,,332211 2233,,556688 77,,002211 -- 114477,,442200 112200,,330022 556688,,001133 4477%% 

CFO & Company 
Secretary 2021 259,050 - 1,321 21,694 6,836 - 169,580 140,711 599,192 52% 

Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 

22002222  221177,,007711  --  --  2211,,668899  44,,005588  --  114477,,442200  111111,,111133  550011,,335511  5522%%  

General Counsel 2021 205,449 - - 19,518 - - 169,580 122,492 517,039 56% 

Mr Kiel Chivers 
CCO 

22002222 222266,,338855 -- -- 2222,,333388 1199,,227777  -- 114477,,442200 111111,,448888 552266,,990088 4499%% 

Former Executives  

Mr Simon Amos 
CEO of Australia 

2021 
 

113,689 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7,600 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

127,430 
 

248,719 
 

51% 
 

Mr Marcus Gracey 
CCDO 

2021 
 

102,248 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7,204 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

142,884 
 

252,336 
 

57% 
 

Mr Mark Sheridan 
COO  

2021 
 

115,548 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7,204 
 

- 
 

- 
 

9,503 
 

117,512 
 

249,767 
 

51% 
 

Mr Steve Pierz 
BD – USA 

2021 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

45,750 
 

13,256 
 

59,006 
 

100% 
 

2022 Total 22002222 11,,884400,,225599 -- 11,,442222 113344,,776655 7744,,005533 -- 11,,001177,,226600 775566,,558855 33,,882244,,334444 4466%% 

2021 Total  2021 1,915,807 - 1,321 127,705 48,805 - 772,619 909,509 3,775,766 45% 

 

  

DIRECTOR AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION  

EMPLOYEE  YEAR  
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Executive Directors  

Mr Michael Pivac  2022 370,673 - - 25,000 28,516 - 287,500 206,841 918,530 54% 

Managing Director & 
CEO - Global 2021 375,000 - - 25,000 20,650 - 189,103 123,458 733,211 43% 

Mr Mark Pivac  2022 444,707 - 101 25,000 15,181 - 287,500 206,841 979,330 50% 

Executive Director & 
CTO 2021 450,000 - - 25,000 21,319 - 189,103 121,766 807,188 39% 

Non-Executive Directors 

Mr Richard Grellman 2022 141,350 - - - - - - - 141,350 0% 

Non-Executive Chairman 2021 142,350 - - - - - - - 142,350 0% 

Mr Grant Anderson 2022 79,077 - - 7,908 - - - - 86,985 0% 

Non-Executive Director 2021 80,000 - - 7,600 - - - - 87,600 0% 

Mr Greg Smith  2022 79,077 - - 7,908 - - - - 86,985 0% 

Non-Executive Director 2021 72,473     6,885 - - - - 79,358 0% 

Ms Nancy Milne 
Non-Executive Director 

2022 13,538 - - 1,354 - - - - 14,892 0% 

Executive s 

Mr Aidan Flynn 2022 268,381 - 1,321 23,568 7,021 - 147,420 120,302 568,013 47% 

CFO & Company 
Secretary 2021 259,050 - 1,321 21,694 6,836 - 169,580 140,711 599,192 52% 

Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 

2022 217,071 - - 21,689 4,058 - 147,420 111,113 501,351 52% 

General Counsel 2021 205,449 - - 19,518 - - 169,580 122,492 517,039 56% 

Mr Kiel Chivers 
CCO 

2022 226,385 - - 22,338 19,277 - 147,420 111,488 526,908 49% 

Former Executives  

Mr Simon Amos 
CEO of Australia 

2021 
 

113,689 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7,600 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

127,430 
 

248,719 
 

51% 
 

Mr Marcus Gracey 
CCDO 

2021 
 

102,248 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7,204 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

142,884 
 

252,336 
 

57% 
 

Mr Mark Sheridan 
COO  

2021 
 

115,548 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7,204 
 

- 
 

- 
 

9,503 
 

117,512 
 

249,767 
 

51% 
 

Mr Steve Pierz 
BD – USA 

2021 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

45,750 
 

13,256 
 

59,006 
 

100% 
 

2022 Total  2022 1,840,259 - 1,422 134,765 74,053 - 1,017,260 756,585 3,824,344 46% 

2021 Total  2021 1,915,807 - 1,321 127,705 48,805 - 772,619 909,509 3,775,766 45% F
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

b Details of remuneration - CONTINUED 

i. Mrs Nancy Milne was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 April 2022 

ii. Mr Greg Smith was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 5 August 2020 

iii. Mr Aidan Flynn, the CFO of the Group was appointed as Company Secretary on 30 June 2021 

iv. Mr Marcus Gracey, appointed to the position of Chief Corporate Development Officer on 10 August 2018, finished up 
with the Company on 20 September 2020. 

v. Mr Mark Sheridan, appointed to the position of Chief Operations Officer on 10 August 2018, finished up with the 
Company on 20 September 2020. 

vi. Mr Simon Amos, appointed to the position of Chief Executive Officer - Australia on 3 June 2019, finished up with the 
Company on 20 September 2020. 

 

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as 
follows: 

Name Fixed remuneration At risk – STI Equity 
Plan 

At risk – LTI Equity Plan 

Executive Directors 

Mr Michael Pivac $375,000  
+ $25,000 superannuation 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

Mr Mark Pivac $450,000  
+ $25,000 superannuation 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

Non-Executive Directors 
Mr Richard Grellman $130,000 

+ statutory superannuation 
Nil Nil 

Mr Grant Anderson $80,000 
 + statutory superannuation 

Nil Nil 

Mr Greg Smith $80,000  
+ statutory superannuation 

Nil Nil 

Ms Nancy Milne1 $80,000  
+ statutory superannuation 

Nil Nil 

1. Mrs. Nancy Milne was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 April 2022. 

2. Loan Funded Shares have a loan value of 4.5 cents per share. 

 

The Company is reviewing its salary mix to ensure the Company’s Executives and Non-Executives are 
benchmarked to its peers and comparable technology companies.  The Board acknowledges that the 
above two Executive Directors have a substantial equity position and are incentivised via their Loan 
Funded Shares, which were issued following shareholder approval at the Company’s 2020 AGM and 
then half of which were extended by 12 months at the Company’s 2021 AGM.  
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

b Details of remuneration - CONTINUED 

i. Mrs Nancy Milne was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 April 2022 

ii. Mr Greg Smith was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 5 August 2020 

iii. Mr Aidan Flynn, the CFO of the Group was appointed as Company Secretary on 30 June 2021 

iv. Mr Marcus Gracey, appointed to the position of Chief Corporate Development Officer on 10 August 2018, finished up 
with the Company on 20 September 2020. 

v. Mr Mark Sheridan, appointed to the position of Chief Operations Officer on 10 August 2018, finished up with the 
Company on 20 September 2020. 

vi. Mr Simon Amos, appointed to the position of Chief Executive Officer - Australia on 3 June 2019, finished up with the 
Company on 20 September 2020. 

 

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as 
follows: 

Name Fixed remuneration At risk – STI Equity 
Plan 

At risk – LTI Equity Plan 

Executive Directors 

Mr Michael Pivac $375,000  
+ $25,000 superannuation 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

Mr Mark Pivac $450,000  
+ $25,000 superannuation 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

Non-Executive Directors 
Mr Richard Grellman $130,000 

+ statutory superannuation 
Nil Nil 

Mr Grant Anderson $80,000 
 + statutory superannuation 

Nil Nil 

Mr Greg Smith $80,000  
+ statutory superannuation 

Nil Nil 

Ms Nancy Milne1 $80,000  
+ statutory superannuation 

Nil Nil 

1. Mrs. Nancy Milne was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 April 2022. 

2. Loan Funded Shares have a loan value of 4.5 cents per share. 

 

The Company is reviewing its salary mix to ensure the Company’s Executives and Non-Executives are 
benchmarked to its peers and comparable technology companies.  The Board acknowledges that the 
above two Executive Directors have a substantial equity position and are incentivised via their Loan 
Funded Shares, which were issued following shareholder approval at the Company’s 2020 AGM and 
then half of which were extended by 12 months at the Company’s 2021 AGM.  
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

C Service agreements 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Executive Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel are formalised in an Executive Service Agreement or employment contract. 
The major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below: 

Employee Base salary Term of agreement Notice period 

Executive Directors 

Mr Michael Pivac $375,000  Unspecified Six months 
Mr Mark Pivac $450,000  Unspecified Six months 
Non-Executive Directors 
Mr Richard Grellman $143,000 Unspecified None 
Mr Grant Anderson $80,000 Unspecified None 
Mr Greg Smith  $80,000 Unspecified None 
Ms Nancy Milne $80,000 Unspecified None 
Executives 
Mr Jonathan Lawe-Davies1 $273,973 Unspecified Three months 
Mr Aidan Flynn $276,432 Unspecified Three months 
Mr Kiel Chivers $250,000 Unspecified Three months 

1. Base salary is based on normal full time working hours and is pro rated down only, depending on the actual hours worked. 

d Share-based remuneration 

No new shares were issued to Directors during the year. 

During the year, the Company issued 27,414,000 fully paid ordinary shares to employees only, as a 
result of the achievement of vesting conditions associated with performance milestones in 
accordance with the Company’s Performance Rights Plan. 

During the year, at the Company’s AGM, the Company extended the term by 12 months of  
50,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares as loan funded shares to the two Executive Directors. 

 
Loan Funded Shares 

NUMBER  
ISSUED GRANT DATE 

 
 
 

ORIGINAL LOAN DUE DATE 
CURRENT EXTENDED LOAN 

DUE DATE 

LOAN 
AMOUNT 

(CENTS PER 
SHARE) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE 
(CENTS PER 

SHARE) 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

 

 

 

 
Loan Funded Shares 

NUMBER  
ISSUED  GRANT DATE  

 
 
 ORIGINAL LOAN  DUE DATE  

CURRENT EXTENDED
LOAN DUE  DATE  

LOAN 
AMOUNT 

(CENTS PER 
SHARE) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE 
(CENTS PER 

SHARE) 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

 

CLASS A 
NUMBER  

ISSUED  GRANT DATE  

 
 

MILESTONE DATE  EXPIRY DATE  
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan 
Lawe-Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

 
CLASS B NUMBER  

ISSUED  GRANT DATE  
 

MILESTONE DATE  EXPIRY DATE  
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan
Lawe-Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 
30 June 2022 

31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

ITEM 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

 
EPS loss (cents) 

 
0.85 

 
0.45 

 
0.68 

 
0.73 

 
0.75 

Dividends (cents per 
 

- - - - - 
Net loss (’000) 19,979 9,333 10,997 9,142 7,116 
Share price $0.017 $0.040 $0.032 $0.074 $0.180 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

d Share-based remuneration – CONTINUED 
 

Options Approved by the Board during the year 

There were no options issued or approved by the board during the year. 

Performance rights granted during the year  

No new performance rights were issued to Directors during the year. 

During the year, the Company issued 11,340,000 unlisted performance rights to the Key Management 
Personnel of FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the following 
classes. 

CLASS A 
NUMBER  

ISSUED GRANT DATE 

 
 

MILESTONE DATE EXPIRY DATE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan Lawe-
Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

 
CLASS B NUMBER  

ISSUED GRANT DATE 
 

MILESTONE DATE EXPIRY DATE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan Lawe-
Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 
30 June 2022 

31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Loan Funded Shares 

NUMBER  
ISSUED  GRANT DATE  

 
 
 ORIGINAL LOAN  DUE DATE  

CURRENT EXTENDED
LOAN DUE  DATE  

LOAN 
AMOUNT 

(CENTS PER 
SHARE) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE 
(CENTS PER 

SHARE) 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2021 24 December 2022 4.5 1.5 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 

 

CLASS A 
NUMBER  

ISSUED  GRANT DATE  

 
 

MILESTONE DATE  EXPIRY DATE  
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan 
Lawe-Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

 
CLASS B NUMBER  

ISSUED  GRANT DATE  
 

MILESTONE DATE  EXPIRY DATE  
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan
Lawe-Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 
30 June 2022 

31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

ITEM 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

 
EPS loss (cents) 

 
0.85 

 
0.45 

 
0.68 

 
0.73 

 
0.75 

Dividends (cents per 
 

- - - - - 
Net loss (’000) 19,979 9,333 10,997 9,142 7,116 
Share price $0.017 $0.040 $0.032 $0.074 $0.180 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

d Share-based remuneration – CONTINUED 
 

Options Approved by the Board during the year 

There were no options issued or approved by the board during the year. 

Performance rights granted during the year  

No new performance rights were issued to Directors during the year. 

During the year, the Company issued 11,340,000 unlisted performance rights to the Key Management 
Personnel of FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the following 
classes. 

CLASS A 
NUMBER  

ISSUED GRANT DATE 

 
 

MILESTONE DATE EXPIRY DATE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan Lawe-
Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

 
CLASS B NUMBER  

ISSUED GRANT DATE 
 

MILESTONE DATE EXPIRY DATE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Jonathan Lawe-
Davies 

1,890,000 19 October 2021 
30 June 2022 

31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 

Mr Kiel Chivers 1,890,000 19 October 2021 30 June 2022 31 July 2022 Nil 3.9 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

d Share-based remuneration - CONTINUED 
 

i.    5,670,000 Performance Rights Class A  

Vesting conditions for 1,134,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has built residential 
and non-residential structures comprising 5,000 vertical square metres of wall or more, 
excluding structures built in a factory environment, before 30 June 2022. Shares are awarded on a 
pro rata basis from 20% - 100% of the target, commencing at 1,000 vertical square metres of wall, 
excluding structures built in a factory environment. 
 
Vesting conditions for 1,134,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has commissioned 
Hadrian using the 4 different pallet load system facilitating a minimum of laying 4 different block 
types within the one structure lay. 
 
Vesting conditions for 1,134,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has erected a wall 
using the Hadrian, with or without adhesive, at rate of 2,100 standard brick equivalents (SBE) for 1 
continuous hour or more. 
 
Vesting conditions for 1,134,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has built the 
structural walls of a house in a suburban environment using blocks supplied by an international 
block supplier. 
 
Vesting conditions for 1,134,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has completed an 
entire standard house build (227 vertical square metres or more of wall) including set up, 
pack up, and all down time, excluding structures built in a factory environment, in three days or 
less. 

 
All Class A Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2022 and an expiry date of 31 July 
2022. If unconverted, Class A Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date. 
 

ii.      5,670,000 Performance Rights Class B 

Vesting condition for Class B; Performance review results based on successful completion of employee 
individual performance goals. 
Milestone date is 30 June 2022. Expiry date is 31 July 2022. 
If unconverted, Class B Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 
 

The performance rights were valued using the spot price on grant date. The spot price was $0.039 per 
share at the close of trade on 19 October 2021, being the date the acceptance offers were signed and 
dated by the employees. The fair value of these 11,340,000 performance rights granted during the 
current year, assuming that 100% of the performance rights will vest, was $442,260 and this was fully 
expensed during the year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



44 FBR LIMITED
2022 ANNUAL REPORT

FBR Limited - 30 June 2022  Page 23 

Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

e Bonuses included in remuneration 

At present, the Company does not have a formal cash STI structure in place, as the Company 
continues to mature, it may review whether a cash STI plan is suitable. 

f Other information 

Options held by Key Management Personnel 

No options were issued during the year by the Company to Key Management Personnel, including 
their related parties. Details of movements in options balances during the year are set out below: 

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT 
START OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

EXERCISED EXPIRY HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Michael Pivac - - - - - 
 Mr Mark Pivac - - - - - 

Mr Aidan Flynn - - - - - 
Mr Jonathan Lawe Davies - - - - 

 
- 

Mr Kiel Chivers - - - - - 
Mr Simon Amos1 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - 
Mr Mark Sheridan1 1,500,000 - - (1,500,000) - 
Total 3,500,000 - - (3,500,000) - 

1-  Former Executive  
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

e Bonuses included in remuneration 

At present, the Company does not have a formal cash STI structure in place, as the Company 
continues to mature, it may review whether a cash STI plan is suitable. 

f Other information 

Options held by Key Management Personnel 

No options were issued during the year by the Company to Key Management Personnel, including 
their related parties. Details of movements in options balances during the year are set out below: 

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT 
START OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

EXERCISED EXPIRY HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Michael Pivac - - - - - 
 Mr Mark Pivac - - - - - 

Mr Aidan Flynn - - - - - 
Mr Jonathan Lawe Davies - - - - 

 
- 

Mr Kiel Chivers - - - - - 
Mr Simon Amos1 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - 
Mr Mark Sheridan1 1,500,000 - - (1,500,000) - 
Total 3,500,000 - - (3,500,000) - 

1-  Former Executive  

  

FBR Limited - 30 June 2022  Page 24 

Remuneration Report (audited)  – CONTINUED 

f Other information – CONTINUED 

Shares held by Key Management Personnel 

The number of ordinary shares in the Company during the 2022 reporting period held by each of the 
Group’s Key Management Personnel, including their related parties, is set out below: 

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

Loan Funded Shares held by Key Management Personnel 

During the prior year, on 24 December 2020, the Company issued 100,000,000 Loan Funded incentive 
shares to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting on 26 November 2020. The Loan Funded incentive shares were provided under a limited 
recourse, interest free loan. For each Executive Director, half of the loan, which pertains to 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 12 months and half of the loan, which pertains to the other 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 36 months. 

During the current year, at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 20 December 2021, the 
Company extended the term by 12 months of 50,000,000 of the fully paid ordinary shares as loan 
funded shares to the two Executive Directors. 

The number of Loan Funded Shares held in the Company during the 2022 reporting period held by 
each of the Company’s Key Management Personnel, including their related parties, is set out below: 

  

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT START 
OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

RECEIVED ON 
EXERCISE OF 
OPTIONS OR 

RIGHTS 

DISPOSALS HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Richard Grellman  -  - - -  - 

Mr Grant Anderson 716,667 - - - 716,667 
Mr Greg Smith - - - - - 
Mrs Nancy Milne 250,000 - - - 250,000 
Mr Michael Pivac  127,589,371  - - -  127,589,371 
Mr Mark Pivac 333,205,167  - - - 333,205,167 
Mr Aidan Flynn  1,940,000  - 2,780,000  - 4,720,000 
Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 

 1,365,000  - 
 

2,224,000  -  3,589,000 

Mr Kiel Chivers -  - 
 

2,780,000 -  2,780,000 
Total 465,066,205  - 7,784,000  - 472,850,205 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

f            Other information – CONTINUED 

Loan Funded Shares held by Key Management Personnel (continued) 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

Performance Rights held by Key Management Personnel 

The number of Performance Rights held in the Company during the 2022 reporting period held by 
each of the Company’s Key Management Personnel, including their related parties, is set out below: 

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT START 
OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

EXCERCISED 
DURING THE YEAR 

EXPIRY 
 

HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Michael Pivac - - - - - 

Mr Mark Pivac - - - - - 

Mr Aidan Flynn 9,230,000 3,780,000 (2,780,000) (3,356,000) 6,874,000 

Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 

8,580,000 3,780,000 (2,224,000) (4,636,800) 5,499,200 

Mr Kiel Chivers 8,280,000 3,780,000 (2,780,000) (2,406,000) 6,874,000 

Total 26,090,000 11,340,000  (7,784,000) (10,398,800) 19,247,200 
 

Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 

DIRECTOR LOAN AGREEMENT 

During prior periods the Company paid $190,000 as an unsecured interest bearing loan to Mark Pivac 
in relation to tax payments relating to Performance Rights issued under the Company’s Performance 
Rights Plan. The amount (plus $38,236 interest) remains outstanding at 30 June 2022. 

The loan has a maturity date of 31 December 2022 and an interest rate at the higher of 4.52% per 
annum and the highest rate of interest payable by the Company to any financier of the Company at 
the relevant time. 

GUARANTEES 

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related parties. 

End of audited Remuneration Report 
 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT START 
OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

REPAID DURING 
THE YEAR 

EXPIRY HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Michael Pivac 50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000 

Mr Mark Pivac 50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000 

Mr Aidan Flynn - - - - - 
Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 
 
  

- - - - - 

Mr Kiel Chivers - - - - - 
Total 100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000 
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Environmental legislation 

FBR is required to carry out its activities in accordance with the laws and regulations in the areas in 
which it undertakes its activities. There have been no known significant breaches of these laws and 
regulations. 

Indemnities given to, and insurance premiums paid for directors and officers 

Insurance of officers 

During the year, FBR paid a premium to insure officers of the Company.  The officers of the Company 
covered by the insurance policy include all Directors.   

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings 
that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company, and any other 
payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings, other 
than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the 
improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or 
someone else to cause detriment to the Company.   

Details of the amount of the premium paid in respect of insurance policies are not disclosed as such 
disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.   

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent 
permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify any current or former officer of the Company 
against a liability incurred as such by an officer. 

Non-audit services 

During the year, Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, the Company’s auditors, did not perform any other 
services in addition to their statutory audit duties.   

Details of the amounts paid to the auditors of the Company, Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, for audit 
services provided during the year are set out in Note 27 to the financial statements.   

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under s307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is included on page 48 of this financial report and forms part of this Directors’ Report. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to 
bring proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the 
Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part 
of those proceedings. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 

Michael Pivac 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

29 September 2022 
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Level 17 
383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Locked Bag Q800 
Queen Victoria Building NSW 
1230 
 

T +61 2 8297 2400 
 

 

 

 

 
 

#8406932v3w 

www.grantthornton.com.au 
ACN-130 913 594 
 

 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 389. 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or 
refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Limited is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). 
GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member 
firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one 
another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards 
Legislation. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration  
To the Directors of FBR Limited 
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit 
of FBR Limited for the year ended 30 June 2022, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 

 

 
M D Dewhurst 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
 
Sydney, 29 September 2022 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 Notes 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 
  $ $ 
    
Continuing operations     
Revenue  765,226 98,517 
Cost of sales   (1,428,536) (318,862) 
Gross profit  (663,310) (220,345) 
    
Interest income  26,441 31,502 
R&D tax rebate  3,620,314 - 
Other income  7 64,217 398,252 
Professional services 8.a (826,220) (1,119,813) 
Directors’ and employees’ benefits 8.b (8,486,511) (3,486,493) 
Other expenses 8.c (3,539,370) (1,528,733) 
Development costs  (2,290,131) - 
Share-based payments  (3,040,568) (2,434,389) 
Depreciation 15,16 (1,395,556) (688,374) 
Amortisation of development costs 17 (2,021,480) - 
Property, plant, equipment and inventory 
impairment 

11,15 (1,426,486) (284,630) 

Loss before tax  (19,978,660) (9,333,023) 
    
Income tax (expense)/benefit  - - 

      
Loss for the period   (19,978,660) (9,333,023) 
    
Other comprehensive income for the period, 
net of tax  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period  - - 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the period  (19,978,660) (9,333,023) 
    
Basic loss per share in cents per share 25 0.85 0.45 
Diluted loss per share in cents per share 25 0.85 0.45 

 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2022 
 Notes 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 
  $ $ 
Assets    
Current    
Cash and cash equivalents 10 11,518,907 11,128,151 

Trade and other receivables 12 6,470,410 4,545,823 

Inventories 11 1,370,489 1,462,536 

Other current assets 13 713,216 858,348 

Current assets  20,073,022 17,994,858 

    

Non-current    

Property, plant and equipment 15 4,961,409 3,103,599 

Right-of-use assets 16 1,907,332 1,094,076 

Development costs  17 46,394,525 46,321,925 

Non-current assets  53,263,266 50,519,600 

Total assets  73,336,288 68,514,458 

    

Liabilities    

Current    

Trade and other payables 18 3,551,123 1,869,425 

Provisions 19 754,846 466,725 

Lease liabilities 20 1,220,117 1,013,852 

Loans & borrowings 21 5,740,033 2,474,327 

Current liabilities  11,266,119 5,824,329 

    

Non-current    

Provisions 19 573,906 300,815 

Lease liabilities  20 716,723 20,858 

Loans & borrowings 21 2,514,138 - 

Non-current liabilities   3,804,767 321,673 

Total liabilities  15,070,886 6,146,002 

Net assets  58,265,402 62,368,456 

    

Equity    

Equity attributable to owners of the parent:     

Share capital 22 116,567,987 101,695,037 

Reserves 24 3,496,596 4,481,204 

Accumulated losses  (61,799,181) (43,807,785) 

Total equity  58,265,402 62,368,456 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  

For the year ended 30 June 2022 

 
SHARE 

CAPITAL 

PERFORMANCE 
RIGHT  

RESERVE 

SHARE 
OPTION  
RESERVE 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2021 101,695,037 3,325,339 1,155,865 (43,807,785) 62,368,456 

Loss for the period - - - (19,978,660) (19,978,660) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - - - (19,978,660) (19,978,660) 

      

Transactions with owners:      

Shares issued – capital raising (refer to Note 22) 14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000 

Capital raising costs – (refer to Note 22) (799,304) - - - (799,304) 

Performance rights converted to shares (refer to 
Note 24) 

1,672,254 (1,672,254) - - - 

Performance rights issued to employees  
(refer to Note 24) 

- 2,439,080 - - 2,439,080 

Performance rights expired (refer to Note 24) - (1,769,216) - 1,680,301 (88,915) 

Performance rights forfeited (refer to Note 24) - (324,278) - - (324,278) 

Options issued to employees and directors 
(refer to Note 24) 

- - 988,686 - 988,686 

Options expired (Refer to Note 24) - - (564,584) 257,738 (306,846) 

Options and loan funded shares extended - - (82,042) 49,225 (32,817) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 116,567,987 1,998,671 1,497,925 (61,799,181) 58,265,402 

 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  

For the year ended 30 June 2022 

 
SHARE 

CAPITAL 

PERFORMANCE 
RIGHT  

RESERVE 

SHARE 
OPTION  
RESERVE 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2021 101,695,037 3,325,339 1,155,865 (43,807,785) 62,368,456 

Loss for the period - - - (19,978,660) (19,978,660) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - - - (19,978,660) (19,978,660) 

      

Transactions with owners:      

Shares issued – capital raising (refer to Note 22) 14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000 

Capital raising costs – (refer to Note 22) (799,304) - - - (799,304) 

Performance rights converted to shares (refer to 
Note 24) 

1,672,254 (1,672,254) - - - 

Performance rights issued to employees  
(refer to Note 24) 

- 2,439,080 - - 2,439,080 

Performance rights expired (refer to Note 24) - (1,769,216) - 1,680,301 (88,915) 

Performance rights forfeited (refer to Note 24) - (324,278) - - (324,278) 

Options issued to employees and directors 
(refer to Note 24) 

- - 988,686 - 988,686 

Options expired (Refer to Note 24) - - (564,584) 257,738 (306,846) 

Options and loan funded shares extended - - (82,042) 49,225 (32,817) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 116,567,987 1,998,671 1,497,925 (61,799,181) 58,265,402 

 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 
SHARE 

CAPITAL 

PERFORMANCE 
RIGHT  

RESERVE 

SHARE 
OPTION  
RESERVE 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2020 86,528,414 827,448 2,007,041 (36,143,847) 53,219,056 

Loss for the period - - - (9,333,023) (9,333,023) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - - - (9,333,023) (9,333,023) 

      

Transactions with owners:      

Shares issued – capital raising 16,000,000 - - - 16,000,000 

Capital raising costs (918,377) - - - (918,377) 

Performance rights converted to shares (refer to 
Note 24) 

85,000 (85,000) - - - 

Performance rights issued to employees and 
directors (refer to Note 24) 

- 3,293,492 - - 3,293,492 

Performance rights expired (refer to Note 24) - (270,174) - 30,287 (239,887) 

Performance rights forfeited (refer to Note 24) - (440,427) - 516,845 76,418 

Options issued to employees (refer to Note 24) -  665,512 - 665,512 

Shares issued upon exercise of options (refer to  
Note 24) 

- - - - - 

Options expired - - (1,516,688) 1,121,953 (394,735) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 101,695,037 3,325,339 1,155,865 (43,807,785) 62,368,456 

 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 Notes 30 June 2022 

 
30 June 2021 

 
  $ $ 
Operating activities    
Receipts from customers  924,601 12,360 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (15,851,622) (5,643,012) 

Interest received  2,883 29,963 

Interest paid  (417,735) (98,572) 

Government grants  - 504,194 

Net cash used in operating activities  (15,341,873) (5,195,067) 

    

Investing activities    

Development costs  (4,087,416) (7,310,977) 

Research and development rebate received  3,986,814 6,937,085 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3,277,196) (3,135,121) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (3,377,798) (3,509,013) 

    
    

Financing activities    

Proceeds from loans  8,334,056 2,468,821 

Repayment of loans  (2,561,828) (2,800,000) 

Proceeds from issue of share capital 22 14,000,000 16,000,000 

Capital raising costs   (661,801) (918,377) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  19,110,427 14,750,444 

    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  390,756 6,046,364 

    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  11,128,151 5,081,787 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 10 11,518,907 11,128,151 

    
    

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 
SHARE 

CAPITAL 

PERFORMANCE 
RIGHT  

RESERVE 

SHARE 
OPTION  
RESERVE 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2020 86,528,414 827,448 2,007,041 (36,143,847) 53,219,056 

Loss for the period - - - (9,333,023) (9,333,023) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - - - (9,333,023) (9,333,023) 

      

Transactions with owners:      

Shares issued – capital raising 16,000,000 - - - 16,000,000 

Capital raising costs (918,377) - - - (918,377) 

Performance rights converted to shares (refer to 
Note 24) 

85,000 (85,000) - - - 

Performance rights issued to employees and 
directors (refer to Note 24) 

- 3,293,492 - - 3,293,492 

Performance rights expired (refer to Note 24) - (270,174) - 30,287 (239,887) 

Performance rights forfeited (refer to Note 24) - (440,427) - 516,845 76,418 

Options issued to employees (refer to Note 24) -  665,512 - 665,512 

Shares issued upon exercise of options (refer to  
Note 24) 

- - - - - 

Options expired - - (1,516,688) 1,121,953 (394,735) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 101,695,037 3,325,339 1,155,865 (43,807,785) 62,368,456 

 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 Notes 30 June 2022 

 
30 June 2021 

 
  $ $ 
Operating activities    
Receipts from customers  924,601 12,360 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (15,851,622) (5,643,012) 

Interest received  2,883 29,963 

Interest paid  (417,735) (98,572) 

Government grants  - 504,194 

Net cash used in operating activities  (15,341,873) (5,195,067) 

    

Investing activities    

Development costs  (4,087,416) (7,310,977) 

Research and development rebate received  3,986,814 6,937,085 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3,277,196) (3,135,121) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (3,377,798) (3,509,013) 

    
    

Financing activities    

Proceeds from loans  8,334,056 2,468,821 

Repayment of loans  (2,561,828) (2,800,000) 

Proceeds from issue of share capital 22 14,000,000 16,000,000 

Capital raising costs   (661,801) (918,377) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  19,110,427 14,750,444 

    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  390,756 6,046,364 

    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  11,128,151 5,081,787 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 10 11,518,907 11,128,151 

    
    

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Nature of operations 

FBR Limited (the Company) and its controlled subsidiaries (the Group) designs, develops and builds 
dynamically stabilised robots to address global needs. These robots are designed to work outdoors 
using the Company’s core Dynamic Stabilisation Technology® (DST®). The first application of DST® is 
the Hadrian X®, a bricklaying robot that builds structural walls faster, safer, more accurately and 
with less wastage than traditional manual methods. The Hadrian X® provides Wall as a Service®, 
FBR’s unique commercial offering, to builders on demand. The Company has secured patents to 
protect its intellectual property in its technology in key markets. 

2. General information and statement of compliance 

The consolidated general purpose financial statements of the Group have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards results in full compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).  FBR is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

FBR is the Group’s Ultimate Parent Company.  FBR is a Public Company incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia.  The address of its registered office and its principal place of business is 122 Sultana 
Road West, High Wycombe WA 6057. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 have been approved and 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors.  

3. Going concern 

The Consolidated Financial Report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates 
the continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of 
liabilities in the normal course of business.   

The Group incurred a net loss of $19,978,660 during the year ended 30 June 2022, and as of that 
date, the Group’s net cash outflows from operating and investing activities totalled $18,719,671. 
The ability for the Group to continue as a going concern and to fund its ongoing Hadrian X 
programme is dependent upon the Group successfully raising additional capital and continuing to be 
eligible for receipt of government R&D tax incentives. Whilst the Directors are confident of the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, due to the factors mentioned above, there is material 
uncertainty that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the Group is 
unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and or settle its 
liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business and at amounts different from those stated in 
the financial report. 

The Group held cash and cash equivalents at balance date of $11,518,907 and was working capital 
positive. The Group has receivables of $6,470,410 at balance date. The Group has prepared a cash 
flow forecast for the next 12 months which demonstrates that with further equity raisings, 
continued access to the R&D tax incentive program and the existing cash reserves and receivables, 
there is the necessary working capital for the Group to continue its ongoing Hadrian X programme 
and to provide the necessary working capital to cover its corporate costs over the next year. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Nature of operations 

FBR Limited (the Company) and its controlled subsidiaries (the Group) designs, develops and builds 
dynamically stabilised robots to address global needs. These robots are designed to work outdoors 
using the Company’s core Dynamic Stabilisation Technology® (DST®). The first application of DST® is 
the Hadrian X®, a bricklaying robot that builds structural walls faster, safer, more accurately and 
with less wastage than traditional manual methods. The Hadrian X® provides Wall as a Service®, 
FBR’s unique commercial offering, to builders on demand. The Company has secured patents to 
protect its intellectual property in its technology in key markets. 

2. General information and statement of compliance 

The consolidated general purpose financial statements of the Group have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards results in full compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).  FBR is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

FBR is the Group’s Ultimate Parent Company.  FBR is a Public Company incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia.  The address of its registered office and its principal place of business is 122 Sultana 
Road West, High Wycombe WA 6057. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 have been approved and 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors.  

3. Going concern 

The Consolidated Financial Report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates 
the continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of 
liabilities in the normal course of business.   

The Group incurred a net loss of $19,978,660 during the year ended 30 June 2022, and as of that 
date, the Group’s net cash outflows from operating and investing activities totalled $18,719,671. 
The ability for the Group to continue as a going concern and to fund its ongoing Hadrian X 
programme is dependent upon the Group successfully raising additional capital and continuing to be 
eligible for receipt of government R&D tax incentives. Whilst the Directors are confident of the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, due to the factors mentioned above, there is material 
uncertainty that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the Group is 
unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and or settle its 
liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business and at amounts different from those stated in 
the financial report. 

The Group held cash and cash equivalents at balance date of $11,518,907 and was working capital 
positive. The Group has receivables of $6,470,410 at balance date. The Group has prepared a cash 
flow forecast for the next 12 months which demonstrates that with further equity raisings, 
continued access to the R&D tax incentive program and the existing cash reserves and receivables, 
there is the necessary working capital for the Group to continue its ongoing Hadrian X programme 
and to provide the necessary working capital to cover its corporate costs over the next year. 
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4. Changes in accounting policies 

A. New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements 

In the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has reviewed all of the new and revised 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2021.  

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) that 
are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. The adoption of 
those standards does not have a significant impact on the amounts reported for the current and 
prior period. 

B. Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective and not been adopted early by the Group 

There are no new standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the group in the current or future reporting periods and on 
foreseeable future transactions. 

5. Summary of accounting policies 

A. Basis of consolidation 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 
June 2022. The Company controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the subsidiary.  All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 30 June and the functional and presentation 
currency of the Group is Australia Dollars. 

All transactions and balances between FBR companies are eliminated on consolidation, including 
unrealised gains and losses on transactions between FBR companies.  Where unrealised losses on 
intra-Company asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for 
impairment from a Group perspective.  Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries 
have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by 
the Group. 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
year are recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
applicable. 

B. Revenue and Income 

Wall-as-a-Service (WaaS) and Construction Services income  

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Company follows a 5-step process: 

1. Identifying the contract with a customer 
2. Identifying the performance obligations 
3. Determining the transaction price 
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 
5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied 

The transaction price is the fair value of consideration received or receivable net of goods and 
services tax (GST). 
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Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies 
performance obligations by transferring the promised services to its customers. For WaaS & 
Construction Services, revenue is recognised over time as services are delivered to the customer, as 
the customer benefits from the service as it is delivered and the Group has a right to payment 
appropriate to the level of effort expended upon cancellation of any arrangements. For house and 
land property sales, revenue is recognised at a point in time which is when the settlement of the sale 
of the property occurs. The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect 
of unsatisfied performance obligations and reports these amounts as contract liabilities in the 
statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it 
receives the consideration, the Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its 
statement of financial position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is 
required before the consideration is due. 

Interest and dividend income 

Interest income and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.  
Dividends, other than those from investments in associates, are recognised at the time the right to 
receive payment is established. 

Government grants 

Government grants are treated as income and are reported on an accrual basis and recognised when 
there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions attaching to them and 
the grants will be received. 

C. Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of 
their origin.   

D. Leased assets  

The Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or 
part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration’. 

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which 
are whether: 

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or 
implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group. 

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 
identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of 
the contract. 

• the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The 
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used 
throughout the period of use. 

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-of-use 
asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
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initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the 
asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement 
date (net of any incentives received). 

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is 
readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to 
be exercised. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased 
for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in 
in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment 
is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to 
zero. The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using 
the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments 
in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been disclosed in non-current assets 
and lease liabilities have been disclosed in current and non-current liabilities. 

E. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash within three 
(3) months or less at inception of the deposit and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

F. Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses 
directly attributable to the building process as well as suitable portions of related production 
overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are 
assigned using the first in, first out cost formula. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses.  

G. Property, plant and equipment 

Plant and Equipment 

All plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



57FBR LIMITED
2022 ANNUAL REPORTFBR Limited - 30 June 2022  Page 35 

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies 
performance obligations by transferring the promised services to its customers. For WaaS & 
Construction Services, revenue is recognised over time as services are delivered to the customer, as 
the customer benefits from the service as it is delivered and the Group has a right to payment 
appropriate to the level of effort expended upon cancellation of any arrangements. For house and 
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receives the consideration, the Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its 
statement of financial position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is 
required before the consideration is due. 
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Interest income and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.  
Dividends, other than those from investments in associates, are recognised at the time the right to 
receive payment is established. 

Government grants 

Government grants are treated as income and are reported on an accrual basis and recognised when 
there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions attaching to them and 
the grants will be received. 

C. Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of 
their origin.   

D. Leased assets  

The Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or 
part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration’. 

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which 
are whether: 

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or 
implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group. 

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 
identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of 
the contract. 

• the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The 
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used 
throughout the period of use. 

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-of-use 
asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
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initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the 
asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement 
date (net of any incentives received). 

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is 
readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to 
be exercised. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased 
for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in 
in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment 
is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to 
zero. The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using 
the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments 
in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been disclosed in non-current assets 
and lease liabilities have been disclosed in current and non-current liabilities. 

E. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash within three 
(3) months or less at inception of the deposit and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

F. Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses 
directly attributable to the building process as well as suitable portions of related production 
overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are 
assigned using the first in, first out cost formula. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses.  

G. Property, plant and equipment 

Plant and Equipment 

All plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
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flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

Asset Class Method Useful Lives 
Plant and equipment Straight Line 2-10 years 

Furniture and fittings Straight Line 2-10 years 

Information and communication 
technology (ICT) equipment Straight Line 2-5 years 

Leasehold improvements  Straight Line 2-4 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These 
are included in profit or loss. 

H. Research and development, intangibles and intellectual property  

Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Patents costs that relate to 
projects that are in the research phase are expensed. 

Development costs are capitalised when it is probable that the project will be a success considering 
its commercial and technical feasibility; the consolidated entity is able to use or sell the asset; the 
consolidated entity has sufficient resources; and intent to complete the development and its costs 
can be measured reliably. Capitalised development costs are amortised over the period of their 
expected useful life, when the asset is determined available for use. Patents costs that relate to 
projects that are in the development phase are capitalised. Research and development grants 
receivable are matched to their classification of expenditure. In the periods where research costs are 
expensed, the related research and development grant is reported in the Consolidated Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as other income. In periods where the Group incurs 
Development Costs, the related Research and Development grant is recognised as a credit to 
capitalised development costs, reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the capitalised development carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and 
value-in-use. To determine the recoverable amount, management have used fair value less costs of 
disposal. 

When intangible assets are assessed as being ready for use, they are assessed for impairment in 
accordance with Note 5I.  

The carrying value of development expenditure, intangible assets and intellectual property is tested 
for impairment annually when the asset is not yet available for use or more frequently when an 
indication of impairment arises during the reporting period.   
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I. Impairment testing of non-financial assets 

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating units).  As a result, some assets are tested 
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.   

All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and value-in-use. To determine the  fair value less costs of disposal, management utilises an 
internal cost approach model of replacement cost. The replacement cost approach is a valuation 
technique that reflects the amount that would be required to replace the asset. 

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit to the extent that the value of the asset exceeds its fair value. All assets are 
subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no 
longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount 
exceeds its carrying amount.   

J. Financial instruments 

Recognition and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred.    
A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified 
into the following categories: 

• amortised cost 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

In the periods presented the corporation does not have any financial assets categorised as FVOCI. 
The classification is determined by both: 

• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are 
presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of 
trade receivables which is presented within other expenses. 
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Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost.  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are 
not designated as FVTPL): 

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and 
collect its contractual cash flows 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments as well 
as listed bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139. 

Impairment of financial assets 

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected 
credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. 

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. 
Instead the Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and 
measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the 
instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 

• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting 
date. 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected 
credit losses’ are recognised for the second category. 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of 
credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

K. Income taxes 

Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO) and other fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting 
periods that are unpaid at the reporting date.  Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs 
from profit or loss in the financial statements.  Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.   

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.  However, deferred tax is not 
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provided on the initial recognition of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.  Deferred 
tax on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures is not 
provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected 
to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.   

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be 
utilised against future taxable income, based on the Group’s forecast of future operating results 
which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of 
any unused tax loss or credit.  Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full.   

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off 
current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or expense 
in profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income (such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.   

FBR and all its wholly owned Australian controlled entities are a tax consolidated group. As a 
consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of 
these entities are to be set off in the consolidated financial statements. 

L. Equity, reserves and dividend payments 

Share capital represents the fair value of shares that have been issued.  Any transaction costs 
associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share capital, net of any related income tax 
benefits.   

Other components of equity include the following: 

• Share options reserve comprises the expense of vested option payments. 

• Performance rights reserve comprises the expense of vested performance rights payments. 

• Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits.   

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 

M. Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are benefits, other than termination benefits, that are expected to be 
settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related service. Examples of such benefits include wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits 
and accumulating personal leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits 
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Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost.  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are 
not designated as FVTPL): 

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and 
collect its contractual cash flows 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments as well 
as listed bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139. 

Impairment of financial assets 

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected 
credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. 

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. 
Instead the Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and 
measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the 
instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 

• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting 
date. 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected 
credit losses’ are recognised for the second category. 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of 
credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

K. Income taxes 

Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO) and other fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting 
periods that are unpaid at the reporting date.  Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs 
from profit or loss in the financial statements.  Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.   

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.  However, deferred tax is not 
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provided on the initial recognition of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.  Deferred 
tax on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures is not 
provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected 
to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.   

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be 
utilised against future taxable income, based on the Group’s forecast of future operating results 
which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of 
any unused tax loss or credit.  Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full.   

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off 
current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or expense 
in profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income (such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.   

FBR and all its wholly owned Australian controlled entities are a tax consolidated group. As a 
consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of 
these entities are to be set off in the consolidated financial statements. 

L. Equity, reserves and dividend payments 

Share capital represents the fair value of shares that have been issued.  Any transaction costs 
associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share capital, net of any related income tax 
benefits.   

Other components of equity include the following: 

• Share options reserve comprises the expense of vested option payments. 

• Performance rights reserve comprises the expense of vested performance rights payments. 

• Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits.   

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 

M. Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are benefits, other than termination benefits, that are expected to be 
settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related service. Examples of such benefits include wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits 
and accumulating personal leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits 
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The Group’s liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are included in other long term 
benefits as they are not expected to be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service. They are measured at the present value 
of the expected future payments to be made to employees. The expected future payments 
incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
periods of service, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate 
the timing of the estimated future cash outflows. Any re-measurements arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in assumptions are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the 
changes occur. 

The Group presents employee benefit obligations as current liabilities in the statement of financial 
position if the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve 
(12) months after the reporting period, irrespective of when the actual settlement is expected to 
take place. 

N. Share-based payments 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. 

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if 
the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
recipient, as measured at the date of modification. 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is 
substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 
award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options or share performance rights is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted loss per share.  

O. Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and 
payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST 
components of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

P. Significant management judgement and estimates in applying accounting policies 

When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. The actual results may differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made by 
management, and will seldom equal the estimated results. 

Additional significant estimates and judgements include: 
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Share-based payment transactions 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of the options 
issued during the reporting period has been determined by using various models as appropriate. 
Details of the estimates used to determine the fair value are detailed in Note 23. 

Capitalised development costs 

Distinguishing the research and development phases of the project and determining whether the 
recognition requirements phases of the project and determining whether the recognition 
requirements for the capitalisation of development costs are met requires judgement. After 
capitalisation, management monitors whether recognition requirements continue to be met and 
whether there are any indicators that capitalised costs may be impaired. 

An asset is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher 
its fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. Management has subjected the Group's 
capitalised Development costs (Note 17) to impairment testing.  Management reviews its carrying 
value of capitalised development and intellectual property annually by comparing the carrying value 
against fair value less costs of disposal using an internal cost approach model of replacement cost. 
The replacement cost approach is a valuation technique that reflects the amount that would be 
required to replace the asset. This replacement amount exceeded the carrying value of the assets of 
the CGU. 

Useful lives of depreciable assets 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting 
date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to 
technological obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment. 
 
Useful lives of amortisable assets 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of amortizable assets at each reporting 
date, based on the expected utility of the assets.  During the period the group’s development 
asset was assessed as being ready for use. Once an asset is ready for use it is required to 
determine its expected useful life. Given the industry the group is seeking to disrupt and the 
relative uniqueness of the group’s Hadrian asset uncertainty is involved in establishing this 
position. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to the availability, protectability and 
applicability of the group patent portfolio, expected Hadrian machine lifetimes, comparable and 
competing industry technology and typical technology commercialisation cycles. 
 

Recognition of deferred tax assets 

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the 
probability that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. In addition, significant judgement is required 
in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions. 
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Share-based payment transactions 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of the options 
issued during the reporting period has been determined by using various models as appropriate. 
Details of the estimates used to determine the fair value are detailed in Note 23. 

Capitalised development costs 

Distinguishing the research and development phases of the project and determining whether the 
recognition requirements phases of the project and determining whether the recognition 
requirements for the capitalisation of development costs are met requires judgement. After 
capitalisation, management monitors whether recognition requirements continue to be met and 
whether there are any indicators that capitalised costs may be impaired. 

An asset is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher 
its fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. Management has subjected the Group's 
capitalised Development costs (Note 17) to impairment testing.  Management reviews its carrying 
value of capitalised development and intellectual property annually by comparing the carrying value 
against fair value less costs of disposal using an internal cost approach model of replacement cost. 
The replacement cost approach is a valuation technique that reflects the amount that would be 
required to replace the asset. This replacement amount exceeded the carrying value of the assets of 
the CGU. 

Useful lives of depreciable assets 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting 
date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to 
technological obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment. 
 
Useful lives of amortisable assets 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of amortizable assets at each reporting 
date, based on the expected utility of the assets.  During the period the group’s development 
asset was assessed as being ready for use. Once an asset is ready for use it is required to 
determine its expected useful life. Given the industry the group is seeking to disrupt and the 
relative uniqueness of the group’s Hadrian asset uncertainty is involved in establishing this 
position. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to the availability, protectability and 
applicability of the group patent portfolio, expected Hadrian machine lifetimes, comparable and 
competing industry technology and typical technology commercialisation cycles. 
 

Recognition of deferred tax assets 

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the 
probability that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. In addition, significant judgement is required 
in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions. 
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6. Segment reporting 

The Group has identified one operating segment based on the internal reports that are reviewed 
and used by the executive management team (the chief operating decision makers) in assessing 
performance and in determining the allocation of resources. 

The Group operates in Australia (building technology) and prepares reports internally by this 
location. 

Other prospective opportunities outside of this geographical location are also considered from time 
to time, and if they are secured, will then be attributed to the geographical location where they are 
located. All of the Group’s non-current assets are held in Australia and all interest revenue is derived 
from funds invested in short-term money market instruments, all of which are held within Australia. 

7. Other Income 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Government grants  64,217 394,444 
Other  - 3,808 
  64,217 398,252 
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8. Expenses 

A. Professional services 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Legal costs  184,542 118,881 
Marketing  81,359 143,763 
Accountancy, audit and tax  358,834 571,783 
Corporate consultants  201,485 285,386 

  826,220 1,119,813 
 

B. Directors’ and employees’ benefits 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Wages, salaries and directors’ fees  9,724,813 7,115,547 
Superannuation  949,055 615,334 
Annual leave entitlements  192,382 47,557 
Long service leave entitlements  46,123 61,266 
Recharge to Hadrian development costs  (2,106,299)  (4,353,211) 
Recharge to Hadrian WIP       (210,964) - 
Recharge to Shuttle system development costs       (108,599) - 

    8,486,511 3,486,493 
 

C. Other expenses 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Insurance   254,820 163,712 
Travel expenses  199,042 116,078 
Compliance costs  209,625 154,265 
Subscriptions   229,685 102,471 
Staff training costs   33,911 37,368 
Other administration expenses  2,572,540 928,082 
Recruitment costs  38,247 11,537 
Website development costs   1,500 15,220 

    3,539,370 1,528,733 
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8. Expenses 

A. Professional services 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Legal costs  184,542 118,881 
Marketing  81,359 143,763 
Accountancy, audit and tax  358,834 571,783 
Corporate consultants  201,485 285,386 

  826,220 1,119,813 
 

B. Directors’ and employees’ benefits 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Wages, salaries and directors’ fees  9,724,813 7,115,547 
Superannuation  949,055 615,334 
Annual leave entitlements  192,382 47,557 
Long service leave entitlements  46,123 61,266 
Recharge to Hadrian development costs  (2,106,299)  (4,353,211) 
Recharge to Hadrian WIP       (210,964) - 
Recharge to Shuttle system development costs       (108,599) - 

    8,486,511 3,486,493 
 

C. Other expenses 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Insurance   254,820 163,712 
Travel expenses  199,042 116,078 
Compliance costs  209,625 154,265 
Subscriptions   229,685 102,471 
Staff training costs   33,911 37,368 
Other administration expenses  2,572,540 928,082 
Recruitment costs  38,247 11,537 
Website development costs   1,500 15,220 
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9. Income tax expense 

The major components of tax expense and the reconciliation of the expected tax expense based on 
the domestic effective tax rate of FBR Limited at 25% (2021: 26%) and the reported tax expense in 
profit or loss are as follows: 

 

30 June 2022 
$ 

30 June 2021 
$ 

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense (19,978,660) (9,333,023) 

   
 - Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities before 
income tax at 25% (2021: 26%) (4,994,665) (2,426,586) 

   
Add (less) tax effect of:   

   
- Non-deductible items - Entertainment 4,181 3,439 
- Non-deductible items - Share/Option Based Payments expensed 760,142 632,941 
- Non-deductible items - Share/Option Based Payments capitalised - 251,267 
- Non-assessable income - Cashflow boost - (19,500) 
- Permanent differences relating to R&D costs 930,867 225,798 
- Non-deductible items - Other 774 - 
- costs recognised in equity (199,826) (211,500) 
- Change in tax rate 98,506 64,611 
- Prior year unders and overs 275,762 - 
- Movement in temporary differences not recognised 3,124,259 1,479,530 

   

Income tax expense - - 
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9. Income tax expense (continued)  

Deferred tax assets (“DTA”) and liabilities (“DTL”) 
recognised relate to the following:     

   

 
30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
DTA   
Tax losses & non-refundable offsets (Group) - Note 
9b 13,056,199 10,315,459 
Other temporary differences (DTA closing balance)   

Patent Costs 46,282 50,667 
Domain registrations 680 884 
In-house software 100,512 184,399 
Blackhole expenditure 150 2,674 
Lease cancellation costs 4,672 9,718 
Accruals & other payables 219,063 28,257 
Finance lease liability 484,210 269,025 
Provisions 251,511 199,560 
Capital Raising Costs through equity 378,679 434,878 
Borrowing Costs 33,590 - 
Cash assets 12,334 - 
Inventory 168,661 - 
   

DTL   
Other temporary differences (DTL closing balance)   

Cash assets  - (13,244) 
Trade receivables (15,599) (18) 
Prepayments (178,304) (161,202) 
Investment in Hadrian (7,971,659) (7,967,744) 
Right of Use assets (476,833) (284,460) 
Property, plant & equipment (408,433) (487,397) 
   

Net deferred tax asset not recognised at 25% - Note 
9a & 9b 

5,705,715 2,581,456 

   
Note 9a: The net deferred tax asset in 2022, not recognised is at a 25% tax rate, being FBRs likely 
tax rate for the 2022 year. The net deferred tax liability in 2021, recognised was at a 26% tax rate, 
being FBRs likely tax rate for the 2021 year. 
FBR is classified as a small business entity and base rate entity for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
The income tax rate for base rate entities for the year ended 30 June 2022 is 25% (2021: 26%). 
 
Note 9b: The deferred tax asset at 25% which is attributable to tax losses carried forward at 30 
June 2022 is $13,056,199 (2021: $10,315,459 at 26% rate).  
 
As the deferred tax asset exceeds the deferred tax liability at 30 June 2022, FBR has partially 
offset the deferred tax asset against the deferred tax liability and not recognised the net deferred 
tax asset in the consolidated statement of financial position and profit and loss. 
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9. Income tax expense (continued)  

Deferred tax assets (“DTA”) and liabilities (“DTL”) 
recognised relate to the following:     

   

 
30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
DTA   
Tax losses & non-refundable offsets (Group) - Note 
9b 13,056,199 10,315,459 
Other temporary differences (DTA closing balance)   

Patent Costs 46,282 50,667 
Domain registrations 680 884 
In-house software 100,512 184,399 
Blackhole expenditure 150 2,674 
Lease cancellation costs 4,672 9,718 
Accruals & other payables 219,063 28,257 
Finance lease liability 484,210 269,025 
Provisions 251,511 199,560 
Capital Raising Costs through equity 378,679 434,878 
Borrowing Costs 33,590 - 
Cash assets 12,334 - 
Inventory 168,661 - 
   

DTL   
Other temporary differences (DTL closing balance)   

Cash assets  - (13,244) 
Trade receivables (15,599) (18) 
Prepayments (178,304) (161,202) 
Investment in Hadrian (7,971,659) (7,967,744) 
Right of Use assets (476,833) (284,460) 
Property, plant & equipment (408,433) (487,397) 
   

Net deferred tax asset not recognised at 25% - Note 
9a & 9b 

5,705,715 2,581,456 

   
Note 9a: The net deferred tax asset in 2022, not recognised is at a 25% tax rate, being FBRs likely 
tax rate for the 2022 year. The net deferred tax liability in 2021, recognised was at a 26% tax rate, 
being FBRs likely tax rate for the 2021 year. 
FBR is classified as a small business entity and base rate entity for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
The income tax rate for base rate entities for the year ended 30 June 2022 is 25% (2021: 26%). 
 
Note 9b: The deferred tax asset at 25% which is attributable to tax losses carried forward at 30 
June 2022 is $13,056,199 (2021: $10,315,459 at 26% rate).  
 
As the deferred tax asset exceeds the deferred tax liability at 30 June 2022, FBR has partially 
offset the deferred tax asset against the deferred tax liability and not recognised the net deferred 
tax asset in the consolidated statement of financial position and profit and loss. 
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10. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Cash at bank and on deposit  11,518,907 11,128,151 

 

Security deposits held by the Group’s bank in relation to credit card facilities and rental properties 
total $832,313 (2021: $832,313). 

 

11. Inventories 

Inventories include the following components: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Cost   2,045,133 1,747,166 

Inventory impairment   (674,644) (284,630) 
Carrying Amount at 30 June  1,370,489 1,462,536 
    

 

12. Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables consist of the following: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Research and Development tax rebate  5,610,921 3,986,814 
Construction services   128,350 100,980 
GST receivable   393,630 227,322 
Interest receivable  1,195 70 
Director loans (note 28)  228,236 207,499 
Grants receivable  61,200 - 
Other receivables   46,878 23,138 
  6,470,410 4,545,823 

All amounts are short-term.  The net carrying value of trade and other receivables is considered a 
reasonable approximation of fair value. 
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10. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Cash at bank and on deposit  11,518,907 11,128,151 

 

Security deposits held by the Group’s bank in relation to credit card facilities and rental properties 
total $832,313 (2021: $832,313). 

 

11. Inventories 

Inventories include the following components: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Cost   2,045,133 1,747,166 

Inventory impairment   (674,644) (284,630) 
Carrying Amount at 30 June  1,370,489 1,462,536 
    

 

12. Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables consist of the following: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Research and Development tax rebate  5,610,921 3,986,814 
Construction services   128,350 100,980 
GST receivable   393,630 227,322 
Interest receivable  1,195 70 
Director loans (note 28)  228,236 207,499 
Grants receivable  61,200 - 
Other receivables   46,878 23,138 
  6,470,410 4,545,823 

All amounts are short-term.  The net carrying value of trade and other receivables is considered a 
reasonable approximation of fair value. 
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12. Trade and other receivables (continued)  

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair 
value as this financial asset (which is measured at amortised cost) is expected to be settled within six 
(6) months. 

All of the Group’s trade and other receivables that are not financial assets have been reviewed for 
indicators of impairment with none being noted. 

 

13. Other current assets  

Other current assets consist of the following:  

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Prepayments    713,216 858,348 
  713,216 858,348 
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14. Financial assets and l iabil ities 

A. Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

Note 5 J) provides a description of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities and the 
related accounting policies.   

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows: 

 Notes 
Financial assets  

at amortised cost Total 
  $ $ 
30 June 2022    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 10 11,518,907 11,518,907 

Trade and other receivables  465,859 465,859 

  11,984,766 11,984,766 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 3,551,123 3,551,123 

Lease liabilities  20 1,936,840 1,936,840 

Chattel mortgage equipment loan 
facility  822,796 822,796 

Construction loan facility  1,163,412 1,163,412 

Hadrian lease finance facility  2,267,963 2,267,963 

Research & development tax refund 
loan   4,000,000 4,000,000 

  13,742,134 13,742,134 

    

 Notes 
Financial assets  

at amortised cost Total 
  $ $ 
30 June 2021    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 10 11,128,151 11,128,151 

Trade and other receivables  331,687 331,687 

  11,518,907 11,518,907 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 1,869,425 1,869,425 

Lease liabilities  20 1,034,710 1,034,710 

Research & Development Tax Refund 
Loan  2,474,327 2,474,327 

  5,378,462 5,378,462 

The methods used to measure financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value are described in 
Note 31. 
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14. Financial assets and l iabil ities 

A. Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

Note 5 J) provides a description of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities and the 
related accounting policies.   

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows: 

 Notes 
Financial assets  

at amortised cost Total 
  $ $ 
30 June 2022    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 10 11,518,907 11,518,907 

Trade and other receivables  465,859 465,859 

  11,984,766 11,984,766 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 3,551,123 3,551,123 

Lease liabilities  20 1,936,840 1,936,840 

Chattel mortgage equipment loan 
facility  822,796 822,796 

Construction loan facility  1,163,412 1,163,412 

Hadrian lease finance facility  2,267,963 2,267,963 

Research & development tax refund 
loan   4,000,000 4,000,000 

  13,742,134 13,742,134 

    

 Notes 
Financial assets  

at amortised cost Total 
  $ $ 
30 June 2021    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 10 11,128,151 11,128,151 

Trade and other receivables  331,687 331,687 

  11,518,907 11,518,907 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 1,869,425 1,869,425 

Lease liabilities  20 1,034,710 1,034,710 

Research & Development Tax Refund 
Loan  2,474,327 2,474,327 

  5,378,462 5,378,462 

The methods used to measure financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value are described in 
Note 31. 
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14. Financial assets and l iabil ities (continued)  

Other financial instruments 

The carrying amount of the following financial assets and liabilities is considered a reasonable 
approximation of fair value: 

• trade and other receivables; 

• cash and cash equivalents;  

• trade and other payables; 

• lease payables; and 

• loans. 

15. Property, plant and equipment 

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 

30 June 2022 

 
LAND & 

BUILDINGS 

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

FURNITURE & 
FITTINGS 

ICT 
EQUIPMENT 

HADRIAN 
WORK IN 

PROGRESS TOTAL 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Gross carrying amount       

Balance at 1 July 2021 -  2,487,054  1,011,051  2,179,113  -  5,677,218  

Additions - 1,242,460 17,309 50,736 1,967,782 3,278,287 

Disposals -  -  -  (1,090)  -  (1,090)  

Balance at 30 June 2022 - 3,729,514 1,028,360 2,228,759 1,967,782 8,954,415 

       

Depreciation and 
impairment 

      

Balance at 1 July 2021 - (616,124) (833,153) (1,124,342) - (2,573,619) 

Disposals - - - 667 - 667 

Depreciation1 - (376,468) (105,804) (185,940) - (668,212) 

Impairment - - - (751,842) - (751,842) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 - (992,592) (938,957) (2,061,457) - (3,993,006) 

       

Carrying amount at 30 
June 2022 

- 2,736,922 89,403 167,302 1,967,782 4,961,409 

 
1. $154,118  of depreciation charges for the current period in relation to property, plant and equipment have been capitalised 

to development costs. 
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

30 June 2021 

 
LAND & 

BUILDINGS 
PLANT & 

EQUIPMENT 
FURNITURE & 

FITTINGS 
ICT 

EQUIPMENT 
WORK IN 

PROGRESS TOTAL 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Gross carrying amount       

Balance at 1 July 2020 256,962 1,369,244 980,228 2,115,4313 112,982 4,834,847 

Additions - 1,117,811 30,823 64,571 - 1,213,205 

Transfer from WIP 112,982 - - - (112,982) - 

Transfer to Inventory (369,944) -  -  (369,944) 

Disposals - - - (890) - (890) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 -  2,487,055  1,011,051  2,179,112  -  5,677,218  

       

Depreciation and 
impairment 

      

Balance at 1 July 2020 - (390,153) (512,112) (785,319)3 - (1,687,584) 

Disposals - - - 446 - 446 

Depreciation1 - (225,971) (321,041) (339,469) - (886,481) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 - (616,124) (833,153) (1,124,342) - (2,573,619) 

Carrying amount at 30 
June 2021 

- 1,870,931 177,898 1,054,770 - 3,103,599 

 

1. $359,875 of depreciation charges for the prior period in relation to property, plant and equipment have been capitalised to 

development costs.  

  

FBR Limited - 30 June 2022  Page 52 

16. Right-of-use assets 

The following table below shows the net carrying amount of the right-of-use assets: 

30 June 2022 

  Land & Buildings 
$ 

ICT 
Equipment 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
     
Carrying amount at 1 July 2021    1,021,250 72,826  1,094,076 
Lease modification  2,055,743 - 2,055,743 
Depreciation1  (1,189,347) (53,140) (1,242,487) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2022  1,887,646 19,686  1,907,332  

 

1. $361,025 of depreciation charges for the current period in relation to the right-of-use assets have been capitalised to 

development costs.  

 

30 June 2021 

  Land & Buildings 
$ 

ICT Equipment 
$ 

Total 
 

$ 
     
Carrying amount at 1 July 2020   1,102,585 125,803 1,228,388 
Lease modification   1,104,357 - 1,104,357 
Depreciation1  (1,185,692) (52,977) (1,238,669) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021  1,021,250 72,826  1,094,076 

 
1. $1,076,901 of depreciation charges for the prior period in relation to the right-of-use assets have been capitalised to 

development costs.  

 
 

As at 30 June 2022, the group operates leases in respect of an office, workshop and ICT equipment.  

The lease contract for the head office and workshop has a non-cancellable term of (12) months and 
expires 30 June 2023. 

The lease contract for the second office has a non-cancellable term of (21) months and expires 4 April 
2024. 

With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is 
reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. Variable lease payments 
which do not depend on an index or a rate (such as lease payments based on a percentage of Group 
sales) are excluded from the initial measurement of the lease liability and asset.  F
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

30 June 2021 

 
LAND & 

BUILDINGS 
PLANT & 

EQUIPMENT 
FURNITURE & 

FITTINGS 
ICT 

EQUIPMENT 
WORK IN 

PROGRESS TOTAL 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Gross carrying amount       

Balance at 1 July 2020 256,962 1,369,244 980,228 2,115,4313 112,982 4,834,847 

Additions - 1,117,811 30,823 64,571 - 1,213,205 

Transfer from WIP 112,982 - - - (112,982) - 

Transfer to Inventory (369,944) -  -  (369,944) 

Disposals - - - (890) - (890) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 -  2,487,055  1,011,051  2,179,112  -  5,677,218  

       

Depreciation and 
impairment 

      

Balance at 1 July 2020 - (390,153) (512,112) (785,319)3 - (1,687,584) 

Disposals - - - 446 - 446 

Depreciation1 - (225,971) (321,041) (339,469) - (886,481) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 - (616,124) (833,153) (1,124,342) - (2,573,619) 

Carrying amount at 30 
June 2021 

- 1,870,931 177,898 1,054,770 - 3,103,599 

 

1. $359,875 of depreciation charges for the prior period in relation to property, plant and equipment have been capitalised to 

development costs.  
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16. Right-of-use assets 

The following table below shows the net carrying amount of the right-of-use assets: 

30 June 2022 

  Land & Buildings 
$ 

ICT 
Equipment 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
     
Carrying amount at 1 July 2021    1,021,250 72,826  1,094,076 
Lease modification  2,055,743 - 2,055,743 
Depreciation1  (1,189,347) (53,140) (1,242,487) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2022  1,887,646 19,686  1,907,332  

 

1. $361,025 of depreciation charges for the current period in relation to the right-of-use assets have been capitalised to 

development costs.  

 

30 June 2021 

  Land & Buildings 
$ 

ICT Equipment 
$ 

Total 
 

$ 
     
Carrying amount at 1 July 2020   1,102,585 125,803 1,228,388 
Lease modification   1,104,357 - 1,104,357 
Depreciation1  (1,185,692) (52,977) (1,238,669) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021  1,021,250 72,826  1,094,076 

 
1. $1,076,901 of depreciation charges for the prior period in relation to the right-of-use assets have been capitalised to 

development costs.  

 
 

As at 30 June 2022, the group operates leases in respect of an office, workshop and ICT equipment.  

The lease contract for the head office and workshop has a non-cancellable term of (12) months and 
expires 30 June 2023. 

The lease contract for the second office has a non-cancellable term of (21) months and expires 4 April 
2024. 

With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is 
reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. Variable lease payments 
which do not depend on an index or a rate (such as lease payments based on a percentage of Group 
sales) are excluded from the initial measurement of the lease liability and asset.  F
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17. Development costs 

Development costs are capitalised when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its 
commercial and technical feasibility, the consolidated entity is able to use or sell the asset, the 
consolidated entity has sufficient resources; and intent to complete the development and its costs can 
be measured reliably.  The Company currently has two development assets. One is not yet available for 
use and accordingly is tested for impairment annually as required by AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 
The other development asset is available for use and is tested for impairment when there are 
indicators of impairment. The Company has tested this available for use development asset for 
impairment in accordance with the valuation methodology referenced in note 5P Significant 
management judgement and estimates in applying accounting policies. Once available for use, 
capitalised development costs are amortised over the period of their expected life. Patent costs that 
relate to projects that are in the development phase are capitalised.  

The following tables show the movements in development costs associated with the Hadrian X and the 
Shuttle system: 

  Hadrian 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Gross carrying amount     46,321,925 43,236,917 
Additions   3,973,503 10,008,907 
R&D tax incentives  (1,942,242) (6,923,899) 
Amortisation expense  (2,021,480) - 
  46,331,706 46,321,925 
    
Additions    
Consultants  248,266 657,173 
Employee benefits  2,106,299 4,353,211 
Equipment hire  - 41,213 
Materials  267,960 1,122,882 
Occupancy expense  482,706 1,416,358 
Share-based payments  (365,659) 966,410 
Patents and trademarks  744,166 694,359 
Overheads and other  489,765 757,301 
Total additions  3,973,503 10,008,907 
    
  Shuttle System 
 
 

 30 June 2022 
$ 

30 June 2021 
$ 

Gross carrying amount     - - 
Additions   111,184 - 
R&D tax incentives  (48,365) - 
  62,819 - 
    
Additions    
Employee benefits  108,599 - 
Materials  2,585 - 
Total additions  111,184 - 
    
Total Development costs  46,394,525 46,321,925 
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18. Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables consist of the following: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Trade creditors  2,185,771 1,600,925 
Accrued expenses  873,065 108,682 
Other payables  492,287 159,818 
  3,551,123 1,869,425 

All amounts are short-term.  The carrying values of trade payables and other payables are 
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

 

19. Provisions 

The carrying amounts and movements in the provisions account are as follows: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Current    
Employee entitlements – Annual leave  570,442 466,725 
Employee entitlements – Long service leave  - - 
Other provisions  184,404 - 
  754,846 466,725 
    
Non-current    
Employee entitlements – Annual leave  178,810 90,145 
Employee entitlements – Long service leave  256,793 210,670 
Other Provisions  138,303 - 
  573,906 300,815 

The current portion of these liabilities represents the Group’s obligations to its current and former 
employees that are expected to be settled during the next financial year.   
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18. Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables consist of the following: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Trade creditors  2,185,771 1,600,925 
Accrued expenses  873,065 108,682 
Other payables  492,287 159,818 
  3,551,123 1,869,425 

All amounts are short-term.  The carrying values of trade payables and other payables are 
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

 

19. Provisions 

The carrying amounts and movements in the provisions account are as follows: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Current    
Employee entitlements – Annual leave  570,442 466,725 
Employee entitlements – Long service leave  - - 
Other provisions  184,404 - 
  754,846 466,725 
    
Non-current    
Employee entitlements – Annual leave  178,810 90,145 
Employee entitlements – Long service leave  256,793 210,670 
Other Provisions  138,303 - 
  573,906 300,815 

The current portion of these liabilities represents the Group’s obligations to its current and former 
employees that are expected to be settled during the next financial year.   
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20. Lease Liabil ities 

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Lease liabilities (current)   1,220,117 1,013,852 
Lease liabilities (non-current)  716,723 20,858 
  1,936,840 1,034,710  

 

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments as at 
30 June 2022 are as follows: 

  Within one 
year 

$ 
 

One to five 
years 

$ 

After 5 
years 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

30 June 2022        
Lease payments   1,286,471 731,420 - 2,017,891 
Finance expenses  (66,354) (14,697) - (81,051) 
Net present values  1,220,117 716,723 -  1,936,840  
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21. Loans & borrowings 

The carrying amounts in the loans and borrowings accounts are as follows: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Current    
Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility1  166,265 - 
Construction loan facility2  1,163,412 - 
R&D tax refund loan3  4,000,000 2,474,327 
Hadrian lease finance facility4  410,356 - 
  5,740,033 2,474,327 
    
Non-Current    
Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility1  656,531 - 
Hadrian lease finance facility4  1,857,607 - 
  2,514,138 - 

1 The chattel mortgage equipment loan facility with HP Financial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd has a 
first ranking security over the equipment and has an interest rate of 5.50% p.a.. The facility matures 
on 30 November 2026. 

2 During the period FBR secured construction financing for robotically built housing to support and 
grow FBR’s construction operations using the Hadrian X® construction robot and the Fastbrick Wall 
System®. FBR signed an agreement with FC Securities Pty Ltd for a $2 million revolving debt facility 
to finance up to 67.5% of the land and construction cost of five homes FBR is building in Wellard, 
plus any subsequent FBR residential builds within the 30-month term of the facility. The facility gives 
FC first ranking securities comprising a mortgage over the Wellard properties and FBR’s subsidiary 
Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. The facility has an interest rate on drawn funds of 9.00% per annum, a 
2.25% setup fee, and a 3.00% line fee.  

3 During the period FBR entered into a revolving R&D tax loan facility with FC Capital, in place until 
31 December 2024. The facility allows FBR to draw down on a monthly basis as needed, up to 90% of 
its presently earned R&D tax incentive rebates or $4.0 million, whichever is lower at the time. The 
facility carries a one off 1.5% establishment fee and a 3.0% line fee per annum and placed a General 
Security Agreement over FBR Limited and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. It has an initial interest rate 
of 8.50% per annum during 2022 and then an interest rate of 8.15% per annum plus the published 
one month bid rate for the Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate (BBSW). 

4 During the period FBR entered into a Lease Finance Facility with FC Capital to provide asset finance 
for FBR’s two existing Hadrian X® construction robots at $1.15 million per Hadrian X®. The finance 
facility has a three-year term and a 40% balloon payment at the end of the term, with a 2.0% 
establishment fee and an interest rate of 12.0% per annum. The facility placed a General Security 
Agreement over FBR Limited and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. 
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21. Loans & borrowings 

The carrying amounts in the loans and borrowings accounts are as follows: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
Current    
Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility1  166,265 - 
Construction loan facility2  1,163,412 - 
R&D tax refund loan3  4,000,000 2,474,327 
Hadrian lease finance facility4  410,356 - 
  5,740,033 2,474,327 
    
Non-Current    
Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility1  656,531 - 
Hadrian lease finance facility4  1,857,607 - 
  2,514,138 - 

1 The chattel mortgage equipment loan facility with HP Financial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd has a 
first ranking security over the equipment and has an interest rate of 5.50% p.a.. The facility matures 
on 30 November 2026. 

2 During the period FBR secured construction financing for robotically built housing to support and 
grow FBR’s construction operations using the Hadrian X® construction robot and the Fastbrick Wall 
System®. FBR signed an agreement with FC Securities Pty Ltd for a $2 million revolving debt facility 
to finance up to 67.5% of the land and construction cost of five homes FBR is building in Wellard, 
plus any subsequent FBR residential builds within the 30-month term of the facility. The facility gives 
FC first ranking securities comprising a mortgage over the Wellard properties and FBR’s subsidiary 
Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. The facility has an interest rate on drawn funds of 9.00% per annum, a 
2.25% setup fee, and a 3.00% line fee.  

3 During the period FBR entered into a revolving R&D tax loan facility with FC Capital, in place until 
31 December 2024. The facility allows FBR to draw down on a monthly basis as needed, up to 90% of 
its presently earned R&D tax incentive rebates or $4.0 million, whichever is lower at the time. The 
facility carries a one off 1.5% establishment fee and a 3.0% line fee per annum and placed a General 
Security Agreement over FBR Limited and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. It has an initial interest rate 
of 8.50% per annum during 2022 and then an interest rate of 8.15% per annum plus the published 
one month bid rate for the Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate (BBSW). 

4 During the period FBR entered into a Lease Finance Facility with FC Capital to provide asset finance 
for FBR’s two existing Hadrian X® construction robots at $1.15 million per Hadrian X®. The finance 
facility has a three-year term and a 40% balloon payment at the end of the term, with a 2.0% 
establishment fee and an interest rate of 12.0% per annum. The facility placed a General Security 
Agreement over FBR Limited and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. 
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22. Share capital  

Ordinary shares 

 2022 2021 
 $ No. $ No. 

Ordinary shares, fully paid 116,567,987 2,651,028,536 101,695,037 2,179,170,092 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue $ No. 
Shares on issue at 1 July 2021 101,695,037 2,179,170,092 

Capital raising    
3 December 2021 Placement (at $0.045 per share) 10,000,000 222,222,222 
24 June 2022 Placement (at $0.018 per share) 4,000,000 222,222,222 

     Capital Raising Costs (799,304) - 
Performance rights converted (7 July 2021) 1,672,254 27,414,000 

Shares on issue at 30 June 2022 116,567,987 2,651,028,536 

 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of shares held and in proportion to the amount paid up on the shares 
held. At shareholders meetings, each ordinary share is entitled to one vote in proportion to the paid 
up amount of the share when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of 
hands. The share capital of FBR consists only of fully paid ordinary shares, and the shares do not 
have a par value.  All ordinary shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of 
capital and represent one vote at the shareholders’ meeting of FBR. 

Loan Funded shares 

On 24 December 2020, the Company issued 100,000,000 Loan Funded incentive shares as a director 
loan to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting on 26 November 2020 (refer Note 28). On 20 December 2021 at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting 50,000,000 of the Loan Funded incentive shares had their term extended by 12 
months. The following table illustrates the outstanding loan funded shares granted, repaid and 
forfeited during the year. 

 2022 
Number 

2021 
Number 

Outstanding at 1 July 100,000,000 - 

Granted during the year  - 100,000,000 
Repaid during the year - - 
Cancelled/forfeited during the year - - 

Loan Funded Shares at 30 June 100,000,000 100,000,000 

Loan funded shares do not have a par value and for all intents and purposes are identical to ordinary 
shares. Loan funded shares are eligible to receive dividends and repayment of capital. Loan funded 
shares are entitled to vote at the shareholders’ meeting of FBR. 
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23. Share based payments 

Ordinary shares 

There were no ordinary shares granted as consideration for services provided to the Company 
during the year. 

Options 

There were no options issued by the Company during the year. 

The following table illustrates the outstanding options granted, exercised and forfeited during the 
year. 

 2022 2021 
 Number Weight

ed 
average 
exercise 

price 
(cents) 

Number Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
(cents) 

     

Outstanding at 1 July 5,800,000 30 26,600,000 26 
Granted during the year - - - - 
Converted during the year  - - - - 
Expired during the year (5,800,000) 30 (20,800,000) 25 
Forfeited during the year - - - - 
Outstanding as at 30 June - - 5,800,000 30 

Performance rights 

There were 38,620,000 performance rights issued during the current year (2021: 61,220,000).  

The weighted average fair value of the performance rights granted during the current year is $0.039 
(2021: $0.06).  

Performance rights do not have a par value.  Performance rights are not eligible to receive dividends 
or repayment of capital. Performance rights are not entitled to vote at the shareholders’ meeting of 
FBR. 

The following table illustrates the outstanding performance rights granted, exercised and forfeited 
during the year. 

 2022 
Number 

2021 
Number 

   

Outstanding at 1 July 78,970,028 27,387,736 

Granted during the year  38,620,000 61,220,000 

Converted during the year (27,414,000) (500,000) 

Expired during the year (33,123,256) (1,733,332) 

Forfeited during the year (5,554,572) (7,404,376) 

Performance rights at 30 June 51,498,200 78,970,028 
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23. Share based payments (continued) 

On 19 October 2021, the Company issued 38,620,000 unlisted performance rights to the employees 
of FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the following classes: 

i. 20,185,000 Performance Rights Class A (since either converted to ordinary shares on 5 July 
2022 or cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has built 
residential and non-residential structures comprising 5,000 vertical square metres of wall or 
more, excluding structures built in a factory environment, before 30 June 2022. Shares are 
awarded on a pro rata basis from 20% - 100% of the target, commencing at 1,000 vertical 
square metres of wall, excluding structures built in a factory environment. 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
commissioned H114 using the 4 different pallet load system facilitating a minimum of laying 
4 different block types within the one structure lay. 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has erected a 
wall using the Hadrian at rate of 2,100 SBE for 1 continuous hour or more. The wall can be 
laid with or without adhesive. 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has built the 
structural walls of a house in a suburban environment using blocks supplied by an 
international block supplier. 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
completed an entire standard house build (227 vertical square metres or more of wall) 
including set up, pack up, and all down time, excluding structures built in a factory 
environment, in three days or less. 

All Class A Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2022 and an expiry date of 
31 July 2022. If unconverted, Class A Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date. 

  

ii. 18,435,000 Performance Rights Class B (since either converted to ordinary shares on 5 July 
2022 or cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting condition for Class B; Performance review results based on successful completion of 
employee individual performance goals. 

 

All Class B Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2022 and an expiry date of 
31 July 2022. If unconverted, Class A Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date. 

The performance rights were valued using the spot price on grant date. The spot price was $0.039 
per share at the close of trade on 19 October 2021, being the date the performance rights were 
issued. 

The fair value of these 38,620,000 performance rights granted during the current year, 
assuming that 100% of the performance rights will vest, was $1,506,180. Of this amount, 
$174,183 was capitalised to development costs, based on the number of performance rights 
issued to technical and engineering employees and the date the Hadrian development asset 
became available for use. A further $1,331,997 was expensed based on the number of 
performance rights issued to corporate and commercial employees during the current year and 
the date the Hadrian development asset became available for use.  

FBR Limited - 30 June 2022  Page 60 

23. Share based payments (continued) 

In the prior year, on 7 September 2020, the Company issued 61,220,000 unlisted performance rights 
to the employees of FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the 
following classes: 

i. 14,235,000 Performance Rights Class A (since either converted to ordinary shares on 7 July 
2021 or cancelled or forfeited)  

Vesting condition for Class A; The Company has built the structural walls of a 220 vertical 
sqm walled house with an average lay speed of 20 vertical sqm per hour or greater.  

Milestone date is 30 June 2021 
Expiry date is 28 September 2021  
If unconverted, Class A Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

ii. 14,235,000 Performance Rights Class B (since either converted to ordinary shares on 7 July 
2021 or cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting condition for Class B; Performance review results based on successful completion of 
employee individual performance goals. 

Milestone date is 30 June 2021 
Expiry date is 28 September 2021  
If unconverted, Class B Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

iii. 16,375,000 Performance Rights Class C 

Vesting condition for Class C; The walls of one standard house built in two days with two 
operators and one Hadrian. 

Milestone date is 30 June 2023 

Expiry date is 28 September 2023  
If unconverted, Class C Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

 
iv. 16,375,000 Performance Rights Class D 

Vesting condition for Class D; The walls of one standard house built in one day with one 
operator and one Hadrian. 

Milestone date is 30 June 2023 
Expiry date is 28 September 2023  
If unconverted, Class D Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

 

The performance rights were valued using the spot price on grant date. The spot price was $0.061 
per share at the close of trade on 7 September 2020, being the date the performance rights were 
issued. 

The fair value of these 61,220,000 performance rights granted during the prior year, assuming 
that 100% of the performance rights will vest, was $3,734,420. $1,080,850 was capitalised to 
development costs in the prior year, based on the number of performance rights issued to 
technical and engineering employees and $1,433,986 was expensed in the prior year based on 
the number of performance rights issued to corporate and commercial employees during the 
current year.  
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23. Share based payments (continued) 

In the prior year, on 7 September 2020, the Company issued 61,220,000 unlisted performance rights 
to the employees of FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the 
following classes: 

i. 14,235,000 Performance Rights Class A (since either converted to ordinary shares on 7 July 
2021 or cancelled or forfeited)  

Vesting condition for Class A; The Company has built the structural walls of a 220 vertical 
sqm walled house with an average lay speed of 20 vertical sqm per hour or greater.  

Milestone date is 30 June 2021 
Expiry date is 28 September 2021  
If unconverted, Class A Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

ii. 14,235,000 Performance Rights Class B (since either converted to ordinary shares on 7 July 
2021 or cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting condition for Class B; Performance review results based on successful completion of 
employee individual performance goals. 

Milestone date is 30 June 2021 
Expiry date is 28 September 2021  
If unconverted, Class B Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

iii. 16,375,000 Performance Rights Class C 

Vesting condition for Class C; The walls of one standard house built in two days with two 
operators and one Hadrian. 

Milestone date is 30 June 2023 

Expiry date is 28 September 2023  
If unconverted, Class C Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

 
iv. 16,375,000 Performance Rights Class D 

Vesting condition for Class D; The walls of one standard house built in one day with one 
operator and one Hadrian. 

Milestone date is 30 June 2023 
Expiry date is 28 September 2023  
If unconverted, Class D Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 

 

The performance rights were valued using the spot price on grant date. The spot price was $0.061 
per share at the close of trade on 7 September 2020, being the date the performance rights were 
issued. 

The fair value of these 61,220,000 performance rights granted during the prior year, assuming 
that 100% of the performance rights will vest, was $3,734,420. $1,080,850 was capitalised to 
development costs in the prior year, based on the number of performance rights issued to 
technical and engineering employees and $1,433,986 was expensed in the prior year based on 
the number of performance rights issued to corporate and commercial employees during the 
current year.  

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



82 FBR LIMITED
2022 ANNUAL REPORTFBR Limited - 30 June 2022  Page 61 

24. Reserves  

 30 June 2022 
$ 

30 June 2021 
$ 

   
Share option reserve  1,497,925 1,155,865 
Performance right reserve 1,998,671 3,325,339 
 3,496,596 4,481,204 
   

 

Share option reserve comprises the expense of vested option share-based payments. The 
reconciliation is set out as follows: 

  30 June 2022 
$ 

30 June 2021 
$ 

Movement in option reserve    
Opening at 1 July  1,155,865 2,007,041 

Options issued   988,686 665,512 
Options expired  (564,584) (1,516,688) 

Options and loan funded shares extended during the 
period 

 (82,042) - 

Closing at 30 June   1,497,925 1,155,865 

 

Performance rights reserve comprises the expense of vested performance right share-based 
payments. The reconciliation is set out as follows: 

  30 June 2022 
$ 

30 June 2021 
$ 

Movement in performance right reserve    
Opening at 1 July  3,325,339 827,448 
Performance rights converted to shares during the year  (1,672,254) (85,000) 

Performance rights issued during the year  2,439,080 3,293,492 
Performance rights expired during the period  (1,769,216) (270,174) 
Performance rights forfeited during the period  (324,278) (440,427) 

Closing at 30 June   1,998,671 3,325,339 
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25. Earnings per share 

Both the basic and diluted earnings per share have been calculated using the profit attributable to 
shareholders of the Legal Parent Company (FBR Limited) as the numerator, i.e. no adjustments to 
profits were necessary during the twelve (12) months period to 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021. 

The weighted average number of shares for the purposes of the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share can be reconciled to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share as follows: 

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 
 $ $ 

   

Weighted average number of shares used in basic earnings 
per share 2,336,881,258 2,087,492,553 

Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect 
of share-based payments 

 
- 

 
- 

Weighted average number of shares used in diluted 
earnings per share 2,336,881,258 2,087,492,553 

   

 

26. Reconcil iation of cash flows from operating activities 

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities: 

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 
 $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities   

Loss for the period after income tax expense (19,978,660) (9,333,023) 

Adjustments for:     

• depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4,843,522 1,048,249 

• share-based payments 3,040,568 2,434,389 

• interest receivable (1,125) 5,261 

• construction income receivable (128,350) - 

• grants income receivable (61,200) - 

• R&D tax rebate income portion receivable (3,620,314) - 

   

Net changes in working capital:     

• change in trade and other receivables   (1,040,324) 421,294 

• change in other assets (133,104) 27,200 

• change in trade and other payables 1,737,114 201,563 

Net cash from operating activities (15,341,873) (5,195,067) 
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25. Earnings per share 

Both the basic and diluted earnings per share have been calculated using the profit attributable to 
shareholders of the Legal Parent Company (FBR Limited) as the numerator, i.e. no adjustments to 
profits were necessary during the twelve (12) months period to 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021. 

The weighted average number of shares for the purposes of the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share can be reconciled to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share as follows: 

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 
 $ $ 

   

Weighted average number of shares used in basic earnings 
per share 2,336,881,258 2,087,492,553 

Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect 
of share-based payments 

 
- 

 
- 

Weighted average number of shares used in diluted 
earnings per share 2,336,881,258 2,087,492,553 

   

 

26. Reconcil iation of cash flows from operating activities 

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities: 

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 
 $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities   

Loss for the period after income tax expense (19,978,660) (9,333,023) 

Adjustments for:     

• depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4,843,522 1,048,249 

• share-based payments 3,040,568 2,434,389 

• interest receivable (1,125) 5,261 

• construction income receivable (128,350) - 

• grants income receivable (61,200) - 

• R&D tax rebate income portion receivable (3,620,314) - 

   

Net changes in working capital:     

• change in trade and other receivables   (1,040,324) 421,294 

• change in other assets (133,104) 27,200 

• change in trade and other payables 1,737,114 201,563 

Net cash from operating activities (15,341,873) (5,195,067) 
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27. Auditor remuneration 

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 

 $ $ 

   

Audit services remuneration paid to Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, 
the auditor of the Group: 

  

Audit and review of financial statements 145,600 122,832 

Remuneration for audit and review of financial statements 145,600 122,832 

There were no non-audit services provided during the period by the Auditor 

 

28. Related party transactions  

The Group’s related parties include its Key Management Personnel.   

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no 
guarantees were given or received.  Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash. 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of FBR Ltd, and the entities 
listed in the following table. Equity interest is directly held by FBR Ltd. 

  % Equity interest 

 Country of incorporation June 2022 June 2021 

    

Fastbrick IP Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

The Architectural Designer Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Fastbrick Operations Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

 

Key Management Personnel remuneration 

Key Management Personnel of the Group are the members of FBR’s Board of Directors and 
members of the Executive Team.  Key Management Personnel remuneration includes the following 
expenses: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Short-term employee benefits  1,841,681 1,917,128 
Post-employment benefits  134,765 127,705 
Long-term benefits  74,053 48,805 
Share based payments – Short Term Incentive  1,017,260 772,619 
Share based payments – Long Term Incentive  756,585 909,509 
    3,824,344 3,775,766 
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28. Related party transactions (continued) 

Agreements with Directors or Related Parties 

Director Loan Agreement 

During prior periods the Company paid $190,000 as an unsecured interest bearing loan to Mark 
Pivac in relation to tax payments relating to Performance Rights issued under the Company’s 
Performance Rights Plan. The amount (plus $38,236 interest) remains outstanding at 30 June 2022. 
The loan has a maturity date of 31 December 2022 and an interest rate at the higher of 4.520% per 
annum and the highest rate of interest payable by the Company to any financier of the Company at 
the relevant time. 

Loan Funded Shares 

During the prior year, on 24 December 2020, the Company issued 100,000,000 Loan Funded 
incentive shares to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 26 November 2020. The Loan Funded incentive shares were provided under a 
limited recourse, interest free loan. For each Executive Director, half of the loan, which pertains to 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 12 months and half of the loan, which pertains to the other 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 36 months. 

During the year, at the Company’s AGM on 20 December 2021, the Company extended the term by 
a further 12 months for the 50,000,000 loan funded shares originally issued with a 12 month term. 

Guarantees 

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related parties. 

29. Contingent l iabil ities 

At the reporting date the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2021: nil). 

30. Financial instrument risk  

A. Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments.  The Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities are summarised by category in Note 14.  The main types of risks are market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk.   

The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close cooperation with the 
Board of Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium-term cash flows by 
minimising the exposure to financial markets.  Long-term financial investments are managed to 
generate lasting returns.   

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options.  The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are 
described below.   

B. Market risk analysis 

The Group is exposed to market risk, specifically interest rate risk, through the investment of excess 
working capital into the short term money market. 
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27. Auditor remuneration 

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 

 $ $ 

   

Audit services remuneration paid to Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, 
the auditor of the Group: 

  

Audit and review of financial statements 145,600 122,832 

Remuneration for audit and review of financial statements 145,600 122,832 

There were no non-audit services provided during the period by the Auditor 

 

28. Related party transactions  

The Group’s related parties include its Key Management Personnel.   

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no 
guarantees were given or received.  Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash. 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of FBR Ltd, and the entities 
listed in the following table. Equity interest is directly held by FBR Ltd. 

  % Equity interest 

 Country of incorporation June 2022 June 2021 

    

Fastbrick IP Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

The Architectural Designer Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Fastbrick Operations Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

 

Key Management Personnel remuneration 

Key Management Personnel of the Group are the members of FBR’s Board of Directors and 
members of the Executive Team.  Key Management Personnel remuneration includes the following 
expenses: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 
    
Short-term employee benefits  1,841,681 1,917,128 
Post-employment benefits  134,765 127,705 
Long-term benefits  74,053 48,805 
Share based payments – Short Term Incentive  1,017,260 772,619 
Share based payments – Long Term Incentive  756,585 909,509 
    3,824,344 3,775,766 
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28. Related party transactions (continued) 

Agreements with Directors or Related Parties 

Director Loan Agreement 

During prior periods the Company paid $190,000 as an unsecured interest bearing loan to Mark 
Pivac in relation to tax payments relating to Performance Rights issued under the Company’s 
Performance Rights Plan. The amount (plus $38,236 interest) remains outstanding at 30 June 2022. 
The loan has a maturity date of 31 December 2022 and an interest rate at the higher of 4.520% per 
annum and the highest rate of interest payable by the Company to any financier of the Company at 
the relevant time. 

Loan Funded Shares 

During the prior year, on 24 December 2020, the Company issued 100,000,000 Loan Funded 
incentive shares to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 26 November 2020. The Loan Funded incentive shares were provided under a 
limited recourse, interest free loan. For each Executive Director, half of the loan, which pertains to 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 12 months and half of the loan, which pertains to the other 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 36 months. 

During the year, at the Company’s AGM on 20 December 2021, the Company extended the term by 
a further 12 months for the 50,000,000 loan funded shares originally issued with a 12 month term. 

Guarantees 

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related parties. 

29. Contingent l iabil ities 

At the reporting date the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2021: nil). 

30. Financial instrument risk  

A. Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments.  The Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities are summarised by category in Note 14.  The main types of risks are market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk.   

The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close cooperation with the 
Board of Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium-term cash flows by 
minimising the exposure to financial markets.  Long-term financial investments are managed to 
generate lasting returns.   

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options.  The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are 
described below.   

B. Market risk analysis 

The Group is exposed to market risk, specifically interest rate risk, through the investment of excess 
working capital into the short term money market. 
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30. Financial Instrument Risk (continued)  

Interest rate sensitivity 

The consolidated entity's only exposure to interest rate risk is in relation to deposits held. Deposits 
are held with reputable banking financial institutions. 

 2022 2021 

 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance 
 % $ % $ 
Cash at bank 0.01% 10,686,594 0.06% 10,295,838 

Cash on deposit 0.13%       832,313 0.59%       832,313 

  11,518,907  11,128,151 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity to a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates of +/- 0.5% (2021: +/- 0.5%).  These changes are considered to be reasonably possible 
based on observation of current market conditions.  The calculations are based on a change in the 
average market interest rate for each period, and the financial instruments held at each reporting 
date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates.  All other variables are held constant. 

 

  Profit for the year Equity 
  $ $ $ $ 
  0.50% -0.50% 0.50% -0.50% 
Cash at bank         

30-Jun-22 53,433 (53,433) 53,433 (53,433) 
30-Jun-21 51,479 (51,479) 51,479 (51,479) 

        
Cash on deposit       

30-Jun-22 4,162 (4,162) 4,162 (4,162) 
30-Jun-21 4,162 (4,162) 4,162 (4,162) 

Credit risk analysis 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Group.  The Group is 
exposed to this risk for various financial instruments, for example by granting loans and receivables 
to customers, placing deposits, investment in bonds etc.  The Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as 
summarised below: 
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30. Financial Instrument Risk (continued)  

 

 2022 2021 
 $ $ 
Classes of financial assets   
Carrying amounts:   
• Cash and cash equivalents 11,518,907 11,128,151 

• Trade and other receivables 465,858 331,687 

 11,984,765 11,459,838 

The Group continuously monitors defaults of counterparties, identified either individually or by 
Group and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls.  The Group’s policy is to deal 
only with creditworthy counterparties. 

The Group’s management considers that all of the above financial assets that are not impaired or 
past due for each of the 30 June reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. 

Trade and other receivables consist of Grants and Interest Receivable, Director Loans and Trade 
Debtors.  Based on historical information about customer default rates management consider the 
credit quality of trade receivables that are not past due or impaired to be good. 

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties are 
reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings. 

Liquidity risk analysis 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might be unable to meet its obligations.  The Group manages 
its liquidity needs by monitoring forecast cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-day business.  The 
data used for analysing these cash flows is consistent with that used in the contractual maturity 
analysis below.  Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-
week basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30 day projection.  Long-term liquidity needs for a 180 
day and a 360 day lookout period are identified monthly.  Net cash requirements are compared to 
available borrowing facilities in order to determine headroom or any shortfalls.  This analysis shows 
that available borrowing facilities are expected to be sufficient over the lookout period. 

The Group’s objective is to maintain cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity 
requirements for 30 day periods at a minimum.  This objective was met for the reporting periods.  
Funding for long-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities and the ability to sell long-term financial assets.   

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity 
risk, in particular its cash resources and trade receivables.  The Group’s existing cash resources and 
trade receivables (see Statement of Financial Position) significantly exceed the current cash outflow 
requirements.  Cash flows from other receivables are all due within six (6) months. 

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities have contractual maturities 
(including interest payments where applicable) as summarised below: 
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30. Financial Instrument Risk (continued)  

 

 Current Non-current 

 
Within 6 
months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 5+ years 

 $ $ $ $ 
30 June 2022     
Trade and other payables 3,551,122   -     -     -    
Lease liabilities 643,235  643,236  731,420   -    
Chattel mortgage equipment loan 
facility 102,990 102,990 703,765 - 

Construction loan facility 337,672 970,832 - - 
Hadrian lease finance facility 330,215 330,215 2,130,787 - 
Research & development tax 
refund loan  4,192,822 - - - 

Total  9,158,056 2,047,273 3,565,972  -    

 

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities in the previous 
reporting periods as follows:  

 Current Non-current 
 Within 6 

months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 5+ years 
 $ $ $ $ 
30 June 2021     
Trade and other payables 1,869,425   -     -     -    
Lease liabilities 506,926  506,926  20,858   -    
Research & development tax 
refund loan  2,474,327 - - - 

Total  4,850,678  506,926   20,858   -    

The above amounts reflect the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which may differ to the 
carrying values of the liabilities at the reporting date. 

31. Fair value measurement 

Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The Directors have performed a review of the financial assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2022 and 
have concluded that the fair value of those assets and liabilities are not materially different to book 
values. The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments were: 

• Cash - The carrying amount is fair value due to the liquid nature of these assets. 

• Receivables/payables - Due to the short-term nature of these financial rights and 
obligations, their carrying values are estimated to represent their fair values and equals the 
amount to be settled by the contracting party. 
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32. Events after the reporting date 

5 July 2021 – The Company issued 20,673,200 fully paid ordinary shares upon the exercise of 
unquoted employee performance rights that vested on the achievement of performance milestones 
in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 7,595,000 vested 
performance rights remain unconverted to fully paid ordinary shares. 

6 July 2021 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.0225 and 
an expiry date of 5 January 2024 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive 
Plan. 

8 July 2022 – The Company completed a placement of 107,201,578 fully paid ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company with strategic investor Brickworks. The shares were allotted in July 2022 at 
$0.018 per share and raised a total of $1.9 million. Included in the strategic share subscription 
agreement was a clause stipulating that Brickworks retains the right to participate in any future 
capital raising that FBR undertakes to the extent needed to maintain a 4.93% shareholding in the 
company. 

25 July 2022 – The Company issued 54,875,000 unlisted Performance Rights in accordance with the 
Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

9 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 
options. 

30 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.035 
and an expiry date of 31 December 2023 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities 
Incentive Plan. 

7 September 2022 – Settlement of the first home in the Company’s Wellard portfolio was effected. 
The property sold for $460,000, with net proceeds of $417,378 received following GST withholding, 
agents fees and other sundry costs. 
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30. Financial Instrument Risk (continued)  

 

 Current Non-current 

 
Within 6 
months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 5+ years 

 $ $ $ $ 
30 June 2022     
Trade and other payables 3,551,122   -     -     -    
Lease liabilities 643,235  643,236  731,420   -    
Chattel mortgage equipment loan 
facility 102,990 102,990 703,765 - 

Construction loan facility 337,672 970,832 - - 
Hadrian lease finance facility 330,215 330,215 2,130,787 - 
Research & development tax 
refund loan  4,192,822 - - - 

Total  9,158,056 2,047,273 3,565,972  -    

 

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities in the previous 
reporting periods as follows:  

 Current Non-current 
 Within 6 

months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 5+ years 
 $ $ $ $ 
30 June 2021     
Trade and other payables 1,869,425   -     -     -    
Lease liabilities 506,926  506,926  20,858   -    
Research & development tax 
refund loan  2,474,327 - - - 

Total  4,850,678  506,926   20,858   -    

The above amounts reflect the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which may differ to the 
carrying values of the liabilities at the reporting date. 

31. Fair value measurement 

Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The Directors have performed a review of the financial assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2022 and 
have concluded that the fair value of those assets and liabilities are not materially different to book 
values. The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments were: 

• Cash - The carrying amount is fair value due to the liquid nature of these assets. 

• Receivables/payables - Due to the short-term nature of these financial rights and 
obligations, their carrying values are estimated to represent their fair values and equals the 
amount to be settled by the contracting party. 
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32. Events after the reporting date 

5 July 2021 – The Company issued 20,673,200 fully paid ordinary shares upon the exercise of 
unquoted employee performance rights that vested on the achievement of performance milestones 
in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 7,595,000 vested 
performance rights remain unconverted to fully paid ordinary shares. 

6 July 2021 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.0225 and 
an expiry date of 5 January 2024 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive 
Plan. 

8 July 2022 – The Company completed a placement of 107,201,578 fully paid ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company with strategic investor Brickworks. The shares were allotted in July 2022 at 
$0.018 per share and raised a total of $1.9 million. Included in the strategic share subscription 
agreement was a clause stipulating that Brickworks retains the right to participate in any future 
capital raising that FBR undertakes to the extent needed to maintain a 4.93% shareholding in the 
company. 

25 July 2022 – The Company issued 54,875,000 unlisted Performance Rights in accordance with the 
Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

9 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 
options. 

30 August 2022 – The Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.035 
and an expiry date of 31 December 2023 in accordance with the Company’s Employee Securities 
Incentive Plan. 

7 September 2022 – Settlement of the first home in the Company’s Wellard portfolio was effected. 
The property sold for $460,000, with net proceeds of $417,378 received following GST withholding, 
agents fees and other sundry costs. 
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33. Parent entity information 

The following information relates to the legal parent entity of the Company, being FBR Limited (‘the 
Parent Entity’). The information presented has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as 
presented in Note 5.  

 2022 2021 
 $ $ 
Statement of financial position   
Current assets 10,707,828 10,617,290 
Non-current assets 38,711 911,846 
Total assets 10,746,539 11,529,136 
Current liabilities 4,644,163 3,566,810 
Non-current liabilities 138,303 177,653 
Total liabilities 4,782,466 3,744,463 
Net assets 5,964,073 7,784,673 
  

 
 
 

Issued capital 139,154,851 124,281,901 
Reserves 3,496,596 4,481,204 
Retained losses (136,687,374) (120,978,432) 
Total equity 5,964,073 7,784,673 
   
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:   
Loss for the year 15,708,942 10,665,162 
Other comprehensive income - - 
Total comprehensive income 15,708,942 10,665,162 

 

The Parent Entity has no capital commitments (2021: Nil).  

The Parent Entity has not entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee nor are there any contingent 
liabilities at the year end. 
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Directors’ Declaration 

1 In the opinion of the Directors of FBR Limited: 

a. The consolidated financial statements and notes of the Group are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i. Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2022, and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

ii. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

b. There are reasonable grounds to believe that FBR Limited will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 

2 The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations 
Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer equivalent for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2022. 

3 Note 2 confirms that the consolidated financial statements also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 

 

 

 

Michael Pivac 

MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER - GLOBAL  

Dated the 29th day of September 2022 
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Directors’ Declaration 

1 In the opinion of the Directors of FBR Limited: 

a. The consolidated financial statements and notes of the Group are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i. Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2022, and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

ii. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

b. There are reasonable grounds to believe that FBR Limited will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 

2 The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations 
Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer equivalent for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2022. 

3 Note 2 confirms that the consolidated financial statements also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 

 

 

 

Michael Pivac 

MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER - GLOBAL  

Dated the 29th day of September 2022 
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Grant Thornton Australia Limited 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 3 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of 
$19,978,660 during the year ended 30 June 2022, and the Group’s cash outflows from operating and investing 
activities totalled $18,719,671. As stated in Note 3, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set 
forth in Note 3, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.  

In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Recognition of development cost asset – Note 17  
The Group has capitalised development costs in 
relation to the Hadrian X project. There is a risk that 
costs that have been capitalised may not comply with 
the recognition requirements relevant to AASB 138 
Intangible Assets. 

Management judgement is required to assess the 
commercial and technical feasibility of the Hadrian X 
project, including future economic benefits. 

This area is a key audit matter due to the subjectivity 
involved in assessing the recognition criteria for 
capitalised development costs. 

 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• assessing the appropriateness of management’s 
policy for capitalising development costs pursuant to 
AASB 138; 

• assessing management’s paper on the current stage 
of development of the asset, including whether or 
not the asset is available for use; 

• examining existing patents held by the Group that 
support project activities; 

• examining agreements in place to support technical 
and commercial feasibility;  

• testing the mathematical accuracy of management’s 
development costs model; 

• testing a sample of capitalised costs by agreeing to 
third-party support to identify whether they have 
been appropriately capitalised in accordance with 
accounting policies and AASB 138; and 

• assessing the appropriateness of financial statement 
disclosures. 
 

Impairment of development cost asset – Note 17  
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets requires intangible 
assets available for use to be tested for impairment 
when indicators of impairment exist. 

The Group reports intangible assets of $46,394,525 on 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, 
which is in excess of its market capitalisation as at that 
date. 

This area is a key audit matter due to management 
judgement involved in assessing the assumptions and 
inputs required to prepare a fair value less costs of 
disposal model and to satisfy the impairment testing 
requirements of AASB 136. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• understanding management’s policies and 
procedures regarding impairment testing; 

• obtaining evidence to support the key assumptions 
used by management in the fair value less costs of 
disposal model and challenging those assumptions; 

• evaluating the model against the requirements of 
AASB 136; 

• performing sensitivity analysis to stress test the key 
assumptions used in the fair value less costs of 
disposal model; and 

• assessing the appropriateness of financial statement 
disclosures. 

 

 

    

 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Level 17 
383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Locked Bag Q800 
Queen Victoria Building NSW 
1230 
 

T +61 2 8297 2400 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

#8406931v5 

www.grantthornton.com.au 
ACN-130 913 594 
 

 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 389. 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or 
refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Limited is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). 
GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member 
firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one 
another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards 
Legislation. 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of FBR Limited  

Report on the audit of the financial report 

 

 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of FBR Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance for 
the year ended on that date; and  

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 3 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of 
$19,978,660 during the year ended 30 June 2022, and the Group’s cash outflows from operating and investing 
activities totalled $18,719,671. As stated in Note 3, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set 
forth in Note 3, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.  

In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Recognition of development cost asset – Note 17  
The Group has capitalised development costs in 
relation to the Hadrian X project. There is a risk that 
costs that have been capitalised may not comply with 
the recognition requirements relevant to AASB 138 
Intangible Assets. 

Management judgement is required to assess the 
commercial and technical feasibility of the Hadrian X 
project, including future economic benefits. 

This area is a key audit matter due to the subjectivity 
involved in assessing the recognition criteria for 
capitalised development costs. 

 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• assessing the appropriateness of management’s 
policy for capitalising development costs pursuant to 
AASB 138; 

• assessing management’s paper on the current stage 
of development of the asset, including whether or 
not the asset is available for use; 

• examining existing patents held by the Group that 
support project activities; 

• examining agreements in place to support technical 
and commercial feasibility;  

• testing the mathematical accuracy of management’s 
development costs model; 

• testing a sample of capitalised costs by agreeing to 
third-party support to identify whether they have 
been appropriately capitalised in accordance with 
accounting policies and AASB 138; and 

• assessing the appropriateness of financial statement 
disclosures. 
 

Impairment of development cost asset – Note 17  
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets requires intangible 
assets available for use to be tested for impairment 
when indicators of impairment exist. 

The Group reports intangible assets of $46,394,525 on 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, 
which is in excess of its market capitalisation as at that 
date. 

This area is a key audit matter due to management 
judgement involved in assessing the assumptions and 
inputs required to prepare a fair value less costs of 
disposal model and to satisfy the impairment testing 
requirements of AASB 136. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• understanding management’s policies and 
procedures regarding impairment testing; 

• obtaining evidence to support the key assumptions 
used by management in the fair value less costs of 
disposal model and challenging those assumptions; 

• evaluating the model against the requirements of 
AASB 136; 

• performing sensitivity analysis to stress test the key 
assumptions used in the fair value less costs of 
disposal model; and 

• assessing the appropriateness of financial statement 
disclosures. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Recognition of R&D tax incentive – Note 12  

Under the research and development (R&D) tax 
incentive scheme, the Group receives a 43.5% 
refundable tax offset of eligible expenditure if its 
turnover is less than $20 million per annum, provided 
income tax-exempt entities do not control it. 

A R&D plan is filed with AusIndustry in the current 
financial year, and based on this filing, the Group 
receives the incentive in cash. Management reviewed 
the Group’s total R&D expenditure to estimate a 
refundable tax offset receivable under the R&D tax 
incentive legislation. As at 30 June 2022, a receivable 
of $5,610,921 has been recorded. 

The area is a key audit matter due to the size of the 
accrual and the degree of judgement and interpretation 
of the R&D tax legislation required by management to 
assess the eligibility of the R&D expenditure under the 
scheme. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• obtaining a detailed understanding of the underlying 
processes for claiming the R&D rebate through 
discussion with relevant individuals across the 
organisation and review of relevant documentation; 

• assessing the work performed by management’s 
expert, including the expert’s competence, capability 
and objectivity; 

• engaging our internal specialist as an auditor’s 
expert to assist in reviewing the reasonableness of 
the eligibility of expenditure and the calculation; 

• testing a sample of R&D expenditure within the 
computation to underlying supporting 
documentation; 

• comparing the eligible expenditure used in the 
receivable calculation to the expenditure recorded in 
the general ledger; 

• inspecting copies of relevant correspondence with 
AusIndustry and the ATO related historic claims; 
and 

• assessing the appropriateness of financial statement 
disclosures. 

 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but does not include the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilites/ar1_2020.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on the remuneration report 

 

Responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

M D Dewhurst 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Sydney, 29 September 2022 

 

Opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 12 to 25 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2022.  

In our opinion, the remuneration report of FBR Limited for the year ended 30 June 2022 complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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Additional
ASX Information

Additional ASX InformationAdditional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report. The information was prepared on share registry information processed up to 07October 2022.

Range Total Holders Units %Units
1 - 1,000 823 122,752 0.00

1,001 - 5,000 1,596 5,564,458 0.20
5,001 - 10,000 1,907 15,347,818 0.54

10,001 - 100,000 5,814 222,027,929 7.83
100,001 Over 2,152 2,592,880,357 91.43

Rounding 0.00
Total 12,292 2,835,943,314 100.00

 
Voting Rights

All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 
Options for ordinary shares do not carry any voting rights.  
Performance Rights for ordinary shares do not carry any  
voting rights.

 

Substantial Shareholders

Rank Name Units % Units

1
HORSLEY PARK  
HOLDINGS PTY LTD

430,018,036 15.17

2 MARK JOSEPH PIVAC 333,205,167 11.80
3 FIL LIMITED 167,776,082 9.90

Top 20 Shareholders

Rank Name Shares % of Shares
1 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 399,311,653 14.08
2 HORSLEY PARK HOLDINGS PTY LTD 236,949,246 8.36
3 HORSLEY PARK HOLDINGS PTY LTD 193,068,790 6.81
4 MR MARK JOSEPH PIVAC 142,442,680 5.02
5 MR MARK JOSEPH PIVAC 104,230,741 3.68
6 MR MARK JOSEPH PIVAC 80,325,496 2.83
7 MR MICHAEL JOHN PIVAC 77,589,371 2.74
8 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 69,598,863 2.45
9 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD ACF CLEARSTREAM 52,007,367 1.83
10 MR MICHAEL JOHN PIVAC 50,000,000 1.76
11 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP> 29,228,851 1.03
12 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 28,508,902 1.01
13 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 15,867,534 0.56
14 MR GARY STANLEY PAULL 11,003,752 0.39
15 GOLDFEET PTY LTD <DODGE FAMILY A/C> 10,991,603 0.39
16 SPLENDID STUFF PTY LTD 10,000,000 0.35
17 LEHIGH HOLDINGS PTY LTD <L & M SUPER FUND A/C> 9,600,000 0.34
18 MR ANTHONY VINCENT RIDOLFO + MRS CAROLINE LISA RIDOLFO 9,500,000 0.33
19 KIDSKLUBS KARIONG PTY LTD <GUIDING LIGHT SUPERFUND A/C> 9,000,000 0.32
20 TEN TALENTS (2020) LIMITED <FIVE TALENTS A/C> 7,504,414 0.26
Totals: Top 20 holders of ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES (Total) 1,546,729,263 54.54
Total Remaining Holders Balance 1,289,214,051 45.46
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